










 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MEETING 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

MAY 17, 2010 

1



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA 
 
BOARD MEETING                          STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:30 P.M.                                          5606 SOUTH 147th STREET 
                                                                    MAY 17, 2010 
5:45 P.M. PAYBAC RECEPTION 

AGENDA 
 

A. Call to Order 
 

The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items – This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 

make sure a request form is given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 

E. Routine Matters 
1. *Approval of Board of Education Minutes – May 3, 2010 
2. *Approval of Bills 
3. *Receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File 
4. Summary of Board Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 10, 2010 

 
F. Information Items 

1. PAYBAC Awards 
2. Superintendent’s Comments 
3. Board Comments/Announcements 
4. Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques to Students 

 
G. Unfinished Business: 

 
New Business 

1. Approval of 2010 Graduates 
2. *Reaffirm Policy 4160 – Human Resources - Evaluation 
3. *Reaffirm Rule 4160.1 – Human Resources – Evaluation - Certificated Staff  
4. *Reaffirm Rule 4160.2 – Human Resources – Evaluation - Non-Certificated 
5. Approval of  Rule 5300.4 – Pupil Services – Student Conduct – Student Conduct: Dating Violence 
6. Approval of Rule 5400.1 – Pupil Services – Student Discipline 
7. Approval of Rule 5400.6 – Pupil Services – Standards for Student Conduct 
8. Approval of Staff Evaluation System 2010-2011 
9. Approval of Tableau Visualization and Data Warehouse Project 
10. Award Contract for Copy Machines 
11. Approval of Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contract(s), Leave(s) of Absence, and New Hire(s) 
12. Sale of Real Estate (Executive Session) 
13. Approval of Sale of Real Estate 

 
H. Reports 

1. CADRE Report 
 

I. Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar.   
1. Special Board Meeting Monday, May 24, 2010 at 4:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th 

Street 
2. 2010 Graduations on Saturday, May 29, 2010 for Millard South High School at 10 a.m., Millard West High School at 1 

p.m., and Millard North at 4 p.m. at the Omaha Civic Auditorium 
3. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 7, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 

147th Street 

2



 

 

Agenda 
May 17, 2010 
Page 2 
 
 

4. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 14, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 21, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 12, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

7. New Staff Breakfast on Monday, August 2, 2010 at 7:30 a.m. at Millard South High School 
8. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 2, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
9. Fall Kick-Off Celebration on Friday, August 6, 2010 at Embassy Suites in LaVista at 8:30 a.m. 
10. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 9, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
11. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 16, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 
given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

L.  Adjournment:   

All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  Items may be 
deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 
 

3



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA  
 
BOARD MEETING                         STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:30 P.M.                              5606 SOUTH 147TH STREET 
                                                                   MAY 17, 2010 
5:45 P.M. PAYBAC RECEPTION 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE MEMORANDUM 
A. Call to Order 
 
 The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 

make sure a request form is given to the Board President prior to the Meeting. 
 
*E.1. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the Board of Education Minutes – May 3, 2010.  (See 

enclosure.) 
 
*E.2. Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to approve the bills.  
 
*E.3.  Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File.  (See enclosure.) 
 
 E.4.  Summary of Board Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 10, 2010 
 
F.1. PAYBAC Awards 
 
F.2. Superintendent’s Comments 
 
F.3. Board Comments/Announcements 
 
F.4. Report from Students Representatives and Presentation of Plaques to Students 
 
H.1. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the 2010 Graduates (See enclosure.) 
 
*H.2.  Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to reaffirm Policy 4160 – Human Resources - Evaluation (See 

enclosure.) 
 
*H.3. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to reaffirm Rule 4160.1 – Human Resources – Evaluation – 

Certificated Staff (See enclosure.) 
 
*H.4. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to reaffirm 4160.2 – Human Resources – Evaluation – Non-

Certificated (See enclosure.) 
 
H.5. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve Rule 5300.4 – Pupil Services – Student Conduct – 

Student Conduct: Dating Violence (See enclosure.) 
 
H.6. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve Rule 5400.1 – Pupil Services – Student Discipline 
 
H.7. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve Rule 5400.6 – Pupil Services – Standards for Student 

Conduct (See enclosure.) 
 
H.8. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the minor revisions of the Staff Evaluation System (See 

enclosure.) 
 

4



 

 

Administrative Memorandum 
May 17, 2010 
Page 2 
 
 
H.9. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, that the Tableau visualization software and necessary hardware be 

approved and that the Associate Superintendent of Educational Services be authorized and directed to execute any and all 
documents related to this project (See enclosure.) 

 
H.10. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, that a three-year contract for the lease of 38 copy machines be 

awarded to Bishops Business Equipment pursuant to their response to the District’s RFP and that the associate superintendent 
for general administration be authorized and directed to execute any and all documents related to such contract (See 
enclosure.) 

 
H.11. Motion by _____________, seconded by ________________, to approve Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing 

Contract, Leave(s) of Absence, and New Hire(s)  (See enclosures.) 
 
H.12. Sale of Real Estate (Executive Session) 
 
H.13. Motion by _____________, seconded by ________________, to approve sale of real estate (See enclosure.) 
 
I.  Report 

1. CADRE Report 
 
J.  Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar. 

1. Special Board Meeting Monday, May 24, 2010 at 4:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street 
2. 2010 Graduations on Saturday, May 29, 2010 for Millard South High School at 10 a.m., Millard West High School at 1 p.m., 

and Millard North at 4 p.m. at the Omaha Civic Auditorium 
3. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 7, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th 

Street 
4. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 14, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street   
5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 21, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 

147th Street 
6. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 12, 2010 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 

147th Street 
7. New Staff Breakfast on Monday, August 2, 2010 at 7:30 a.m. at Millard South High School 
8. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 2, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 

147th Street 
9. Fall Kick-Off Celebration on Friday, August 6, 2010 at Embassy Suites in LaVista at 8:30 a.m. 
10. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 9, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street   
11. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 16, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 

147th Street 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 
given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

 
L.   Adjournment - All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  

Items may be deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 
 

5



 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 17 
 

A meeting was held of the Board of Education of the School District No. 17, in the County of Douglas in the State of 
Nebraska.  The meeting was convened in open and public session at 6:30 p.m., Monday, May 3, 2010, at the Don Stroh 
Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.   
 

Present: Michael Pate, Julie Kannas, Brad Burwell, Dave Anderson, Linda Poole and Mike Kennedy 
 

Notice of this meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Daily Record on Friday, April 30, 2010; a copy 
of the publication is being attached to these minutes.  Notice of this meeting was given to all members of the Board of 
Education and a copy of their Acknowledgment of Receipt of Notice and the agenda are attached to these minutes.  
Availability of the agenda was communicated in advance notice and in the notice of the Board of Education of this 
meeting.  All proceedings hereafter shown were taken while the convened meeting was open to the attendance of the 
public. 
 
At 6:30 p.m. Michael Pate announced the public meeting Act is posted on the wall and available for public inspection.  
Mr. Pate asked everyone to say the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll call was taken and members present included Mike Pate, Brad Burwell, Linda Poole and Mike Kennedy.  Julie 
Kannas arrived at 6:32 p.m. 
 
Mr. Pate recognized Boy Scout Troop 494.  The boys introduced themselves and explained they were working on their 
Citizenship in the Community badge. 
 
Mr. Pate announced that Employees of the Month and the Showcase will be held at the beginning of the agenda, and 
introduced Dr. Lutz. 
 
Employees of the Month for May were Christi Calder, 6th grade teacher at Central Middle School, and Judy Hansen, 
secretary for the psychologists at CSMI. 
 
Showcase highlighted students in DECA, Debate, Forensics, World Languages, Skills USA, and Health Organization 
Student Association. 
 
Comments from the Public:  One parent was concerned about the lack of communication and support for the Montessori 
program at the middle school level.  Another parent asked the board to table the resignations of the two middle school 
Montessori teachers. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Linda Poole, to approve Board of Education Minutes for April 19, 2010, approve 
the bills, and receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Superintendent Comments: 
 

1. The three topics for the Committee meeting next Monday will be on the Leadership Academy Program, 
discussion on the Learning Community and the lawsuit in Sarpy County, and Coventry and Silverstone 
representatives will explain the health program and answer questions. 
 

2. On Friday, May 7, 2010 will be the Millard Public Schools Foundation Hall of Fame Banquet beginning at 6:30 
p.m. 
 

3. On Wednesday, May 12, 2010 will be the Employee Recognition Dinner at the Georgetowne Club.  The receiving 
line will begin at 5:30 p.m. 

 
Board Comments:  Julie Kannas participated in the “Kids Can Cook” culinary experience for elementary students.  She 
thanked Jeff Edwards, because it was a great experience. 

6



 
Board of Education Minutes 
May 3, 2010 
Page 2 
 
 
Mrs. Kannas announced that she will be out of town next week, so she will not be at the Committee meeting. 
 
Mike Kennedy congratulated all of the students who received the various awards.  They all have done a great job. 
 
Mr. Kennedy said he did receive email from the Montessori parents about their concerns and he thanked them for their 
input. 
 
Dave Anderson thanked all of the people who were involved in the elementary culinary experience.  He thanked Jeff 
Edwards and Bob Snowden, and he said the staff did a fantastic job, worked very hard, and spent quality time with the 
students. 
 
Mr. Anderson attended the special friend’s prom and said it was a very heartwarming experience. 
 
Mr. Anderson reported he will be attending the Business Advisory meeting and the Foundation Hall of Fame Banquet. 
 
Mr. Anderson said he would miss the May 17th board meeting to attend the music award night for Millard South High 
School. 
 
Linda Poole congratulated all of the students and parents who were recognized for their awards at the state and national 
level. 
 
Mrs. Poole wished all of the teams participating in state and district play offs this week good luck. 
 
Mrs. Poole said she may be late to the Employee Recognition Dinner due to Millard West soccer.  If Millard West is in 
the state soccer finals she will miss the May 17th board meeting. 
 
Brad Burwell said he will be attending the business advisory meeting on Friday, and the Hall of Fame Banquet. 
 
Mr. Burwell reported there will be a Learning Community meeting at UNO on Thursday at 6 p.m.  The Diversity Task 
Force will be submitting their overview and criteria for focus schools.  The Elementary Learning Centers will be taking 
applications for the extended full day program through May 19th.  Both topics will up be for approval at the following 
Learning Community meeting in two weeks. 
 
Mr. Burwell reported he attended the meeting with the Learning Community Executive Committee and the 
Superintendent’s advisory group to help lay the ground work for better communication between the two groups.  
 
Mr. Burwell encourages anyone who had questions or suggestions to attend the Learning Community meetings, because 
everyone is welcome to attend. 
 
Josh Kenney, student representative from Millard South High School and Rachel Saenz, student representative from 
Millard West High School reported on the activities and athletic highlights at their respective building. 
 
Julie Kannas provided the final reading on Policy 6675 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Exempt School.  
Motion by Julie Kannas, seconded by Mike Kennedy, to approval Policy 6675 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
– Exempt School, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Mike Kennedy provided the final reading of Policy 6680 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Nonpublic Schools.  
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Julie Kannas, to approve Policy 6680 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
– Nonpublic Schools, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 

7



 
Board of Education Minutes 
May 3, 2010 
Page 3 
 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Dave Anderson, to approve Rule 6675.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
– Exempt Schools: Requests for Programs, Services or Materials, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion 
carried. 
 
Motion by Dave Anderson, seconded by Brad Burwell, to approve Rule 6675.2 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
– Admittance and Participation by Exempt School Students, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Brad Burwell, seconded by Dave Anderson, to approve Rule 6680.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
– Nonpublic Schools: Requests for Programs, Services, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Julie Kannas, to approve Rule 6680.2 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – 
Nonpublic School Students: Placement, Credits and Grades, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Brad Burwell, seconded by Linda Poole, to reaffirm Policy 1115 – Community Relations – Advertising, upon 
roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Julie Kannas, to approve Rule 1115.1 – Community Relations – Advertising, 
upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Brad Burwell, seconded by Julie Kannas, to approve Rule 5100.8 – Pupil Services – Enrollment of Students: 
Learning Community Open Enrollment, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Julie Kannas, that the i3 Innovation Grant for the Early College program be 
approved and that the Associate Superintendent for Educational Services be authorized and directed to execute any and all 
documents related to this project, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Julie Kannas, to approve Millard Mathematics Standards and Indicators adjustments 
to the Transformations and Probability concepts as presented, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Brad Burwell, seconded by Dave Anderson, to approve the Middle School Writing Cut Scores, upon roll call 
vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Dave Anderson, reaffirm Policy 3611 – Support Services – Construction – 
Planning – Determining Needs; Policy 3612 – Support Services – Construction – Planning – Forecasting Enrollments; 
Policy 3613 – Support Services – Construction – Planning – Master Facility Plan; Policy 3614 – Support Services – 
Construction – Planning – Special Projects; Rule 3614.1 – Support Services – Construction – Planning – Special Projects; 
Policy 3621 – Support Services – Construction – Professional Services – Architects & Engineers; Policy 3622 – Support 
Services – Construction – Professional Services – School Attorney; Rule 3622.1 – Support Services – Construction – 
Professional Services – School Attorney; Policy 3623 – Support Services – Construction – Professional Services – Project 
Manager;  Policy 3631 – Support Services – Construction – Site – Acquisition; Policy 3632 – Support Services – 
Construction – Site – Landscaping; Policy 3641 – Support Services – Construction – Procedures – Bidding; Policy 3642 – 
Support Services – Construction – Procedures – Contracts; Policy 3643 – Support Services – Construction – Procedures – 
Naming of Facilities; Rule 3643.1 – Support Services – Construction – Procedures – Naming Facilities; Policy 3644 – 
Support Services – Construction – Procedures – Dedication Plaques; Rule 3644.1 – Support Services – Construction – 
Procedures – Dedication  Plaque; Policy 3645 – Support Services – Construction – Procedures – Change Orders; Rule 
3645.1 – Support Services – Construction – Change Orders; and Policy 3646 – Support Services – Construction – 
Procedures – Closing, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
 
 

8





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Millard Public Schools 
May 17, 2010 

 

10



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
AMERICAN CHORAL DIRECTORS ASSOC133527312968 85.00 
AMERICAN EXPRESS011651312969 3,322.63 
BRAD BURWELL106110312970 59.99 
BRIAN L NELSON107732312977 75.00 
MCMURRY INC134781312978 87.00 
PETTY CASH/YAP132115312979 240.84 
WEST MUSIC COMPANY094174312981 27.15 
BRYAN ELEMENTARY135036312999 79.00 
ANGELA M DIEHM133261313002 50.00 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK VISA106773313003 7,214.70 
INTERNATIONAL BACCALAUREATE102451313005 675.00 
KEITH W LUTZ060153313007 0.00 
NORTH MIDDLE SCHOOL130091313009 87.25 
A & D TECHNICAL SUPPLY CO INC010040313026 779.00 
SHARON BETH ANDERSON137650313028 221.50 
SUSAN J ANGLEMYER130469313029 319.00 
MARILYN L ANTLEY132880313030 54.50 
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.012989313031 0.00 
ATS MOBILE TELEPHONE CO INC010083313032 85.02 
RAYMOND J SAVARD136956313033 3,500.00 
GLENDA K BACHMANN131546313034 299.03 
GLORIA J BARTELS137039313036 299.03 
VIRGINIA C BAYE131148313037 160.59 
DEBRA K BEAUDOIN130337313038 14.11 
BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480313040 4,752.00 
SARA N BIVENS138074313043 13.00 
BRIDGET A BOARDMAN137759313044 34.70 
NANCY R BORGUM133057313045 299.03 
BETTY M BRAGG136962313046 299.03 
LAURIE R BRODEUR020101313047 587.10 
NANCY A BROSAMLE136986313048 78.00 
VICKI A BROWN020258313049 287.95 
BUREAU OF EDUCATION & RESEARCH020550313050 225.00 
MELISSA K BYINGTON134198313051 328.35 
JAY B CARLSON023968313052 303.80 
CURTIS R CASE131158313053 1,059.86 
SARAH D CLATTERBUCK135927313056 276.88 
CONNECTIVITY SOLUTIONS MFG INC133818313057 1,348.13 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING106893313060 80.38 
WILLIAM DAUGHTRIDGE136517313061 73.00 
MARY ANNE DAVID137651313062 299.03 
DEEP ROCK WATER130339313063 37.05 
DEX MEDIA EAST LLC109850313064 221.16 
CAROL L DICKMEYER137107313065 177.20 
ERIN M DIETSCH138073313066 315.97 
DIETZE MUSIC HOUSE INC033473313067 71.53 

11



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
DLR GROUP INC107232313068 5,025.00 
NAN A DOESCHOT136964313069 476.23 
EDUCATIONAL SERVICE UNIT #3037525313074 79,064.96 
RICKIE D ENGEL135497313076 276.88 
FEDERAL EXPRESS040450313078 247.76 
SHANNON M FISCHER109855313079 42.33 
JILL JANINE FLOTH136966313080 443.00 
JUDITH A FOWLER137040313081 276.88 
GALLUP ORGANIZATION043760313082 750.00 
PATRICIA A GEDBAW131294313084 299.03 
DAVID L. GERARD130343313085 370.00 
NANCY M GILMORE133574313086 818.52 
JEANNE A GOING131204313090 287.95 
PAMELA A HALL130370313093 365.48 
JAMES R HANLON136805313094 469.00 
CHRISTOPHER M HUGHES108153313100 760.10 
HY-VEE INC133397313101 1,904.89 
HY-VEE INC132878313102 366.16 
HY-VEE INC049851313103 1,442.92 
HY-VEE INC049850313104 2,540.74 
MICHAEL JANIS054223313105 299.03 
JONI L JOHNSON135291313106 812.50 
LINDA C JONES135384313107 282.41 
TWILA E JUEL136968313108 287.95 
KIWANIS CLUB OF SOUTHWEST OMAHA084090313110 500.00 
JANICE M KLOKE133556313111 287.95 
PAMELA KNOX136969313112 287.95 
KOHLL'S PHARMACY & HOMECARE INC106582313113 1,615.14 
MARGARET M KUBAT131160313114 299.03 
AMY E LEUSCHEN138075313116 293.83 
JULIA LYONS138076313117 27.58 
SHERI D MACHUCA133683313118 26.05 
SHARON E MALY136970313119 299.03 
SUSAN N MARLATT133505313120 1,630.40 
DOUG MARR107750313121 180.00 
AMANDA F MARSHALL135492313122 54.83 
SUSAN P MCADAM107123313123 99.80 
CAROL MCCANN131069313124 465.15 
THOMAS J MCCRUDDEN137652313125 299.03 
LISA JEAN MCCUE137653313126 299.03 
LA DONNA MEEKER136971313127 310.10 
AMERICAN NATIONAL BANK133403313128 903.60 
LENORA A MEYER131549313129 310.10 
SHARRON A MILLSAP065709313130 287.95 
MARY JANE L MORGAN137906313133 299.03 
MORRISSEY ENGINEERING INC134532313134 2,300.00 

12



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
SUSAN E NELSON135913313139 107.63 
NEXTEL PARTNERS INC109843313140 901.12 
OLSSON ASSOCIATES INC136898313141 6,714.75 
VICTORIA L PALANK138077313143 160.00 
ANNE PANE134833313144 52.34 
PARAGON PRINTING, INC.071623313145 2,393.70 
SUSAN PASSARELLI108452313146 287.95 
TYLER J PEARSON131646313147 61.27 
JANET PELSTER109831313148 42.98 
HEIDI T PENKE107783313149 1,630.40 
MARY J PILLE130721313151 384.75 
SHARRON L RADER137654313152 332.25 
SIDNEY A RAMES135416313153 287.95 
BETH M REITZ132891313154 299.03 
PATRICIA W RHODES079106313155 246.65 
AMBER E RIPA137470313157 247.96 
JOHN W ROSE137873313158 7.50 
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT081630313159 115.00 
DONALD R SHIRLEY135023313164 92.87 
MARILYN J SLEZAK137270313167 310.10 
JANICE D SORENSEN135408313168 310.10 
JAMES D SWITZER132417313170 53.49 
SANDRA L TENHAKEN136973313171 282.41 
KATIE TESSIN138078313172 35.98 
LORI A TRITZ132593313174 50.00 
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE090242313175 539.14 
NANCY L VANIS133701313176 282.41 
DIANE M WEIER137042313177 299.03 
JEANNE M WILSON135419313179 51.10 
MARY C WILSON095155313180 287.95 
YOUNG & WHITE096200313182 30,636.34 

185,392.94 Total for GENERAL FUND
JUDITH H SCHULTZ13135022434 38.00 
JOHN CHARLES ADAIR13489222435 97.88 
ANDERSON ELECTRIC01011222436 681.00 
SARAH J BANIK13788922437 40.50 
NICOLE E BROM13773122438 33.75 
MADELEINE R COLBERT13716022439 27.00 
CULLIGAN WATER CONDITIONING10689322440 26.77 
RAFAEL DIAZ13699922441 70.88 
LINDA M DOYLE01017822442 18.00 
JASON FIGGINS13803922443 30.38 
JUSTIN FIGGINS13804022444 50.63 
MARLEY J FLEMING13700022445 40.50 
JARED A GARDNER13789022446 33.75 
PRESTON A GOCKE13773022447 27.00 

13



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
RYAN J GUENETTE13700122448 10.13 
HOCKENBERGS EQUIP & SUPPLY CO INC04896022449 8.92 
ZACKERY A KAPFER13630422450 84.38 
NICHOLAS T KING13566822451 135.00 
MICHAEL KRMPOTIC13737622452 60.75 
ROWAN W LANG10222922453 165.00 
BILAL LODI13674122454 27.00 
AVERY K LOVGREN13772922455 6.75 
ANDREW E LUCAS JR13725122456 30.38 
RYAN D MCEACHEN13767422457 108.00 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOL CLEARING ACCT13627922458 653.35 
RONALD A NEWTON JR13402522459 108.00 
SOPHIA O NICHOLS13778622460 13.50 
EDRIE K PEARCE10244522461 853.88 
LUCAS PELSTER13630722462 10.13 
DEB RINGER13090322463 43.50 
JEFF RUSH13808222464 30.38 
SAMSON SANDERS13808322465 70.88 
KATHERINE L SIX13505722466 58.35 
SODEXO INC & AFFILIATES10147622467 458,952.49 
RYAN E SPITZER13793322468 50.63 
DAVID SWISHER13793422469 40.50 
ELIJAH TYNES13573922470 91.13 
BRET A WATSON13778522471 33.75 

462,862.82 Total for FOOD SERVICE 
FUND

CONSTRUCT INC135287313000 328,206.00 
BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480313040 943.75 
CONNECTIVITY SOLUTIONS MFG INC133818313057 14,250.00 
DONOVAN PROPERTIES LLC136245313070 1,676.56 
E & A CONSULTING GROUP INC133806313073 500.00 
EHRHART GRIFFIN & ASSOCIATES131533313075 1,100.00 
SCHEMMER ASSOCATES INC081880313160 1,666.75 
SHEPPARD'S BUSINESS INTERIORS083175313163 468.80 

348,811.86 Total for SPECIAL BUILDING 
FUND

HEWLETT PACKARD CO132423313096 160,792.00 

160,792.00 Total for CONSTRUCTION 
FUND

SHARON R COMISAR-LANGDON022701312971 275.00 
ALICIA C FEIST131826312973 275.00 
JOANN M LUTZ136081312975 537.00 
NEBRASKA WESLEYAN UNIVERSITY130473312976 20.00 
ROCKWELL ELEMENTARY135045312980 118.07 
FIRST NATIONAL BANK VISA106773313003 459.42 
HONEYMAN RENT ALL049320313004 32.70 
LAURITZEN BOTANICAL GARDENS131892313006 108.00 
OMAHA CHILDRENS MUSEUM099658313010 164.00 

14



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
MARY KAY LEATHERMAN137995313011 1,509.75 
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.012989313031 0.00 
JULIE K BERGSTROM134884313039 103.46 
CCS PRESENTATION SYSTEMS133970313054 504,858.00 
ELIZABETH A CHADEK136807313055 4.01 
KELLI CRUMP137656313059 22.37 
EDUCATIONAL SERVICE UNIT #3037525313074 15.00 
TAMMY GEBHART106894313083 237.00 
WILLIAM SPRAGUE, JR.132592313099 8,079.36 
HY-VEE INC133397313101 40.21 
HY-VEE INC132878313102 65.46 
HY-VEE INC049850313104 33.23 
MARILYN B KERKHOVE130642313109 508.75 
NANCY G NELSON131550313138 70.97 
LYN E PAHLS133964313142 61.68 
LINDA RIDGWAY130295313156 50.00 
SAM'S CLUB DIRECT081630313159 128.72 
ANNE M SERVAIS137681313162 96.30 
MICHELLE S SIMPSON136994313166 33.02 
SARAH STURGEON136735313169 354.40 
DIANA L WEIS093989313178 68.25 

518,329.13 Total for GRANT FUND
APPLE COMPUTER, INC.012989313031 0.00 

0.00 Total for 
A & D TECHNICAL SUPPLY CO INC010040313026 50.10 
BERINGER CIACCIO DENNELL MABREY133480313040 402.00 
OLSSON ASSOCIATES INC136898313141 2,667.00 

3,119.10 Total for DEPRECIATION 
FUND

DARREL DRAPER107948312972 125.00 
BRUCE B JUNEK135411312974 1,300.00 
JOHN D'ARCY032071313001 150.00 
JAYNE MACHOLAN130575313008 1,200.00 
HALEY E ALLEN137976313027 90.00 
AIMEE BAKER136339313035 114.75 
EDWARD BIDROWSKY137508313041 127.50 
DENA BIELSKI137705313042 135.00 
JUSTINE COOPER135694313058 42.50 
AMANDA D DOWNING135695313071 102.00 
HAYLEY DUNCAN137509313072 190.00 
KAITLYN FEDER135766313077 170.00 
NEIL GIRMUS137831313087 135.00 
JIM GLOVER137760313088 22.50 
ROBERT S GLOVER137704313089 160.00 
MICHAEL T GREEN132710313091 40.00 
WAYNE GRUDLE130309313092 94.00 

15



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 17, 2010

Date: 5/12/10

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
KASSIE HEEB137044313095 42.50 
RACHEL HOGAN135313313097 200.00 
RYAN HOGAN136879313098 82.50 
MEREDITH LARSON137154313115 180.00 
ALEX S MORELAND138079313131 90.00 
KATE MORELAND137445313132 180.00 
ALAN R NEESEN138081313135 22.50 
DAVID W NEESEN138080313136 90.00 
ERIN NELSON137043313137 90.00 
CECILIA PETERSSON137986313150 180.00 
KAITLYN SEAMAN137787313161 90.00 
DAVID SHRIVER137119313165 180.00 
MORIAH THOMPSON137122313173 135.00 
ANDREW YORK137120313181 34.00 

5,794.75 Total for ACTIVITY FUND
BRUCE B JUNEK135411312974 -52.00 

-52.00 Total for 

1,685,050.60 Report Total               

16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



 

 

Committee Meeting 
Minutes 
May 10, 2010 
 
 
The members of the Board of Education met as a committee of the whole on Monday, May 10, 2010 at 6:30 p.m. 
at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  The topics which were discussed included, 
Coventry and Silverstone on Health Insurance Program, Leadership Academy Program, and the Learning 
Community. 
 
 Present:  Dave Anderson, Mike Pate, Brad Burwell, Mike Kennedy, and Linda Poole 
 
 Absent:  Julie Kannas 
 
Also in attendance were Keith Lutz, Angelo Passarelli, Chad Meisgeier, representatives from Coventry and 
Silverstone, Duncan Young, District attorney, and other administrators. 
 
Chad Meisgeier reviewed the history of the health program over the years from the Educators Health Alliance 
(EHA) to the current self-funded insurance program.  By using the Silverstone Group with their vast knowledge 
of the insurance market, and by using their recommendations on when to bid out for insurance, and which 
companies would be viable competitors has allowed considerable savings for the District.  With the assistance of 
Silverstone they ultimately have helped to keep premiums downs, and in the long run makes a nice recruiting 
incentive for potential employees.  
 
One of the action plans of Strategy 2 in the District’s Strategic Plan calls for the development of a wellness 
program, and this would be a beneficial avenue in the future to help lower medical costs.  The Wellness 
Committee has met and they have started to look at different wellness programs. However, this could be a costly 
endeavor at the beginning, but after three years it would be anticipated the program would break even.  This is 
still in the studying stage. 
 
There were suggestions on educating the Millard staff that the health insurance program is a self-funded program 
by the district, and to encourage the use of generic drugs.  Silverstone reported that currently 65% of prescriptions 
requested by Millard staff are generic compared to the norm of 69%.  Another suggestion was to encourage 
employees to use a nurse helpline before going to an emergency room. 
 
Coventry has a disease management program which offers help for employees who have some major illnesses 
such as heart issues, or diabetes. 
 
The most immediate impact to Millard’s plan in regards to the new healthcare reform was explained. There have 
been three regulations sent from the federal government, but they seem to conflict with one another, so it has been 
some cause for confusion. 
 
Angelo Passarelli explained the general program requirements, the application process, and a brief program 
description of the Leadership Academy.  During the course of the year administrators from the various disciplines 
in Millard come to speak to the group about their areas of responsibility.  The Leadership Academy program is 
designed to help individuals put leadership theory into practice.  This program also makes for a strong pool of 
candidates for both administrative and teacher-leader positions. 
 
Duncan Young updated the board on the lawsuit filed by the Nebraska Farm Bureau and two Sarpy County 
residents against the Learning Community and the eleven school districts in the Learning Community. They are  
 

76





78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 

Agenda Item: Human Resources Policy 4160 Personnel Lists 
 
Meeting Date: May 17, 2010  
 
Department Human Resources 
 
Title and Brief Human Resources - Evaluation   
Description:   

• Policy 4160 Evaluation 
• Rule 4160.1 Evaluation – Certificated Staff 
• Rule 4160.2 Evaluation – Non Certificated Staff  

        
 
Action Desired: Approval  
 
 
Background: We have made minor updates to the Staff Evaluation Handbook. In order to submit 

the handbook to NDE for Rule 10 approval we recommend that we reaffirm policy 
and rule simultaneously.     

Options/Alternatives 
Considered: N/A 
 
Recommendations: Reaffirm Policy 4160 and Rules 4160.1, 4160.2  
 
 
Strategic Plan 
Reference: N/A 
 
Implications of 
Adoption/Rejection: N/A 
 
Timeline:   
 
Responsible 
Persons: Dr. Jim Sutfin, Executive Director of Human Resources  
 Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Director of staff Development   
 
 
 
 
 
Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________________________ 
 

95



Human Resources 
 
Evaluation   4160 
 
All personnel shall be continuously evaluated by the appropriate supervisors to encourage improvement of the total 
school program.  
 
The Millard Public School District shall provide procedures for the evaluation of staff:  said evaluation shall serve 
as a basis for the improvement of performance and continued employment in the Millard School District.  The 
procedures shall provide for a source of information for sound decision-making as well as for counseling, for 
inservice training, and for continual growth of all employees.  The procedures shall provide not only for the 
identification and improvement of staff skills and abilities that enhance the learning process, but also for the orderly 
dismissal of those who do not meet the standards of the District.  
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat § 79-318(5)(h) and § 79-828 
 
Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 10 
 
Policy Adopted:  January 2, 1979 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  August 3, 1992; December 21, 1998; July 21, 2003 Omaha, Nebraska 
Reaffirmed: June 1, 2009;May 17, 2010 
 

96



Human Resources  
 
Evaluation - Certificated Staff   4160.1 
 

I. All certificated personnel shall be evaluated in accordance with the District’s written procedures on 
appraisal forms provided by the Human Resources Office as follows: 

 
A. Probationary certificated employees shall be evaluated at least once each semester in accordance with 

the procedures provided by law. 
 

B. Permanent certificated employees shall be evaluated at least once every school year. 
 

II. The District will obtain approval of its teacher evaluation policies and procedures from the Nebraska 
Department of Education as a requirement to legally operate as an accredited school district in Nebraska in 
accordance with Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 10.  In the event the District changes its 
policies or procedures for teacher evaluation, it shall re-submit the revised policies and procedures to the 
Nebraska Department of Education for approval.  The policies and procedures submitted for the approval 
of the Nebraska Department of Education shall be in writing, shall be approved by the Millard Board of 
Education, and shall include the following: 

 
A. A policy containing a statement of the purpose of teacher evaluation in the District. 
 
B. A teacher evaluation procedure, which shall: 

 
1. Contain specific criteria upon which teachers are to be evaluated.  Evaluation instruments shall be 

designed primarily for the improvement of instruction and shall include, at a minimum:   (1) 
instructional performance, (2) classroom organization and management, (3) professional conduct, 
and (4) personal conduct.  Specific standards for measurement in each of these four areas shall be 
tied to the instructional goals of the District. 

 
2. Describe the process to be used for evaluation, including the duration and frequency of the 

observations and the formal evaluations for probationary and permanent certificated teachers. 
 

3. Provide for documenting the evaluation. 
 

4. Communicate results of the evaluation annually, in writing, to those being evaluated. 
 

5. Provide for written communication (commonly referred to as a growth plan) to the evaluated 
teacher on all noted deficiencies, specific means for the correction of the noted deficiencies, and 
an adequate timeline for the implementing the concrete suggestions for improvement. 

 
6. Provide for the teacher to offer a written response to the evaluation. 
 
7. Communicate the evaluation procedure annually, in writing, to those being evaluated. 
 
8. Describe the District’s plan for training evaluators. 

 
III. All evaluators shall possess a valid Nebraska Administrative Certificate and shall be trained to use the 

evaluation system employed in the District. 
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 79-318(5)(h) and 79-828(2); Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 
10 
 
Related Policies & Rules: 4160 
 
Rule Approved:  January 2, 1979 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  November 21, 1983; August 3, 1992; Sept 7, 1993; Dec. 21, 1998 Omaha, Nebraska 
July 21, 2003 
Reaffirmed: June 1, 2009; May 17, 2010 

97



Human Resources 
 
Evaluation - Non-Certificated   4160.2 
 
All non-certificated personnel shall be evaluated in accordance with written procedures and on appraisal forms 
provided by the Human Resources Office.  The procedures shall contain:  1) specific criteria upon which each 
employee is to be evaluated, 2) provide for written communication to the evaluated employee on all noted 
deficiencies, specific means for the correction of the noted deficiencies, and an adequate timeline for implementing 
the suggestions for improvement, and 3) provide for the employee to offer a written response to the evaluation. 
 
Rule Approved:  January 2, 1979 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  November 21, 1983; August 3, 1992; July 21, 2003 Omaha, Nebraska 
Reaffirmed:  December 21, 1998; June 1, 2009; May 17, 2010 
 

98



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:    Rule 5300.4 
 
MEETING DATE:     May 17, 2010 
 
DEPARTMENT:    Pupil Services 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:  Dating Violence 
 
ACTION DESIRED:      X Approval  ___ Informational  
 
BACKGROUND:   On or before July 1, 2010, each school district 

shall develop and adopt a specific policy to 
address incidents of dating violence involving 
students at school, which shall be made a part of 
the requirements for accreditation in accordance 
with section 79-703. Such policy shall include a 
statement that dating violence will not be 
tolerated. 

 
OPTIONAL/ALTERNATIVE  
CONSIDERATIONS:     N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:    Approval 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:   N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION 
OR REJECTION:  The approval of this rule will ensure Millard 

Public School meets the requirements of this 
new state statute. It will also ensure that the rule 
will be published in the annually revised Student 
Handbook starting with the 2010-11 school year. 

 
TIMELINE:      
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:    Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist, Director of Pupil Services 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,  
HUMAN RESOURCES:                                    Dr. Jim Sutfin, Executive Director  
      Human Resources 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:   _________________________________ 
 

99

sphelps
New Stamp



 
 
 
 
Category: Pupil Services 
Policy: Student Conduct 
Rule: Student Conduct: Dating Violence  5300.4 
 
 

I. Dating Violence Prohibited. The District provides physically safe and emotionally secure 
environments for all students. Positive behaviors are encouraged in the educational program 
and are required of all students. Inappropriate behaviors, including but not limited to, dating 
violence, will not be tolerated and must be avoided by all students. 
 

II. Dating Violence Training. Strategies and practices will be implemented to reinforce 
positive behaviors and to discourage and protect others from inappropriate behaviors. Dating 
violence training, as defined by Neb. Rev. Stat.79-2,141(4,) shall be provided to staff deemed 
appropriate by the administration. Training shall include, but not be limited to, basic 
awareness of dating violence, warning signs of dating violence, and the District's dating 
violence policy.  

 

III. Dating Violence Information. The District shall inform the students' parents or legal 
guardians of the District's dating violence policy on an annual basis via the Student 
Handbook. If requested, the District shall also provide the parents or legal guardians a copy 
of the District's dating violence policy and other relevant information. 

 

IV. Definitions. 
 
A. Dating Violence shall mean a pattern of behavior where one person uses threats of, or actually 

uses, physical, sexual, verbal, or emotional abuse, to control his or her dating partner. 

B. Dating Partner shall mean any person, regardless of gender, involved in an intimate relationship 
with another person primarily characterized by the expectation of affectionate involvement 
whether casual, serious, or long term. 

 

Related Policy: 5300 

Related Rules: 5300.2, 5300.3 

Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-2,141 
 
Date of Adoption: May 17, 2010 

Millard Public Schools 
      Omaha, NE 

100



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Rule 5400.1 
 
 
MEETING DATE: May 17, 2010 
 
 
DEPARTMENT: Pupil Services 
 

              TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Student Discipline: The District's disciplinary rules and 
procedures are designed to protect the students' constitutional and statutory rights within the context of an 
orderly and effective educational process.  Students will be excluded from school and/or school activities 
when their conduct interferes with an orderly and effective educational process. 
 
ACTION DESIRED:   Information Only    Approval    X  
 
 
BACKGROUND:   
 
Changes are being made to Rule 5400.6, the Student Code of Conduct which creates a necessary change to 
Rule 5400.1 to ensure consistency. 
 
OPTIONS AND ALTERNATIVE CONSIDERED: N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Adoption of proposed rule. 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION:  Failure to adopt the rule would jeopardize 
consistency with the Student Code of Conduct. 
 
 
TIMELINE:  N/A 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):      Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF HUMAN  
RESOURCES:         Dr. Jim Sutfin 
                    (Signature) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:             _____________________________ 
       (Signature) 
 
 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

101

sphelps
New Stamp



SSPupil Services  
 
Student Discipline 5400.1 
 
 
I. General Statement  The District's disciplinary rules and procedures are designed to protect the students' 

constitutional and statutory rights within the context of an orderly and effective educational process.  Students 
will be excluded from school and/or school activities when their conduct interferes with an orderly and effective 
educational process. 

 
II. Types of Exclusion and Disciplinary Action. 
 

A. Short-term Suspension.  Exclusion from all schools in the District not to exceed five (5) school days.  
 
B. Emergency Exclusion.  Immediate exclusion if: 

 
1. The student has a dangerous communicable disease transmissible through normal school 

contacts and poses an imminent threat to the health and safety of the school community; or 
 

2. The student's conduct presents a clear threat to the physical safety of himself, herself, or 
others; or  

 
3. The student’s conduct is so extremely disruptive as to make temporary removal necessary to 

preserve the rights of other students to pursue an education.   
 
4. An emergency exclusion shall be based upon a clear factual situation warranting it and shall 

last no longer than is necessary to avoid the dangers necessitating the exclusion.  
 
5. Emergency Exclusion for Five (5) Days or Less.  The same procedures for short-term      

suspension shall be used for an emergency exclusion for five (5) days or less. 
 

6. Emergency Exclusion for Over Five (5) Days.  If the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 
designee determines that the exclusion will extend beyond five (5) days, the following      
procedural provisions must be followed: 

 
a. Hearing/Final Determination.  A hearing will be held and a final determination 

made within ten (10) school days after the initial date of exclusion.  
 

b. Hearing Procedures.  The hearing will be conducted in compliance with the 
disciplinary hearing procedures which are used for long-term suspension, expulsion 
and reassignment.  

 
C. Long-term Suspension.  Exclusion from all schools  in the District (except the location designated for 

alternative education for students suspended for ten (10) school days or more) for more than five (5) 
school days but less than twenty (20) school days. 

 
D. Expulsion.  Exclusion from all schools in the District (except the location designated for alternative 

education) for a period not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect with the 
following exceptions: 

 
1. If the misconduct occurred within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the first semester, 

the expulsion shall remain in effect through the second semester; or 
 

2. If the misconduct occurred  within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the second 

102



semester, the expulsion shall remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the 
following school year subject to the annual review provision of  Section IID (3) (c), below.   

 
3. The time periods above do not apply to the following infractions which have the following 

periods of exclusion: 
 

a.        Firearms and/or Guns.  Exclusion from all schools in the District for not less than 
one (1) year of any student who is determined to have knowingly and intentionally 
possessed, used, or transmitted a firearm or other gun as provided in (see Rule 
5400.6 (II)(D)(1) and (2) on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or 
contracted by a school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven 
for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her designee, or at a school-
sponsored activity or athletic event. This subsection shall not apply to: 

 
i. The issuance of firearms or the possession of firearms by members of the 

Reserve Officers Training Corps when training; or 
 
ii. Firearms which lawfully are possessed by the person receiving instruction 

under the immediate supervision of an adult instructor who may lawfully 
possess firearms. 

 
b. Personal Injury.  Students who knowingly and intentionally use force in causing or 

attempting to cause personal injury to a school employee, school volunteer, or 
student (unless caused by accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the 
reasonable belief that it was necessary to protect some other person as hereafter 
provided) or the knowing and intentional possession, use, or transmission of a 
dangerous weapon, other than a firearm, shall be excluded for a period not to 
exceed the remainder of the school year in which it took effect if the misconduct 
occurs during the first semester.  If the expulsion takes place during the second 
semester, the exclusion shall remain in effect for summer school and may remain in 
effect for the first semester of the following school year unless modified or 
terminated by the District at any time during the expulsion period.   Personal injury 
caused by accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the reasonable belief 
that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not constitute a violation of 
this provision.  

 
c. Sexual Assault. Students who sexually assault or attempt to sexually assault any 

person on school grounds shall be excluded for one (1) year.  Students who sexually 
assault or attempt to sexually assault any person off school grounds may be 
excluded for one (1) year, provided that a complaint must have been filed by a 
prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually 
assaulted or attempted to sexually assault any person off school grounds not at a 
school function, activity, or event, and the student’s presence at school has a direct 
and immediate effect on maintaining discipline, order, or safety in the school.  
Sexual assault shall mean sexual assault in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. 
Stat. § 28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §  
28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in Neb. 
Rev. Stat. § 28-320.1, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be 
amended. Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-267(9). 

 
d. Annual Review.  Any expulsion that will remain in effect during the first semester 

of the following school year shall be automatically scheduled for review before the 
beginning of the school year.  The review shall be conducted by a Hearing          
Examiner after the Hearing Examiner has given notice of the review to the student 

103



and to the student's parents or guardian.  The review shall be limited to newly     
discovered evidence or evidence of changes in the student's circumstances 
occurring since the original hearing.  This review may lead to the Hearing          
Examiner's recommendation that the student be re-admitted for the upcoming 
school  year.  If the Board  (or Board Committee) took the final action to expel the 
student, the student may be re-admitted only by Board action.  Otherwise, the 
student may be re-admitted by the Superintendent. 

 
E. Mandatory Reassignment.  Involuntary transfer to another school in the District in connection with any 

disciplinary action. 
 
F. Exclusion from School Grounds and Activities.  During any time period that a student is excluded 

from school due to short-term suspension, long-term suspension, expulsion, or emergency exclusion, 
the student will be prohibited from being on school grounds (except the location designated for 
alternative education) and from participating in any District-sponsored extracurricular activities and 
from attending any extracurricular activities which take place on District property. 

 
G. Other Disciplinary Action.  Administrative and teaching personnel may take actions regarding student 

behavior which are reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent 
interference with the educational process.  Such actions may include, but need not be limited to, 
counseling of students, parent conferences, rearrangement of schedules, requirements that a student 
remain in school after regular hours to do additional work, restriction of extracurricular activity, or 
requirements that a student receive counseling, psychological evaluation, or psychiatric evaluation 
upon the written consent of a parent or guardian to such counseling or evaluation.  

 
III. Standards for Student Conduct (Rule 5400.6).  In conjunction with the Student Discipline Act, the District shall 

adopt Standards for Student Conduct contained in Rule 5400.6 that will set forth student misconduct and the 
maximum sanction that the District shall impose.  Rule 5400.6 shall be reviewed annually by the Board, and 
shall be distributed to students at the beginning of the school year or, in the case of student transfers, upon 
enrollment in the District. 

 
IV. Effective Date of Exclusion.  When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, expulsion, 

or mandatory reassignment is filed with the Superintendent, the student may be suspended by the principal until: 
 

A. If no hearing is requested, the date the disciplinary action takes effect; or 
 

B. If a hearing is requested, the date the Hearing Examiner makes the report of his/her findings and a 
recommendation of the action to be taken to the Superintendent, if  the principal determines that the 
student must be suspended immediately to prevent or substantially reduce the risk of interference with 
an educational function or school purpose, or a personal injury to the student himself or herself, other 
students, school employees, or school volunteers.  

 
VI. Procedures for Exclusion.  The District will adhere to the procedural requirements of federal and state law for 

the exclusion of students from school and school activities.   
 
VII. Hearings.  In cases involving emergency exclusion for more than five (5) school days, long-term suspension, 

expulsion, and mandatory reassignment, the student will have the right to a hearing to contest the exclusion. A 
Request for Hearing form will be provided to the student and the student's parents or guardian along with a 
description of the hearing procedures provided by the Student Discipline Act along with the procedures for 
appealing any decision rendered at the hearing.  

 
VIII. Formal Hearings and Appeal.  If a principal makes a decision to discipline a student by long-term suspension, 

expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, the following procedures shall be followed: 
 

A. Written Charge and Summary of Evidence. 

104



 
1. On the date of the decision, a written charge and a summary of the evidence supporting such 

charge shall be filed with the Superintendent or designee. 
 

2. The principal shall, within two (2) school days of the decision, send written notice by 
registered or certified mail to the student and his or her parent or guardian informing them of 
the rights established under the Student Discipline Act. 

 
B. Written Notice.  Written notice must include the violation and summary of evidence; the 

recommended penalty; the right to a hearing; the hearing procedure; and a statement that the principal, 
legal counsel for the school, the student, the student’s parent or the student’s representative or 
guardian shall have a right to examine the student’s academic and disciplinary records and any 
affidavits to be used at the hearing, plus the right to know the identity of the witnesses to appear at the 
hearing and the substance of their testimony.  A form on which the student, the student’s parent, or the 
student’s guardian may request a hearing must accompany the written notice. 

C. Suspension until Hearing.  When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, 
expulsion, or mandatory reassignment is filed with the Superintendent or designee, the student may be 
suspended by the principal until: 

 
1. The date the disciplinary action takes effect if no hearing is requested; 
 
2. If a hearing is requested, the date the hearing examiner makes the report of his/her findings 

and a recommendation of the action to be taken to the Superintendent or designee; or 
 

3. If the principal determines that the student must be suspended immediately to prevent or 
substantially reduce the risk of interference with an education function or school purpose or a 
personal injury to the student himself or herself, other students, school employees, or school 
volunteers. 

 
D. Procedures if a Hearing is not Requested.  If a hearing is not requested by the student or the student’s 

parent or guardian within five (5) school days following receipt of written notice, the punishment 
recommended in the charge by the principal or his/her designee will automatically go into effect upon 
the fifth (5th) school day following receipt of the written notice by the student or his/her parent or 
guardian. 

 
E. Procedures if a Hearing is Requested. 

 
1. Request for Hearing.  A hearing must be requested within five (5) school days after receipt of 

the written notice. 
 

a. Request of Hearing Beyond Five Days.  If a hearing is requested more than five (5) 
school days but not more than thirty (30) calendar days following the actual receipt 
of the written notice, the hearing shall be held but the imposed punishment shall 
continue in effect pending final determination. 

 
2. Appointment of Hearing Examiner.  If a hearing is requested the Superintendent shall appoint 

a hearing examiner.  The hearing examiner can be any person designated by the 
Superintendent or designee if such person has not brought the charges against the student, is 
not a witness at the hearing, and has no involvement in the charge. 

 
3. Notice of Time and Place for Hearing.  Within two (2) school days after being appointed, the 

hearing examiner shall give written notice to the principal, the student, and the student’s 
parent or guardian of the time and place for the hearing. 

 
 

105



a. The hearing shall be scheduled within a period of five (5) school days after it is 
requested, but such time may be changed by the hearing examiner for good cause. 

 
b. No hearing shall be held upon less than two (2) school days actual notice to the 

principal, the student, and the student’s parent or guardian, except with the consent 
of all the parties. 

 
4. Right to Examine Records and Statements.  The principal or legal counsel for the District,  

the student, and student’s parent or guardian, or representative, shall have the right to 
examine the records and written statements referred to Section VII (B) of this Rule, and the 
statement of any witness in the possession of the principal at a reasonable time prior to the 
hearing. 

 
F. Hearing Procedures. 

 
1. Required Attendance at Hearing.  The hearing examiner, student, student’s parent or 

guardian, the student’s representative, if any, and legal counsel for the principal or District, if 
any, shall attend the hearing. 

 
2. Witnesses.  When present, witnesses shall be present only when they are giving information 

at the hearing.  The student, the student’s parent, guardian, or representative, the principal, or 
the hearing examiner may ask witnesses to testify at the hearing.  Such testimony shall be 
under oath, and the hearing examiner shall be authorized to administer the oath.  The hearing 
examiner shall make reasonable effort to assist the student or the student’s parent, guardian, 
or representative in obtaining the attendance of the witnesses. 

 
a. Cross-examination.  The student, the student’s parent, guardian, or representative, 

the principal, the principal’s or the District’s legal counsel, and the hearing 
examiner shall have the right to question any witness giving information at the 
hearing. 

 
b. Immunity.  Any person giving evidence by written statement or in person at a 

hearing shall be given the same immunity from liability as a person testifying in a 
court case. 

 
3. Student Testimony.  The student may speak in his or her own defense and may be questioned 

on his or her testimony, but he or she may choose not to testify and, in such case, shall not be 
threatened with punishment nor be later punished for refusal to testify. 

 
4. Individuals may be Excluded from the Hearing.  The student may be excluded from the 

hearing in the discretion of the hearing examiner at times when the student’s psychological 
evaluation or emotional problems are being discussed.  The hearing examiner may exclude 
anyone from the hearing when his or her actions substantially disrupt an orderly hearing. 

 
5. Evidence on the Student’s Conduct and Records.  The principal may present to the hearing 

examiner statements, in affidavit form, of any person having information about the student’s 
conduct and the student’s records, provided that such statements and records have been made 
available to the student or the student’s parent, guardian, or representative prior to the 
hearing.  The information contained in such records shall be explained and interpreted, prior 
to or at the hearing, to the student, parent or guardian, or representative, upon request, by 
appropriate District personnel. 

 
6. Rules of Evidence.  In conducting the hearing, the hearing examiner shall not be bound by 

the rules of evidence or any other rule of courtroom procedure. 
 

106



7. Proceedings Recorded.  The proceedings of the hearing shall be recorded at the expense of 
the District. 

 
8. Joint Hearings.  A joint hearing may be conducted when more than one (1) student is charged 

with violating the same rule and acted in concert, and the facts are substantially the same for 
all such students. 

 
a. Discretion of Hearing Examiner.  A joint hearing may be conducted if the hearing 

examiner believes that a joint hearing is not likely to result in confusion and no 
student shall have his or her interests substantially prejudiced by a single hearing. 

 
b. Order for Separate Hearing.  If during the conduct of the hearing the hearing 

examiner finds that a student’s interests will be substantially prejudiced by a joint 
hearing or that the hearing is resulting in confusion, the hearing examiner may order 
a separate hearing for any student. 

 
G. Post Hearing Report.  After the hearing, a report shall be made by the hearing examiner to the 

Superintendent or designee.  The report shall contain the hearing examiner’s findings and 
recommendation of the action to be taken, and the report shall explain in terms of the needs of both the 
student and the District, the reasons for the particular action recommended. 

 
1. Range of Recommendations.  The recommendation by the hearing examiner may range from 

no action, through the entire field of counseling, to long-term suspension, expulsion, 
mandatory reassignment, or an alternative education placement. 

 
2. Review by Superintendent or Designee.  A review of the hearing examiner’s report shall be 

made by the Superintendent or designee.  The Superintendent or designee may change, 
revoke, or impose the sanction recommended by the hearing examiner but shall not impose a 
sanction more severe than that recommended by the hearing examiner. 

 
3. Decisions Based on Evidence.  The findings and recommendations of the hearing examiner, 

the determination by the Superintendent, and any determination on appeal to the Board, shall 
be made solely on the basis of the evidence presented at the hearing or, in addition, on any 
evidence presented on appeal. 

 
H. Final Disposition.  Written notice of the findings and recommendations of the hearing examiner and 

the determination of the Superintendent or designee shall be made by certified or registered mail or by 
personal delivery to the student or the student’s parent or guardian.  Upon receipt of such written 
notice by the student, parent, or guardian, the determination of the Superintendent or designee shall 
take immediate effect. 

 
IX. Request for Appeal to the Board.  The student or the student’s parent or guardian may, within seven (7) school 

days following receipt of the Superintendent’s written notice of the determination, appeal the determination to 
the Board by a written request which shall be filed with the secretary of the Board or with the Superintendent.  

 
A. Appeal Hearing. 
 

1. When.  A hearing shall be held before the Board within a period of ten (10) school days after 
it is requested, and such time for a hearing may be changed by mutual agreement of the 
student and Superintendent. 

 
2.   Deliberating Body.  The hearing may be held before a committee of the  Board of not less 

than three (3) members.  
 

3. Admissible Evidence.  Such appeal shall be made on the record, except that new evidence 

107



may be admitted to avoid a substantial threat of unfairness and such new evidence shall be 
recorded at the expense of the District.  

 
4. Deliberation.  After examining the record and taking new evidence, if any, the Board or 

designated committee may withdraw to deliberate privately upon such record and new 
evidence. 

 
a. Limitations.  Any such deliberation shall be held in the presence only of Board 

members in attendance at the appeal proceeding but may be held in the presence of 
legal counsel who has not previously acted as the designee of the principal in 
presenting the school’s case before the hearing examiner.  

 
b. Questions during Deliberation.  If any questions arise during such deliberations 

which require additional evidence, the deliberating body may reopen the hearing to 
receive such evidence, subject to the right of all parties to be present.  

 
5. Action on Appeal.  The deliberating body may alter the Superintendent’s disposition of the 

case if it finds the decision to be too severe but may not impose a more severe sanction. 
 

6. Dispatch of Final Action.  The final action of the deliberating body shall be evidenced by 
personally delivering or mailing by certified mail a copy of the deliberating body’s decision 
to the student and his or her parent or guardian. 

 
B. Judicial Review.  Any person aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case under this Rule, 

whether such decision is affirmative or negative in form, shall be entitled to judicial review.  Nothing 
in the Rule shall be deemed to prevent resort to other means of review, redress, or relief provided by 
law. 

 
X. Settlement.  Nothing in this Rule shall preclude the student, the student's parents, guardian, or                      

representative from discussing and settling disciplinary proceedings with appropriate school personnel prior to 
the hearing stage. 

 
XI. Reporting of Criminal Acts to Law Enforcement Agencies.  The school principal or principal's designee shall 

notify as soon as possible the appropriate law enforcement authorities of any student act which the principal or 
principal's designee knows or suspects is in violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code.  

 
XII. Annual Report to State Department of Education.  The Superintendent or Superintendent's designee shall   

annually provide to the State Department of Education: 
 

A. An assurance that the District has in effect the expulsion policy for bringing a firearm to school 
required by state and federal law; and 

 
B. A description of the circumstances surrounding any expulsions imposed under this Rule, including: the 

name of the school concerned; the number of students expelled from such school; and the types of 
weapons concerned. 

Legal Reference: 20 U.S.C. § 5812 (7); 20 U.S.C. § 5961 et seq.; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1204.04; Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-
254 et seq.; Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 17-004. 
 

Related  Policies & Rules:  5300.1, 5300.2, 5400, 5400.2, 5400.3, 5400.4, 5400.5, 5400.6, 5410.1, 5420.1 
 
Rule Approved: June  3, 1996       Millard Public Schools  
Revised:  June 1, 1998; September 25, 2000; March 15, 2004; May 18, 2009; Omaha, Nebraska 
December 7, 2009, May 17, 2010 

108



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Rule 5400.6, Standards for Student Conduct 
 
 
MEETING DATE: May 17, 2010 
 
 
DEPARTMENT: Pupil Services 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Standards for Student Conduct: The standards are printed and 
distributed to all students and parents to ensure each student and parent understand the required Millard 
Public Schools Standards for Student Conduct. Both the student and the parent or guardian must sign a 
form and return it ensuring that they understand and will comply with the rules set forth. 
 
ACTION DESIRED:   Information Only    Approval    X  
 
 
BACKGROUND:  The Standards for Student Conduct constitutes the rules and regulations followed by all 
students, staff and administration. They are developed and reviewed frequently to ensure that Millard 
Public Schools operates within the Nebraska Student Discipline Act as well as other state and federal law. 
Changes have been made to address specific disciplinary events and their subsequent resolutions.  
 
OPTIONS AND ALTERNATIVE CONSIDERED:N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Adoption of proposed rule. 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  N/A 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION:  Failure to adopt the rule would jeopardize the 
necessary Standards for Student Conduct update for the 2010-11 school year. The rule needs to be printed 
this month in preparation for the Student Handbook that goes home with each student when school starts 
next year. 
 
 
TIMELINE:  Immediate 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):    Dr. Kraig J. Lofquist 
 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF HUMAN:   _____________________________ 
       (Signature) 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL:             _____________________________ 
       (Signature) 
 
 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 
 
 

109

sphelps
New Stamp



Pupil Services 
 
Standards for Student Conduct 5400.6 
 
I. Introduction. 

A. Policy Statement.  Every Millard School District student has the right to an education.  The following Standards 
have been instituted to ensure that right.  Each student and their parents are required, on their own, to become 
familiar with these Standards, and to help provide an atmosphere conducive to learning. 

B. Grounds for Exclusion.  A student may be excluded from school if there is reasonable evidence that the student has 
committed a prohibited act listed below while on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a 
school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by 
his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law 
permits the District to discipline students for prohibited conduct. 

C. Exclusion from School Grounds and Activities.  A student who is excluded from school for a suspension or 
expulsion shall not enter upon district property, or ride in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District 
being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or participate in or attend a school-sponsored activity or athletic event.  Expelled students may enter upon 
District property for the sole purpose of attending alternative education at a location and time designated by the 
Director of Pupil Services. 

D. Length of Expulsions.  Unless specified otherwise within these Standards, the expulsion of a student shall be for a 
period not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect unless the misconduct occurred within ten 
(10) school days prior to the end of the first semester, in which case the expulsion shall remain in effect through the 
second semester, or within ten (10) school days prior to the end of the second semester, in which case the expulsion 
shall remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the following school year.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
283(2). 

E. Contact of Legal Authorities.  The principal of a school or the principal’s designee shall notify as soon as possible 
the appropriate law enforcement authorities, of the county or city in which the school is located, of any act of a 
student described in Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267 which the principal or designee knows or suspects is a violation of the 
Nebraska Criminal Code. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-293(1).  

F. Sanction to be Followed.  If minimum and maximum sanctions are not specified for a specific prohibited act, the 
recommended sanction shall be imposed.  

G. Expulsion as Sanction. Expulsion is specified as a sanction for particular conduct because the District’s Board of 
Education finds that the type of conduct for which expulsion is specified has the potential to seriously affect the 
health, safety, or welfare of the student, other students, staff members, or other persons, or to otherwise seriously 
interfere with the educational process. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-262(1). 

H. Students with Disabilities.  Disciplinary procedures for students who have disabilities as defined by the Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 shall be subject to the disciplinary 
procedures set forth in District rules 5400.2 and 5400.3 and applicable federal and state law.   

I. Mandatory Compliance.  Students and their parent(s) or guardian(s) are hereby notified that compliance with the 
District’s Standards for Student Conduct is mandatory.  It is the responsibility of all students and their parent(s) or 
guardian(s) to become familiar with these Standards. 

II. Violations Against Persons. 

A. Use of Violence.  Use of violence, force, coercion, threat, intimidation or similar conduct in a manner that 
constitutes a substantial interference with school purposes. 

1. Pushing, Shoving or Related Noninjurious Behaviors. 

a. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

2. Fighting.  Mutual attempt to physically harm another person through mutual combative physical contact.  

110



a. First offense. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six 
(6). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 79-267(1) 
and 293. 

b. Two offenses or more. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion.  

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

3. Physical Assault.  Initiation of a violent act against another person through aggressive physical contact.  

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six (6). 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion. 

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) and 293. 

B. Physical Injury to District Employees, Volunteers, and Students.  Causing or attempting to cause personal injury to 
an employee, a school volunteer, or to any student.  Personal injury caused by accident, self-defense, or other action 
undertaken on the reasonable belief that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not constitute a violation 
of this provision. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(3). 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.   

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(3) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds.  

a. First Offense. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has 
violated subsection II(B). Suspension from extracurricular activities for remainder of the semester 
or nineteen (19) school days, whichever is more. 

b. Second Offense. Suspension for extracurricular activities for one (1) year. Prior violations of II(B) 
on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

C. Use of Threats or Intimidation. 

1. Use of Threats (Verbal and Written).  All threats, including those alleged to be jokes, will always be taken 
seriously and are subject to the following disciplinary action. 

a. Level One Threat.  Using a threat as part of a common expression or in a context that the recipient 
does not feel threatened, frightened, or coerced (e.g., “Oh, I could just kill you for that” or “I will 
punch you in the nose”). 

111



(1) Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

b. Level Two Threat.  Using an expression or an implied or veiled threat with the intent of 
threatening, frightening, or coercing another and the recipient feels threatened, frightened, or 
coerced (e.g., “I will kill you.”). 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade four 
(4). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

c. Level Three Threat.  Threatening to kill or injure another person or threatening to damage property 
with potential for personal injury, without possessing a weapon or other object that could kill or 
injure the threatened or intimidated person, and the student describes how it will be done, 
including any threats that concern dangerous chemical substances, biochemical attacks, or 
bioterrorism. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade four 
(4). 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

d. Threatening with an Object.  Threatening with an object which looks like a weapon or an object 
that could be used to injure someone.  To qualify as a look-a-like weapon, the object must closely 
resemble a real weapon in size, shape, and color even when examined up close. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of the suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

(3) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(1) 
and 293. 

2. Bomb Threat (Verbal or Written).  Threatening to use any type of explosive or incendiary device generally 
referred to as a bomb to injure a person(s) or destroy property.   

a. Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion.  

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-1221; Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§79-267(1) and 293. 

D. Firearms, Explosives, and Weapons. 

1. FirearmsGuns, etc.  Knowingly possessing, handling, transmitting, using, intimidating with, or threatening 
with any firearm, explosive, destructive device, pipe bomb, or stun gun.  For purposes of this subsection II 
(D)(1), firearm means any weapon, including a starter gun, which will or is designed to or may readily be 
converted to expel a projectile by the action of an explosive, or the frame or receiver of any such weapon, 
or any firearm muffler or firearm silencer, or any destructive device.  Such term does not include an antique 

112



firearm.object or material that is ordinarily and/or generally considered a firearm, explosive, destructive 
device, or weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air 
soft guns, B.B. guns and pellet guns. 

a. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion for one (1) year.  Suspension from 
  extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

(2) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-   
1202 to 1204.04, 1215, 1216 and 1220; Neb Rev. Stat. §§79-267 (5) and 293. 

  b. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

(1) Citation for illegal possession of a weapon during academic school year or the 
student admits that he or she has violated subsection II(D).  Suspension from 
extracurricular activities for one (1) year. 

 

2. Use and Possession of Other Guns.  Using, intimidating with, threatening with, possessing on one’s person, 
handling or transmitting any paint ball gun, air soft gun, B.B. gun, or pellet gun. 

a. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion for one (1) year.  Suspension from   
extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

(2) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-1202 to 
1204.04, 1215, 1216 and 1220; Neb Rev. Stat. §§79-267 (5) and 293. 

  b. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

 (1) Citation for illegal possession of a weapon during academic school year or the student  
admits that he or she has violated subsection II(D).  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities for one (1) year. 

 3. Possession of Other Guns in Vehicles.  Possessing any paint ball gun, air soft gun, B.B. gun or pellet gun 
in any vehicle on school grounds, provided that any such gun is not in any manner handled either within 
or outside of the vehicle. 

  a. Minimum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  

 

3.4. Other Weapons.  Using or threatening with a knife, throwing star, brass knuckles, chemical substances    
(including, but not limited to, mace, pepper guns, and bleach), and any other object that could be used to 
injure a person.  

a. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of expulsion. 

(2) Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-1202 to 
1204.04; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267 (5) and 293. 

b. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

(1) Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated 
subsection II(D).  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year. 

113



4.5. Possession of Certain Prohibited Objects.  Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting knives, 
throwing stars, brass knuckles, or other objects not enumerated above which could cause injury. 

c. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

d. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

5.6. Possession of Look-a-Like Weapons.  Possessing a look-a-like weapon, the object must closely resemble a 
real weapon in size, shape, and color even when examined up close. 

e. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

f. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

6.7. Exception for Certain Firearms.  Subsection II(D) shall not apply to:  

g. The issuance of firearms to or possession of firearms by members of the Reserve Officers Training 
Corps when training; or  

h. Firearms which may lawfully be possessed by the person receiving instruction under the 
immediate supervision of an adult instructor who may lawfully possess firearms.  

i. Firearms and guns which may lawfully be possessed and used off school grounds, not at a school 
function, activity, or event. 

E. Extortion.  Threatening or intimidating any student for the purpose of or with the intent of obtaining money or 
anything of value from such student. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(4) and 293. 

F. Sexual Assault or Attempted Sexual Assault.  Any sexual assault or attempt to sexually assault any person.  Sexual 
assault shall mean sexual assault in the first or second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319 and 320 or 
sexual assault of a child in the first, second or third degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-319.01 and 320.01.  
Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(9). 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory expulsion for one (1) year.  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities during time of expulsion.   

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(9) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion for one (1) year.  A complaint must have been filed by a 
prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually assaulted or 
attempted to sexually assault any person off school grounds not at a school function, activity, or 
event, and the student’s presence at school has a direct and immediate effect on maintaining 
discipline, order, or safety in the school.  Sexual assault shall mean sexual assault in the first 
degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in Neb. 
Rev. Stat. §28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be amended  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
267(9). 

114



G. Sexual Contact.  The intentional touching of another person’s sexual or intimate parts or the intentional touching of 
another person’s clothing covering the immediate area of the other person’s sexual or intimate parts, without the 
consent of the other person.  Sexual contact also includes the non-consensual touching by the other person of the 
actor’s sexual or intimate parts or the clothing covering the immediate area of the actor’s sexual or intimate parts 
when such touching is intentionally caused by the actor.  The sexual contact must be such that it can be reasonably 
construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification of either party.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-318 and 
320. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension.   

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.   

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities must be contacted upon the request of the offended party.  
Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
II(G).  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year. 

H. Sexual Harassment.  Unwanted or unwelcome activity of a sexual nature which materially interferes with or 
substantially disrupts the educational process.  This may include, but is not limited to, unwanted touching, pinching, 
patting, verbal comments of a sexual nature, sexual name-calling, pressure to engage in sexual activity, repeated 
propositions, written messages, notes, cartoons or graffiti of a sexual nature, and unwanted body contact. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.   

 

I. Harassment.  Any intentionally hurtful, demeaning, or disparaging acts, words, symbolic representations, or 
behavior used by a student or students against another student or students that is disruptive of the educational 
process.  This includes, but is not limited to, verbal, physical, visual, or graphic actions such as name-calling, 
taunting, mocking, slandering, humiliating, defaming, teasing, pestering; and making derogatory remarks, 
demeaning jokes, disparaging drawings or notes. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

J. Bullying.  Any intentionally hostile or offensive verbal, written, graphic, demonstrative, or physical act that has the 
purpose of exerting domination over another student through the act of intimidating, frightening, oppressing, or 
adversely controlling the student, and that is disruptive of the educational process or any ongoing pattern of 
physical, verbal, written, graphic, demonstrative or electronic abuse, on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, 
or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her designee, or at school-
sponsored activities or school-sponsored athletic events.  This may include, but is not limited to, verbal, graphic, 
written or electronic activities such as name-calling, taunting, blackmailing, inciting to fight, terrorizing, or physical 
or demonstrative activities such as poking, blocking or impeding, following, hair pulling, mock hitting motions, 
intentionally bumping, tripping, and damaging clothing. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

K. Hazing. Any activity by which a person intentionally or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health or safety 
of an individual for the purpose of initiation into, admission into, affiliation with, or continued membership with or 
participation in any group or activity. Such hazing activity shall include, but shall not be limited to the following: 
whipping; beating; branding; forced and prolonged calisthenics; prolonged exposure to the elements; forced 
consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug, or harmful substance not generally intended for human 
consumption; prolonged sleep deprivation; harassing by exacting unnecessary or disagreeable work, banter, ridicule, 
or criticism; or any brutal treatment or the performance of any unlawful act which endangers the physical or mental 
health or safety of any person. Consent to the hazing by the student(s) shall not be a defense to hazing. 

115



1. Maximum Sanction. Expulsion. Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

III. Violations Against Public Health and Safety. 

A. Possession of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Possession or use of an illegal narcotic drug, controlled substance, mood-
altering or behavior-affecting substance, or look-a-like substance, or possession or use of a prescribed medication by 
a student for whom the prescribed medication was not prescribed; or possession or use of drug paraphernalia.  
Possession or use of alcohol or an alcohol-containing beverage or liquor capable of human consumption. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds.  

a. First Offense.  Suspension for nineteen (19) school days.  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities while not in school due to the suspension.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to 
participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this 
program may reduce the suspension and curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) days out of school).   

b. Second Offense. Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  Prior violations of subsection III(A) on or off school grounds will be included as 
previous offenses. 

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
III(A).  Curtailment of extracurricular activities for nineteen (19) school days.  

(1) First Offense.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to participate in a District-
approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this program may 
reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of nine (9) school 
days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular activities).  
Previous offenses of subsection III(A) on or off school grounds during the current 
academic school year would not allow participation in this option. 

(2) Second Offense. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

B. Distribution of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any illegal 
narcotic drug, controlled substance, look-a-like substance, mood-altering or behavior affecting substance, drug 
paraphernalia, or alcohol. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. First Offense.  Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  

b. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds. 

a. Citation during academic school or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection III(B).  
Curtailment of extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

C. Possession, Use and Transportation of Medications.  The possession, use, and transportation of prescribed and non-
prescribed medications shall be in accordance with the following rules. 

1. Possession of Medications (Preschool and Elementary Levels).  Possession of prescribed or non-prescribed 
medications, or possession of prescribed or non-prescribed medications on school grounds during 
transportation to and from school, is prohibited.  Elementary school students may possess and use inhalers, 
as well as glucose tablets, according to the provisions of rule 5600.2. 

a. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

116



b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

2. Possession of Medications (Middle School Level).  Possession of prescribed or non-prescribed 
medications, or possession of prescribed medications on school grounds during transportation to and from 
school, is prohibited.  Middle school students may transport non-prescribed medications to and from school 
but must turn it into the nurse upon arrival at school.  Middle school students may possess and use inhalers, 
as well as glucose tablets, according to the provisions of rule 5600.2. 

a. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of suspension. 

(2) Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time 
of expulsion. 

3. Possession of Medications (High School Level).  Possession of prescribed medications is prohibited.  High 
school students may possess non-prescribed medications, but they may not possess prescribed medications 
except in transport to and from school.  Prescribed medications must be turned into the nurse upon arrival 
at school.  High school students may possess and use glucose tablets and inhalers according to the 
provisions of rule 5600.2. 

 

a. First Offense.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

b. Second Offense.   

(1) Minimum Sanction.  Mandatory Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities 
during time of expulsion. 

D. Distribution of Prescribed Medications.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any prescribed 
medication. 

1. First Offense.   Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.   

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

E. Distribution of Non-Prescribed Medications.  Distribution or attempted distribution to any other person, of any non-
prescribed medication. 

1. First Offense.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Second Offense.   

a. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during 
time of suspension. 

b. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion. 

F. Receiving Non-Prescribed Medications.  Receiving non-prescription medications by high school students that are 

117



distributed by another student at school. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.   

G. Under the Influence of Alcohol or Other Drugs.  Being intoxicated or under the influence of any illegal narcotic 
drug, controlled substance, prescribed medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication was not 
prescribed, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, or alcohol. 

1. Sanctions on School Grounds. 

a. First Offense.  Suspension for nineteen (19) school days.  Suspension from extracurricular 
activities while not in school due to the suspension.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to 
participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this 
program may reduce the suspension and curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) days out of school). 

b. Second Offense. Mandatory expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
expulsion.  Prior violations of subsection III (G) on or off school grounds will be included as 
previous offenses. 

c. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(6) and 293. 

2. Sanctions off School Grounds.   

a. Citation during academic school year or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection 
III(G).  Curtailment of extracurricular activities for nineteen (19) school days.  

(1) First Offense.  Parents, at their own expense, may choose to participate in a District-
approved suspension reduction program.  Successful completion of this program may 
reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities by a maximum of nine (9) school 
days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular activities).  
Previous offenses of subsection III(G) on or off school grounds during the current 
academic school year would not allow participation in this option.  

(2) Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

H. Exposure to Bodily Fluids.  Intentionally spitting, throwing, wiping, or otherwise dispersing bodily fluids on or to 
another student or staff member for the purpose of infecting, inciting, demeaning, or intimidating that person. 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

I. Tobacco.  Possession or use of tobacco or tobacco products. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

J. Possession of Fireworks. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

K. Use of Fireworks.  Use or lighting of firecrackers or fireworks of any description. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

IV. Violations against Public Decency and Good Morals. 

A. Public Indecency.  Behavior resulting in public indecency (see definition). This subsection shall apply only to 

118



students above grade five (5).  Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(7). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

B. Profanity and Obscenity.  Written or oral language that is reasonably offensive or repulsive to the person hearing the 
same and which is disruptive of the educational process. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

C. Disparaging Language/Symbolism.  Disparaging or demeaning language or symbolic actions of any kind including, 
but not limited to gestures or language that is intended to disparage, demean, or subject another student or staff 
member to ridicule. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

D. Secret Organizations/Gangs. Participation or membership in any secret fraternity, sorority, club, association, or 
organization is prohibited. The wearing of any ring, pin, or insignia of such a secret organization is also prohibited. 
Organizations or gangs, which initiate, advocate, or promote violence, drug or alcohol use, sex, criminal activity, or 
activities which disrupt the school environment or threaten the safety or well being of persons or geographic 
territory, unique appearance, or language, are a substantial disruption to and material interference with the 
educational environment, and are prohibited. The use of hand signals, graffiti, or the presence of any apparel, 
jewelry, accessory, or manner of grooming which, by virtue of its color, arrangement, trademark, symbol, or other 
attributes indicates or implies membership in or affiliation with such a group, constitutes a substantial disruption to 
and material interference with the educational environment, and are prohibited. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

V. Violations against Property. 

A. Damage to Property.  Willfully causing or attempting to cause substantial damage to property, or repeated damage to 
property.  This shall include school property lent to the student which the student damages.  As to any such damaged 
property, the student’s parent(s) or guardian(s) shall be liable for the damage to the school property. Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(2). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted when the value of the property is five-hundred 
dollars ($500.00) or more.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-519; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(2) and 293. 

B. Theft/Larceny.  Stealing or attempting to steal property, or repeated theft of property.  This will include school 
property lent to a student that is not returned upon demand by an authorized staff member and for which there is no 
reasonable justification for the failure to return the property. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(2). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted when the value of the property involved is two 
hundred dollars ($200.00) or more. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-511 and 518; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(2) and 
293. 

3. Sanctions off School Grounds.  Committing burglary or theft which constitutes a felony provided the 
student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this 
subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated subsection V(B).  Suspension from 
extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  

C. Arson or False Fire Alarm.  Intentionally starting a fire. Use of any fire causing agents to start or attempt to start a 
fire.  Purposely or knowingly causing a false fire alarm.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-502 to 504 and 907; Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.  There is no mandated minimum sanction below grade six (6). 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

119



3. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted if it is believed the arson was criminal.  Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§28-502 to 504 and 907; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

D. False Alarm or Report.  Purposely making a false alarm or false report, or purposely furnishing false information or 
making a false communication or statement, whether verbal, written or electronic, concerning the existence of any 
bomb, explosive device or weapon, dangerous chemical substance, or biochemical or terroristic device, or 
concerning another’s intent or attempt to be made to kill, injure, or intimidate any individual or to use any bomb, 
explosive device, or weapon, dangerous chemical substance, or biochemical or terroristic device, or concerning the 
need for medical, police, or emergency services or procedures.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-907 and 1221; Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion.  

3. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted.  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-907 and 1221; Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

E. Computers.  Direct or indirect use of District computers, computer networks, or computer systems, which involves 
offensive, personal, commercial, and/or religious messages, or any unauthorized access or use of a District 
computer, computer network, or computer system which violates District policy or state or federal law.  Neb. Rev. 
Stat. §§28-1341 to 1348; Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(10). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

2. Mandatory Action.  Legal authorities shall be contacted if the action constitutes a felony.  Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§§28-1341 to 1348; Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-267(10) and 293. 

VI. Violations against School Administration. 

A. Truancy.  Unauthorized absence from school. Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-201 and 209.  

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension.  

B. Gambling.  Playing any game of chance for money or other stakes. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-267(10 ). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

C. Dishonesty.  Dishonesty that interferes with the educational process.  

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

D. Cheating or Plagiarism.  Cheating on examinations including but not limited to ELO examinations.  Plagiarism on 
projects including but not limited to reports, research papers, and portfolios. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

E. Insubordination.  Disrespect for, defying authority of, or refusing to obey requests or directions of teachers, school 
officials or school employees. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

F. Disruptive Behavior.  Behavior or possession of any item that materially interferes with or substantially disrupts 
class work, school activities, or the educational process. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

G. Nuisance Items.  Any item in a student’s possession that is sufficiently annoying, offensive, unpleasant, or 
obnoxious that it substantially interferes with or materially interrupts the educational process.  These items may 
include, but are not limited to, radios, camera cell phones, beepers, walkie-talkies, tape and CD players, IPods, MP3 

120



players, cameras, devices that emit laser light beams, and other electronic devices. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

H. Unlawful Activity.  Engaging in any unlawful activity not specifically covered herein, which constitutes a danger to 
other students or school personnel, or interferes with school purposes or the educational process. Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§79-267(10). 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

I. False Complaints.  False accusations or complaints against another student or staff member. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

J. Noncompliance with Code Yellow or Code Red.  Intentionally leaving an assigned area already in containment 
during a Code Yellow or Code Red alert unless specifically given permission to do so by the supervisor of the 
assigned area. 

1. Minimum Sanction.  Long-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

2. Maximum Sanction.  Expulsion.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of expulsion. 

K. Student Identification.  Failure of a high school student to present the school approved student identification card 
upon the request of a District staff member while on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a 
school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by 
his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event. 

1. Maximum Sanction.  Short-term suspension.  Suspension from extracurricular activities during time of 
suspension. 

VII. Repeated Offenses or Series of Prohibited Conduct. 

A. Two (2) or more violations of prohibited conduct or violation of two (2) or more of the acts prohibited herein within 
the academic school year which constitute a substantial interference with school purposes. Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-
267(11). 

1. Sanction.  Unless otherwise provided herein, prohibited conduct otherwise subject to short-term suspension 
shall be subject to long-term suspension; conduct otherwise subject to long-term suspension shall be 
subject to expulsion; prohibited conduct initially subject to expulsion shall be again subject to expulsion. 

VIII. Curtailment of Extracurricular Activities. 

A. General Statement.  When reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent interference 
with the educational process, the District shall curtail a student’s participation in District extracurricular activities.  
Students shall not be permitted to be on District property or participate in or attend District-sponsored 
extracurricular activities during the time period that the student is excluded from school for disciplinary reasons.  In 
addition, students may be curtailed from extracurricular activities for misconduct taking place off school grounds 
and not at a school function, activity, or event during the academic school year pursuant to the provisions of this 
section and Rule 5400.4.  

B. Period of Ineligibility for Conduct on School Grounds. 

1. Period of Ineligibility.  During any time period that a student is excluded from school due to short-term 
suspension, long-term suspension, expulsion, or emergency exclusion for conduct occurring on school 
grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose or in a 
vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by his or her designee, or at a school-
sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law permits the District to 
discipline students for prohibited conduct, the student so excluded shall also be ineligible for participation 
in extracurricular activities for the entire period of exclusion, and will also be prohibited from being on 
District property or attending any District-sponsored extracurricular events during the period of exclusion 

121



from school.  

2. Effective Following Semester if Necessary.  The ineligibility period shall remain in effect during the 
following semester (including the following school year) if there are insufficient school days in the 
semester to complete the ineligibility period.  

C. Period of Ineligibility for Conduct off School Grounds.  The following prohibited conduct occurring off school 
grounds not at a school function, activity, or event during the academic school year shall subject the student to the 
following periods of ineligibility for extracurricular activities: 

1. Guns, etc.  Knowingly possessing, handling, transmitting, using, intimidating with, or threatening with any 
object or material that is ordinarily and/or generally considered a firearm, explosive, destructive device, or 
weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air soft guns, 
B.B. guns and pellet guns, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection. 

a. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.   

2. Other Weapons.  Using or threatening with a knife, throwing star, brass knuckles, chemical substances 
(including, but not limited to, mace, pepper guns, and bleach), and any other object that could be used to 
injure a person, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves 
the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

3. Sexual Contact.  The intentional touching of another person’s sexual or intimate parts or the intentional 
touching of another person’s clothing covering the immediate area of the other person’s sexual or intimate 
parts, without the consent of the other person.  Sexual contact also includes the non-consensual touching by 
the other person of the actor’s sexual or intimate parts or the clothing covering the immediate area of the 
actor’s sexual or intimate parts when such touching is intentionally caused by the actor provided the student 
has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or 
the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

4. Possession of Alcohol or other Drugs.  The use or possession of an illegal narcotic drug, drug 
paraphernalia, look-a-like substance, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, 
or alcoholic beverage, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection. 

a. First Offense.  Ineligibility period of nineteen (19) school days.  Parents, at their own expense, 
may choose to participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful 
completion of this program may reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular 
activities). 

b. Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection III(A) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

5. Distribution of Alcohol or other Drugs.  The dispensing, sale, or the intent to sell or dispense an illegal 
narcotic drug, look-a-like substance, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, 
or alcoholic beverage, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which 
involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student admits that he or she has violated this 
subsection.   

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

6. Under the Influence of Alcohol or other Drugs.  Being intoxicated or under the influence of any illegal 
narcotic drug, controlled substance, prescribed medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication 
was not prescribed, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, or alcohol, provided the student has 

122



received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the 
student admits that he or she has violated this subsection. 

a. First Offense.  Ineligibility period of nineteen (19) school days.  Parents, at their own expense, 
may choose to participate in a District-approved suspension reduction program.  Successful 
completion of this program may reduce the curtailment of extracurricular activities a maximum of 
nine (9) school days (results in a total of ten (10) school days curtailment of extracurricular 
activities). 

b. Second Offense. Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection III(G) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

7. Physical Injury to District Employees, Volunteers, and Students.  Causing or attempting to cause personal 
injury to any District employee, school volunteer, or to any student, provided the student has received a 
citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student 
admits that he or she has violated this subsection.  

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of remainder of the semester or nineteen (19) school days, 
whichever is more.  

b. Second Offense.  Suspension from extracurricular activities for one (1) year.  Prior violations of 
subsection II(B) on or off school grounds will be included as previous offenses. 

8. Sexual Assault or Attempted Sexual Assault.  Sexually assaulting or attempting to sexually assault any 
person, provided the student has received a citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the 
offense subject to this subsection, the student admits that he or she has violated this subsection, or a 
complaint has been filed by a prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has 
sexually assaulted or attempted to sexually assault any person.   

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

9. Theft/Larceny.  Committing a burglary or theft that constitutes a felony, provided the student has received a 
citation by a law enforcement officer which involves the offense subject to this subsection or the student 
admits that he or she has violated this subsection.  

a. Sanction.  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

10. Repeated Offenses.  Two (2) or more offenses of one (1) of the above prohibited actions.  Prior offenses of 
the above prohibited actions will be included as previous offenses. 

a. Sanction:  Ineligibility period of one (1) year. 

D. District Events During Ineligibility Period.  Students who are ineligible for participation in extracurricular activities 
will also be prohibited from attending any District-sponsored extracurricular events during the ineligibility period. 

E. Effective Following Semester if Necessary.  The ineligibility period shall remain in effect during the following 
semester (including the following school year) if there are insufficient school days in the semester to complete the 
ineligibility period. 

F. Commutation.  Penalties assigned under this Section may be reduced by the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 
designee upon the successful completion of counseling, community service, or other alternatives to curtailment set 
by the District.  The District shall have the sole discretion in determining whether the student is eligible for 
commutation, and what form the counseling, community service, or other alternatives to curtailment must be 
successfully completed before commutation may take place.  Any costs associated with counseling, community 
service, or other alternatives to curtailment shall be borne by the student or the student’s parent(s) or guardian(s). 

G. Effective Date.  The effective date of the curtailment of extracurricular activities shall be the date that the principal 
or principal’s designee provides the student with the oral or written notice of the charges except the principal shall 
not issue a letter of curtailment until there is a student admission, court decision or uncontested citation.  

 

123



124



devices, which purport to aid in a person’s health or well-being or are intended for use in the diagnoses, cure, 
mitigation, treatment, or prevention of diseases, or are intended to affect the structure or any function of the body; 
and any device, instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, or other similar or related article, 
including any component part or accessory, which is prescribed by a physician, physician assistant, or advanced 
practice registered nurse, and dispensed by a pharmacist or other person authorized by law.   

P. “Non-prescribed medication” shall mean all medications which are available without a prescription or order from a 
person who is licensed under the laws of Nebraska to prescribe medications. 

Q. “On school grounds” shall mean on District property, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District being 
used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event. 

R. “One year” shall mean the three hundred sixty-five (365) days that follow the acts at issue. 

S. “Prescribed medication” shall mean all medications which are available only with a prescription or order from a 
person who is licensed under the laws of Nebraska to prescribe medications. 

T. “Public indecency” shall mean performing, procuring, or assisting any other person to perform, in a public place and 
where the conduct may reasonably be expected to be publicly viewed:  (1) An act of sexual penetration; (2) An 
exposure of the genitals, female breasts or buttocks of the body done with intent to affront or alarm any person; or 
(3) A lewd fondling or caressing of the body of another person of the same or opposite sex. 

U. “School day” shall mean any day that school is in session and students are attending academic courses.  It does not 
include practices for extracurricular activities held during the summer, or weekends and vacations that occur during 
the academic school year. 

V. “School jurisdiction” shall mean on District property, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by the District being 
used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her 
designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event, or any other place where the governing law permits the 
District to discipline students for prohibited conduct. 

W. “Sexual assault” shall mean sexual assault in the first degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §§28-319, sexual assault 
in the second degree as defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as 
defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. §28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in Neb Rev. Stat. 
§28-319.01, as such statutes now provide or may hereafter be amended. 

X. “Sexual or intimate parts” shall mean the genital area, groin, inner thighs, buttocks or breasts.  

Y. “Short-term suspension” shall mean exclusion from all schools in the District not to exceed five (5) school days. 

Z. “Under the influence” shall mean the manifestation of physical and physiological symptoms or reactions caused by 
the use of any illegal narcotic drug, controlled substance, mood-altering or behavior-affecting substance, prescribed 
medication by a student for whom the prescribed medication was not prescribed, or alcohol. 

AA. “Weapon” shall mean any object or material that is ordinarily or generally considered a firearm, explosive, or 
weapon, including, but not limited to, guns, firearms, pipe bombs, stun guns, paint ball guns, air soft guns, B.B. 
guns, and pellet guns. 

 

Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-201 and 209 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-319, 319.01, 320 and 320.01 
  Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-401 

Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-502 and 504 
Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 28-511, 518 and 519 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-907 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1202 et seq. 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-1341 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-267 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-293 
 

125



 
Related Rules: 5300.3 

5400.1 through .5 
  5410.1 
  5420.1 
  5470.1 
  5480.1 
  5490.1 
  5600.2 
 
 
Rule Approved:  May 7, 2001 Millard Public Schools  
Revised:  April 15, 2002; May 5, 2003; March 15, 2004; June 5, 2006 Omaha, Nebraska 
July 9, 2007; June 2, 2008; February 2, 2009; May 18, 2009, May 17, 2010 
 
 

126



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Staff Evaluation System 2010-2011

MEETING DATE: 17 May 2010

DIVISONS: Educational Services & Human Resources

TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Staff Evaluation System Report

ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL X DISCUSSION__ INFORMATION ONLY___

BACKGROUND:

Minor adjustments of language and page formatting were made through out the handbook. Sections that
were modified included

1. Appraisal Report - New Staff Induction language
2. Description of psychologist evaluations – Changed from Director of Pupil Services to

Director of Special Education
3. Intensive Assistance - Slight wording changes for better alignment to the Millard

Instructional Model and current practice
4. Administrator Addendum – Updated sample letter of reprimand, letter of summary template,

and principal evaluator list for 2010-2011

Board policy and rule 4160, 4160.1 and 4160.2 outline the staff evaluation procedure to be in compliance
with Rule 10. Pending Board approval of the revised Staff Evaluation System, the Staff Evaluation
Handbook will be submitted to the Nebraska Department of Education for final approval.

RECOMMENDATIONS: Support the minor revisions of the Staff Evaluation System

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: Strategy (Implemented 1990) – We will develop and implement
plans to ensure the highest quality of staff.

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Dr. Jim Sutfin, Mr. Kevin Chick and
Mr. Chad Meisgeier

ASSOCIATE SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL

SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:

127
:

sphelps
New Stamp



     

Millard Public Schools 
Staff Evaluation Handbook 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Revised: May 2010   

 
 Millard Public Schools Mission 
 

The mission of the Millard Public 
    Schools is to guarantee that each 
             student develops the character 
                      traits and masters the  
                 knowledge and skills necessary  
            for personal excellence and 
         responsible citizenship by developing 
       a world-class educational system 
    with diverse programs and effective 
  practices designed to engage  
and challenge all students.  
 

128



     

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Acknowledgements ......................................................................................................................................... 1-2 

History of the Teacher Evaluation Program ................................................................................................ 3-4 

Teacher Job Description................................................................................................................................. 5-6 

Staff Evaluation Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 7-8 

Teacher Evaluation 

 Appraisal Phase & Time Line .............................................................................................................9 

 Continuous Growth Phase & Time Line ...........................................................................................10 

 Appraisal Phase Forms 

  Pre-observation Form...................................................................................................... 11-12 

 Post-observation Reflection Form .................................................................................. 13-14 

 Classroom Observation Form ......................................................................................... 15-16 

 Appraisal Report ............................................................................................................. 17-19 

                  Continuous Growth Phase Forms 

 Continuous Growth Report ............................................................................................. 20-21 

 Continuous Growth Reflection Form.............................................................................. 22-23 

Millard Instructional Model ...................................................................................................................... 24-39 

Select Staff Evaluation  

(Counselors, Social Workers, School Psychologists, Special Education Itinerant Staff & Information/Technology Specialists) 

 Appraisal Phase & Time Line ...........................................................................................................40 

 Continuous Growth Phase & Time Line ...........................................................................................41 

 Appraisal Phase Forms 

  Pre-observation Form for Select Staff ..................................................................................42 

 Post-observation Reflection Form for Select Staff ......................................................... 43-44 

 Classroom/Meeting Observation Form for Select Staff........................................................45 

 Appraisal Report for Select Staff .................................................................................... 46-48 

 Continuous Growth Phase Forms 

 Continuous Growth Report for Select Staff .................................................................... 49-50 

 Continuous Growth Reflection Form for Select Staff .................................................... 51-52 

Practices for Select Staff 

 Practices That Promote Successful School Counseling .............................................................. 53-54 

 Practices That Promote Successful School Social Work ............................................................ 55-56 

 Practices That Promote Successful School Psychologists .......................................................... 57-58 

 Practices That Promote Successful Special Education Itinerant Staff ........................................ 59-60 

 Practices That Promote Successful Information/Technology Specialists ................................... 61-62 

129



    

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
School Nurse Evaluation  
 Introduction & Time Line .................................................................................................................63 

 Reflection Form for School Nurses ............................................................................................ 64-66 

 Evaluation Report for School Nurses ......................................................................................... 67-70 

District Level Leaders Evaluation 

 Introduction & Time Line ........................................................................................................... 71-72 

 Observation Form for District Level Leaders ...................................................................................73 

 Evaluation Report for District Level Leaders ...................................................................................74 

Additional Resource 

 Formulate Learning Objectives .........................................................................................................76

 Descriptions of the Major Categories of Bloom’s Taxonomy ..........................................................77 

 S.M.A.R.T. Goals ....................................................................................................................... 78-81 

 MPS Board Policy 4155 and 4155.1 Code of Ethics .................................................................. 82-87 

 MPS Board Policy 4160 and 4160.1 Evaluation ........................................................................ 88-90 

 MPS Board Policy 6200 and 6200.1 MIM and Practices for Productive Student Learning ............91 

 References for Teacher Evaluation ............................................................................................. 92-93 

Intensive Assistance 

 Intensive Assistance Program Overview ..........................................................................................94 

 Intensive Assistance Program Narrative ..................................................................................... 96-97 

 Recommendation for Intensive Assistance (IA1) .............................................................................98 

 Plan for Improvement (IA2) ..................................................................................................... 99-100 

 Feedback Form (IA3) ......................................................................................................................101 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

130



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  1 

Acknowledgements  
 
 

Teacher Evaluation and Professional Growth Cycle 
Dr. Penny Kowal, Original Team Leader (1993-1995) 
Dr. Donna Flood, Update Team Leader (2002-2003) 
Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Update Team Leader (2005-2007) 

 
Many thanks to the following members who worked to develop the original Teacher Evaluation and 
Professional Growth Cycle in 1993-1994: 
 

Dr. Gary Barta, Dr. Carol Beaty, Dr. Bill DeLoach, Ms. Paula Ellis, Ms. Lynne Elwood, Ms. Paulette 
Freis, Mr. Dennis Gehringer, Ms. Ellen Hartfield, Ms. Lori Jasa, Dr. Jed Johnston, Dr. Deb Kolc, Ms. 
Marsha Krabbenhoft, Ms. Nancy Lindahl, Mr. Bob Lykke, Ms. Helen Lykke-Wisler, Ms. Annette 
Mahoney, Dr. Carol Newton, Dr. Marie Trayer, and Dr. Dick Wollman 

 
Special thanks to the administrators and staff members who participated as the Step-Ahead schools during our 
three year implementation process starting in 1994-1995: 
 

Cottonwood Elementary School, Ezra Millard Elementary School, Neihardt Elementary School, Millard 
North Middle School and Millard South High School 

 
During the 2002-2003 school year, the Teacher Evaluation and Professional Growth Cycle was updated to 
reflect language related to the infusion of technology into instruction. We extend our appreciation to the 
following staff members who contributed to this process: 

 
Ms. Michelle Baldwin, Ms. Peggy Brendel, Dr. Martha Bruckner, Mr. Chuck Burney, Mr. Kevin Chick, Dr. 
Mark Feldhausen, Mr. Terry Houlton, Ms. Chris Ingram, Ms. Lori Jasa, Dr. Jed Johnston, Ms. Nancy 
Johnston, Ms. Vicki Kaspar, Mr. Tony Levy, Ms. Susan Livingston, Mr. Norm Melichar, Dr. Carol Newton, 
Dr. Nila Nielsen, Ms. Paula Peal, Dr. Judy Porter, Mr. Len Sagenbrecht, Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Ms. Charlene 
Snyder, Dr. Jim Sutfin, Ms. Cali Watton, Ms. Jerri Wesley,  Dr. Rick Werkheiser, and Ms. Joan Wilson 

 
The 2002-2003 Teacher Evaluation Update Committee accepted the following definitions for “technology” and 
“technology integration”: 
 

Technology – Electronic tools used to facilitate teaching and learning that include, but are not limited to, 
desktop computers, laptops, tablets, handhelds, projection systems, DVD/VHS/Laser disk players, overhead 
projectors, whiteboard display systems, calculators, scanners, printers, digital (video) cameras, etc. 
 
Technology Integration – The effective application of electronic tools, beyond basic operations and 
concepts, by students to access knowledge, collaborate with peers, engage in higher-order thinking, and 
solve meaningful, real-life problems, and by teachers to plan learning experiences, manage resources and 
the learning environment, provide appropriate instruction, and facilitate the assessment of student learning. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   

131



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  2 

A great deal of appreciation is extended to the following educators who served on the 2005-2006 MIM 
(Millard Instructional Model) Committee and contributed to the 2006 Revision of the Millard Instructional 
Model.   
 

Ms. Deb Ady, Dr. Carol Beaty, Dr. Martha Bruckner, Dr. Christi Buell, Ms. Sharon Comisar-Langdon, Ms. 
Molly Erickson, Ms. Nancy Johnston, Ms. Linda Kolbusz-Kosan, Dr. Carol Newton, Ms. Heather Phipps, 
Dr. Judy Porter, Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Ms. Nancy Thornblad, Ms. Barb Waller, Ms. Marge Welch, and Ms. 
Jerri Wesley. 

 
During the first implementation year of the revised Millard Instructional Model (MIM) in 2006-2007, the 
teacher evaluation committee met the following objective:  The committee will evaluate the MPS Teacher 
Evaluation System by assessing the effectiveness and recommend changes as (or if) needed. 
 

Members of the committee in 2006-2007 were Ms. Deb Ady, Ms. Lori Bartels, Dr. Carol Beaty, Mr. Nolan 
Beyer, Dr. Martha Bruckner, Ms. Melissa Byington, Ms. Sharon Comisar-Langdon, Ms. Ann Gapinski, Ms. 
Micky Gehringer, Ms. Marti Harris, Ms. Lori Jasa, Ms. Nancy Johnston, Dr. Vicki Kaspar, Dr. Deb Kolc, 
Ms. Dawn Marten, Mr. Jim Mercer, Dr. Nila Nielsen, Ms. Paula Peal, Dr. Judy Porter, Mr. Matt Rega, Ms. 
Dianna Ringleb, Dr. Kim Saum-Mills, Dr. Jim Sutfin, Ms. Jerri Wesley, and Ms. Jessica Wilkinson.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  3 

History of the Teacher Evaluation Program 
 
 
The teacher evaluation committee met in September 2006 to determine if changes to evaluation system would 
improve instruction and student learning. The committee conducted a review of research on best practices of 
teacher evaluation and surveyed Millard staff on the current evaluation system to determine if a change to the 
system was needed. 
 

Research suggested that clinical supervision, MPS current evaluation model, may not be the optimal teacher 
evaluation system to improve instruction for permanent certified teachers, which would then increase student 
achievement. Dr. Rick DuFour suggested that although he spent a grueling amount of time to perfect the 
“clinical supervision” process of teacher evaluation, he didn’t make a significant impact in student achievement 
until he stopped focusing on what the teacher was teaching and turned his attention to what students were 
learning.  In DuFour’s article, The Learning-Centered Principal, he proposes the questions, “To what extent are 
the students learning the intended outcomes of each course? And what steps can I take to give both students and 
teachers the additional time and support they need to improve learning?”   

Research Findings 

 
Mike Schmoker also offers researched based arguments for changing the way schools approach teacher 
evaluation and professional development.  In Results Now, Schmoker believes that, “among leadership’s most 
ineffective practices is teacher and administrative evaluation.”  Schmoker also provides support for multiple 
walk-through observations throughout the year and a focus on learning by assisting teachers with “how” to 
teach and “what” to teach.  Schmoker cites Jim Collins, author of Good to Great, “Effective leaders see what is 
essential and ignore the rest.”  Collins believes leaders should, “focus on what is vital-and eliminate all of the 
extraneous distractions…stop doing the senseless things that consume so much time and energy.” 
 
Leading expert and former building administrator, Kim Marshall, advocates for change to the traditional teacher 
evaluation model as well.  Marshall notes, “Even though I had made frequent visits to this teacher’s classroom 
and followed up with informal chats to discuss my impressions, I’d really seen less than 1% of her teaching.  I 
knew little about her dealings with parents or colleagues and had no data on how much her students were 
learning…1) my evaluations were based on grossly inadequate information; 2) they were therefore superficial 
and often missed the target; 3) this was why teachers paid so little attention to them and rarely made changes 
based on what I wrote; and therefore, 4) spending hours and hours on this process was not a good use of my 
time.  If our current approach to teacher evaluation is chewing up large amounts of time without producing 
results, it needs to be changed.” 
 
Research states a walk-through observation is a highly effective component of teacher evaluation.  The 
Principals’ Partnership, www.principalspartnership.com/feature203.html, supports walk-through observations 
and offers the following advice:  “One of the most promising strategies for providing leadership is brief and 
focused visits to the classrooms for the purpose of observing, first hand, the instruction that is provided and the 
needs of staff and students in the school.”   
 

Consultant Dr. John Crawford assisted the teacher evaluation committee in creating the questions used in the 
MPS staff survey.  A random selection of staff shared their perceptions of Millard’s teacher evaluation system 
by participating in the electronic survey.  Of the 388 staff members who participated in the survey; 158 were 
elementary staff, 111 were middle level staff and 98 were high school staff.  Nine teachers identified themselves 
as multi-level and 12 teachers were on teaching contracts but not currently in the classroom.  A similar survey 
was given to all building administrators.  Of the 49 building administrators who participated in the survey; 20 
were elementary level, 16 were middle level and 13 were high school level.   

Survey Findings 

133

http://www.principalspartnership.com/feature203.html�


Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  4 

The analysis of the survey results led the committee to believe change to the evaluation system was needed.  
Many administrators felt refinement to the current growth cycle would improve instruction and student learning.  
Principals also felt an evaluation system that included walk-through observations was a more effective 
evaluation model.  
 
The survey results from teachers also supported a change to the current evaluation system. Many teachers felt 
the current evaluation system was ineffective. Teachers felt the current system represented hoops of procedures 
and protocols in which teachers must jump through. Some teachers stated little improvement of instruction 
occurred based on their evaluation. Teachers supported the idea of having multiple walk-through observations, 
which puts the evaluator in a classroom several times a semester.  
 

The teacher evaluation committee discovered that research suggests a paradigm shift from how the majority of 
American schools conduct teacher evaluation.  In combining research and survey results, the committee 
concluded that changes to the Millard teacher evaluation system could improve instruction and student learning.  
Therefore, the committee created a teacher evaluation pilot program. The pilot program was implemented in 
2007-2008 at Montclair Elementary, Reagan Elementary, Rockwell Elementary, Kiewit Middle School, and 
Millard South High School. The pilot did not suggest any changes to the Intensive Assistance Program.  The 
current teacher evaluation system remained in place for the rest of the staff in 2007-2008.   

Conclusion 

 

134



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  5 

Teacher Job Description 
 
 

Title: Teacher (includes classroom and special assignments) 
 
Reports:  Building Principal  
 
General Summary:  Teachers teach students by reflecting on the following questions when planning effective 
instruction and meaningful assessment, managing the instructional environment, and performing other 
professional responsibilities:  1) What will students know and be able to do?; 2) How will students learn it?; 3) 
How do teachers know students learn it?; 4) What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 
I. Teachers plan with individual learning results in mind. 
 
II. Teachers plan well-designed and executed units and lessons for maximum student participation using 

the Millard Instructional Model. 
 
III. Teachers provide students with many opportunities to learn the prescribed and Board adopted 

curriculum of the Millard Education Program. 
 
IV. Teachers provide students many opportunities to develop the capacity to understand and apply 

knowledge in meaningful ways. 
 
V. Teachers continually monitor student progress by using achievement and other student data, and adjust 

their teaching to optimize individual learning. 
 
VI. Teachers provide proactive intervention to students who are not meeting individual learning goals. 
 
VII. Teachers grade for learning so that student grades reflect evidence of learning. 
 
VIII. Teachers establish positive, productive environments where students are actively engaged.  
 
IX. Teachers clearly teach and effectively implement the Millard policy on student behavior.   
 
X. Teachers uphold high expectations for students to meet challenging and differentiated learning goals. 
 
XI. Teaching professionals initiate meaningful personal, professional growth and contribute to school and 

district improvement. 
 
XII. Teaching professionals perform school-related responsibilities. 
 
XIII. Teachers participate in collaborative teams to analyze student learning data to improve instruction and 

increase student achievement. 
 
XIV.     Teachers perform other duties as assigned by the principal. 

 
 
 
 
 

135



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  6 

Qualifications: 
 
1. Education Level

 

:  Bachelor's degree is required, additional training and/or graduate hours and/or 
graduate degrees in education or subject area(s) is preferred. 

2. Certification or Licensure

 

:  Valid Nebraska Teaching Certificate.  It is preferred that the teacher 
endorsed by the State of Nebraska to teach the particular subjects of the assignment 

3. Experience desired
 

:  Classroom teaching experience is preferred. 

4.   Other requirements:

 

  Possess skills that will enable the teacher to perform the required responsibilities.  
Be physically able to perform required responsibilities.  

Special Requirements: 
   Occasional Frequent Constant 
     1 - 32% 33 - 66% 
1. Standing  ........................................................................................................................x 

  67% + 

2. Walking  ................................................................................................x 
3 Sitting  ................................................................................................x 
4. Lifting   25      
5. Carrying 

 lb max. ...............................................x 
 100        

6. Pushing / Pulling ...............................................................x 
 feet ..................................................x 

7. Climbing / Balancing.........................................................x 
8. Stooping / Kneeling / Crouching / Crawling .....................x 
9. Reaching / Handling ..........................................................x 
10. Speaking / Hearing ............................................................................................................x 
11. Seeing / depth perception / color .......................................................................................x 
 
The statements herein are intended to describe the general nature and level of work being performed by 
employees assigned to this classification.  They are not intended to be construed as an exhaustive list of all 
responsibilities, duties, and skills required of personnel so classified.  Responsibilities and duties assigned are at 
the discretion of the supervisor and building principal (or superintendent). 
 
 
Employee Signature:  _____________________________________________Date:  _________________ 
 
Supervisor Signature:  _____________________________________________Date:  _________________ 
 
 
Revised:  9/14/1998 Millard Public Schools 
          4/25/2008 
 

136



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  7 

Staff Evaluation Introduction 
 
 
The staff evaluation described in this handbook was developed and reaffirmed by the Staff Evaluation 
Development and Update Teams to support the mission of the Millard Public Schools: 
 
The mission of the Millard Public Schools is to guarantee that each student develops the character traits and 
masters the knowledge and skills necessary for personal excellence and responsible citizenship by developing a 
world-class educational system with diverse programs and effective practices designed to engage and challenge 
all students. 
 

Accountability:   
Purposes of Staff Evaluation within Millard Public Schools 

• to ensure all students learn the academic and life skills necessary for responsible living  
• to ensure that Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning continue in the classroom 

 
Professional Growth: 

• to foster the continuous improvement of teaching and learning by teachers 
 
School Improvement: 

• to promote the integration of site-based plans and the district strategic plan with instructional 
improvement through staff development 

 
 

Teachers will be evaluated with respect to the Millard Instructional Model: Practices That Promote Successful 
Student Learning. The defining attributes for evaluating instruction with respect to each of these practices are 
presented in this handbook. The practices and their defining attributes are supported through professional 
consensus and the research on practices that promote successful student learning. 

Teacher Performance Criteria 

 
It is essential that teachers review these practices and develop a clear understanding of the criteria, which serves 
as the basis of the teacher evaluation system. The practices and defining attributes used to evaluate instruction 
in Millard Public Schools includes a broad range of behaviors. They are used to guide teacher growth and 
development beyond competency to higher levels of proficiency. 
 
 

Select staff (i.e. counselors, social workers, school psychologists, special education itinerant staff, 
information/technology specialists, and school nurses) will be evaluated with respect to the identified best 
practices for the specified position. The defining attributes for evaluating these positions with respect to each 
best practice are presented in this handbook. 

Select Staff Performance Criteria 

 
It is essential that staff members review their best practices to develop a clear understanding of the criteria, 
which serve as the basis of the evaluation system. The practices are used to guide growth and development 
beyond competency to higher levels of proficiency. 
 
 

137



Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  8 

Evaluators are encouraged to conduct numerous instructional walk-through observations for each certificated 
staff member per year. The date of each walk-through observation should be documented. Evaluators will focus 
on four areas when conducting instructional walk-through observations:  Curriculum, Instruction, Student 
Engagement, and Safety (CISS). 

Instructional Walk-through Observations for Teachers 

 
 

Evaluators are encouraged to conduct numerous walk-through observations for each select staff member each 
year. The date of each walk-through observation should be documented. Evaluators will focus on best practices 
for the specified position. (i.e. counselors, social workers, school psychologists, special education itinerant staff, 
information/technology specialists, and school nurses) Walk-through observations may include meetings, 
classroom instruction, and interactions with students, staff, or parents. 

Walk-through Observations for Select Staff 

 

Years 1-3 (Probationary Teachers & Special Circumstances) Appraisal Phase 
Teacher & Select Staff Evaluation Cycle 

Year 4-and more      Continuous Growth Phase   
 

• .5 FTE will remain in Appraisal Phase on Probationary Status for six years.  
 (79-825 Revised Statutes) 
 
• An evaluator can move a teacher/select staff back to the Appraisal Phase at any time.   
 

When the standards for performance in the Millard Instructional Model for certificated staff or best practice for 
select staff are not met, the staff member may be placed in the Intensive Assistance Program.  Intensive 
Assistance is part of the Appraisal Phase of the evaluation system. If Intensive Assistance is indicated, staff 
currently in the Appraisal Phase can be placed directly in Intensive Assistance. Staff currently in the Continuous 
Growth Phase will be moved to the Appraisal Phase at the time Intensive Assistance is indicated.  Staff may 
move to the Appraisal Phase at any point in the evaluation process.  Information about the Intensive Assistance 
Program may be found in this handbook.   

Intensive Assistance Program 

 
 

138



 

   

 
 

Teacher Evaluation 

139



 

 9 

Teacher Evaluation Phases  
 
 

All probationary teachers who have been employed with Millard three years or fewer will be in the Appraisal 
Phase until they move to permanent certificated status. Some permanent certificated staff will participate in the 
Appraisal Phase; in-district transfers, new teaching assignments within the school, those not meeting district 
standards/MIM, or those assigned at administrative discretion. 

Appraisal Phase 

 
1. By the end of September, the evaluators will review the evaluation procedures with teachers.  
      (Policy 4160.1) 
 
2. Each teacher on the Appraisal Phase will have three classroom observations. The evaluator will record 

the dates on the Appraisal Report. 
 
3. Two of the three observations should be full instructional periods. One full instructional period 

observation should be completed prior to winter break. The other full instructional period observation 
should be completed between winter break and spring break. All announced observations require a  
Pre-observation Form completed by the teacher and submitted to the evaluator prior to the observation.  

 
4. All three observations require a Post-observation Reflection Form completed by the teacher following 

the observation.  
 

5. After each observation, a Post-observation Conference will take place between the teacher and 
evaluator. The teacher should bring the completed Post-observation Reflection Form to the conference. 
As a result of the dialogue during the conference, the evaluator will finalize the Classroom Observation 
Form. 

 
6. By May 1, a Spring Conference will take place with the teacher and evaluator. Prior to the Spring 

Conference, the teacher will complete the assigned sections of the Appraisal Report. As a result of the 
dialogue during the conference, the evaluator will finalize the Appraisal Report. 

 
7. Throughout the year, the evaluator will conduct several instructional walk-through observations 

focusing on the CISS criteria (Curriculum, Instruction, Student Engagement & Safety). The evaluator will 
record the dates on the Appraisal Report. 

 
 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all certificated staff (Policy 4160.1) 
Appraisal Phase Time Line for Evaluators 

     
By Winter Break ~ Conduct two classroom observations followed by the Post-observation Conference –  
                                     one of these two observations should be for the full instructional period 
  ~ Complete several instructional walk-through observations 
 
By Spring Break ~ Conduct the third classroom observation followed by the Post-observation Conference –  
     this observation should be for the full instructional period  
  ~ Complete several instructional walk-through observations 
     
By May 1  ~ Complete the Appraisal Report and conduct the Spring Conference  
 

140



 

 10 

 

All permanent certificated staff, 4 or more years with MPS, will be evaluated annually. Formal classroom 
observations are optional. Some permanent certificated staff will participate in the Appraisal Phase; in-district 
transfers, new teaching assignments within the school, those not meeting district standards/MIM, or those 
assigned at administrative discretion. 

Continuous Growth Phase 

 
1. By the end of September, the evaluators will review the evaluation procedures with teachers.  

            (Policy 4160.1)  
 

2. By the end of September, a Fall Conference will take place with the teacher and evaluator to establish 
and discuss the teacher’s continuous growth goal and plan of action. This goal should focus on student 
achievement. The teacher will complete the assigned sections on the Continuous Growth Form prior to 
or during the Fall Conference.  
 

3. Between December and February, the evaluator will communicate a progress check with teachers about 
their progress toward their continuous growth goal. This progress check may be via an e-mail or a face-
to-face meeting. 
 

4. Between February and April, a Spring Conference will take place with the teacher and evaluator to 
discuss the teacher’s progress toward the continuous growth goal. The evaluator will bring the 
Continuous Growth Report. The teacher will bring the completed Continuous Growth Reflection Form, 
in addition to evidence of progress toward the goal and professional growth. Evidence of progress can 
be shared in a variety of ways.  Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• Narrative of successful reteaching activities 
• Examples of student work  
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s)  
• Evidence of collaborative lesson study  
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development sessions 

 
5. Throughout the year, the evaluator will conduct several instructional walk-through observations 

focusing on the CISS criteria (Curriculum, Instruction, Student Engagement & Safety). The evaluator will 
record the dates on the Continuous Growth Report. 

 
 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all certificated staff (Policy 4160.1) 
Continuous Growth Phase Time Line for Evaluators 

 
August-September ~ Fall Conference 
 
By Winter Break ~ Complete several instructional walk-through observations  
 
December-February ~ Progress Check  
 
By Spring Break ~ Complete several instructional walk-through observations  
    
February-April ~ Complete the Continuous Growth Report and conduct the Spring Conference 

141



 

 11 

Appraisal Phase 
Pre-observation Form 

 
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date and Time ______________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________  

 
There may be more than one learning objective in a lesson.  When completing the questions below, consider 
your main learning objective. Complete form and submit to your evaluator prior to the observation. 
 
1. What will students know and be able to do because of this lesson?  
    (Skill/Concept) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Which level of Bloom’s Taxonomy will be used in your lesson?   
    (Knowledge, Comprehension, Application, Analysis, Synthesis, Evaluation) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. How will students learn it?   
    (Input/Strategies/Learning Activities - Attach your lesson plan or describe the anticipatory set, 
    steps in lesson, closure, and assignment.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. How will you know students learned it?   
    (Output/Assessment) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

142



 

 12 

5.  How does your learning objective relate to an objective in the MEP Curriculum? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Use your answers in questions 1-4 to complete the following main learning objective for this lesson. 
  

                                                                                         
The learner will demonstrate 
 
____________________________  of  _____________________________________________________ 
         Bloom’s Level of Thinking                                                                             Skill/Concept 

 
 

by  ____________________________  _____________________________________________________                
                 Bloom’s Power Word        Output That Demos/Validates The Learning 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
6. How will you differentiate instruction for students who do not learn the concept/skill or who   
    already know the concept/skill? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Are there any unusual circumstances, special considerations or prior instruction the  
    evaluator should be aware of when observing this lesson? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

143



 

 13 

Appraisal Phase 
Post-observation Reflection Form 

 
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date ______________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 

 
The purpose of this form is to help you reflect on the lesson and main learning objective. Complete this form 
prior to the post-observation conference with your evaluator.  Bring two copies to the post-observation 
conference. 
 
1. What was the main learning objective? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. How does your main learning objective relate to an objective in the MEP Curriculum? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. What went well with your lesson? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. How do you know students mastered the main learning objective and what is your evidence? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

144



 

 14 

5. Who were the students who did not meet the main learning objective?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. What will you do to help these students learn the main learning objective? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Who were the students who already knew the concepts or skills?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. How did you differentiate instruction for these students? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9. What, if anything, would you change about the lesson?  Why? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Discuss your experience in the New Staff Induction Program and the additional support you need. 
 
 

 

145



 

 15 

Appraisal Phase 
Classroom Observation Form 

 
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date ____________________________Time In ______________ Time Out _____________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
1.  Was the stated learning objective of the lesson observed?   
 
     The learner will demonstrate 
 
     ____________________________  of  ___________________________________________________ 
              Bloom’s Level of Thinking                                                                        Skill/Concept 

 
 

     by  __________________________  ____________________________________________________                
                        Bloom’s Power Word        Output That Demos/Validates The Learning 
 
 
 
2. Activities observed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. What specific instructional practices helped the students achieve the main learning objective? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. What evidence is there that the main learning objective was met or not met?   

 
 
 
 
 
 

146



 

 16 

5. Evaluator’s comments (reflective questions, recommendations, and/or commendations) 
    on the observation with respect to the MIM: Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning     
    (Planning, Instruction, Assessment, Learning Environment, Professional Responsibilities) and overall  
    work performance  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.  Deficiencies noted in observation and/or overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. The classroom observation was for (check one)       _____ an entire instructional period. 
       
           _____ a partial instructional period. 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position            Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Teacher’s Signature                                 Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

147



 

 17 

Appraisal Phase 
Appraisal Report 

 
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Spring Conference Date _________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The teacher will complete numbers 1-3 prior to the Spring Conference.  The evaluator will complete 
numbers 4-9 based on the dialogue from the Spring Conference. 
 
1. Teacher’s self-reflection of overall performance with respect to the MIM: Practices That Promote  
    Successful Student Learning (Planning, Instruction, Assessment, Learning Environment,  
    Professional Responsibilities)                                         
 
     What are your teaching strengths? 
 
 
 
 
 Where have you seen growth this year? 
 
 
 
 
 What are your areas of focus for next year? 
 
 
 
 
 Evaluator Comments 
 
 
2. New Staff Induction Program 
 
 _____ N.A. - If you are not involved in the New Staff Induction Program, skip question two. 
 _____ Year 1 – Mentoring Relationships  
 _____ Year 2 - Peer Coaching Partnerships   
 _____ Year 3 - Extended Professional Experiences 
 
 Discuss your experience in the New Staff Induction Program and the additional support you need. 
 
 
 
 
      Evaluator Comments (Optional) 
 

148



 

 18 

3. Work Related To Professional Responsibilities 
 
 List professional growth, graduate classes, and workshops/conferences you have attended this school 
 year. 
 
 
 

 
 List workshops/in-services you have presented this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 List building/district responsibilities you have participated in this school year. 
 
 
 
 
4. Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions, recommendations,  
     and/or commendations) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

149



 

 19 

 
6. Next Year’s Phase  
 
 ___ Appraisal Phase (continued)     ___ Continuous Growth Phase     ___ Intensive Assistance 
  Provide a rationale statement if Appraisal Phase or Intensive Assistance is checked. 
 
 
7. Classroom Observation Dates   
 
 
 
 
 
8. Instructional Walk-through Observations Dates   

 
 
 
 
 
9. Recommended for  
 
 ___re-election          ___conditional re-election          ___dismissal 

 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ___________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position            Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Teacher’s Signature                                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not
 

 concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

150



 

 20 

 
Continuous Growth Phase 

Continuous Growth Report 
      
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The teacher will complete numbers 1-3 prior to or during the Fall Conference.  The evaluator will complete 
numbers 4-12 throughout the year. 
 
 
1. Continuous Growth Goal 
    The S.M.A.R.T. goal should be focused on student achievement. Teachers are encouraged to revise or add    
    to the goal throughout the year as needed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Action steps and timeline to meet the steps: 
 

 
Action Steps Timeline 

  

 
 
3. Evaluation Criteria: How will you know if you met your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

151



 

 21 

 
4. Fall Conference Date _______________ 
 
5. Continuous Growth Goal Agreement Date _______________ 
 
6. Continuous Growth Goal Revision/Addition Date_______________ 
 
7. Continuous Growth Goal Progress Check Date _______________ 
 
8.  Instructional Walk-through Observation Dates 
 
 
 
 
9. Spring Conference and Review of Continuous Growth Reflection Form Date _______________ 
 Evidence of progress can be shared in a variety of ways.  Circle the examples that were 
 discussed.  Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• Narrative of successful reteaching activities 
• Examples of student work  
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s)  
• Evidence of collaborative lesson study  
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development sessions 
• Other _____________________________________________ 

 
10. Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions, recommendations,  
     and/or commendations) 
 
 
11. Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
12. Next Year’s Phase 
 
___ Continuous Growth Phase (continued)          ___ Appraisal Phase          ___ Intensive Assistance 
Provide a rationale statement if Appraisal Phase or Intensive Assistance is checked. 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position             Date 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Teacher’s Signature                                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

152



 

 22 

Continuous Growth Phase 
Continuous Growth Reflection Form 

 
Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Date ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The teacher will bring this completed form to the Spring Conference, in addition to evidence of progress 
toward the goal and professional growth. Evidence of progress can be shared in a variety of ways.  Examples 
include, but are not limited to: 

• Narrative of successful reteaching activities 
• Examples of student work  
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s)  
• Evidence of collaborative lesson study  
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development sessions 
• Other _____________________________________________ 

 
 
1. Continuous Growth Goal 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. What have you accomplished toward your goal?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. What existing data supports your progress towards your goal? 
 
 
 
 

153



 

 23 

4. How did your work toward your goal affect student achievement?   
 
 
 
 
 
5. What did you learn from your work toward your goal thus far? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Is there any need to modify or adjust your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. What are your next steps? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. List professional growth, graduate classes, and workshops/conferences you have attended this school    
Work Related To Professional Responsibilities  

    year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9. List workshops/in-services you have presented this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. List building/district responsibilities you have participated in this school year.

154



 

   

 
 

Millard 
Instructional Model 

 
 

155



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Instructional Model 
 

 
for 

 
 

Millard Public Schools 
(Revised 2006; 2007) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5606 South 147th Street 
Omaha, Nebraska 

68137 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

156



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   25 

The Millard Strategic Plan called for the development of an Instructional Model representing research 
on effective teaching.  The first draft of the model was developed by a team of administrators and 
teachers in 1992.  This draft was a hybrid of the staff development programs offered in Millard in the 
past ten years:  Cooperative Learning, Thinking Skills, Learning Styles, ITIP, Advanced ITIP, 
Developing Independent Learners, Reading-Writing In-services. 
 
Another charge from the Millard Strategic Plan was to create a new teacher evaluation process.  A 
team of teachers and administrators was established to develop a new system.  An important element 
of that system was the Instructional Model.  Using the work of Dr. Ed Iwanicki from the University of 
Connecticut and the 1992 draft of the Instructional Model, a writing team of administrators and 
teachers formed the Indicators of Effective Teaching. 

 

The Teacher Evaluation Team used a consensus process to complete and approve the final product.  
The Millard Education Association was involved in the creation of the Teacher Evaluation System and 
assured that the product met criteria for teacher evaluation established through state and national 
resolutions.  The MEA Board of Directors, the Human Resources Division, the Curriculum Division, 
and the building principals reviewed the final document. The Millard Board of Education approved 
the plan for teacher evaluation on March 7, 1994.  

 

The Teacher Evaluation System was updated in 2001 to reflect the District’s staff development 
initiative in differentiated instruction and updated again in 2003 to reflect the district’s growth in the 
integration of technology into instruction. The Millard Board of Education approved the updated 
Teacher Evaluation System in July 2001 and in June 2003. 

 

In the summer of 2005, a group of Millard educators came together for a two day summer retreat to 
reflect on the following questions: 
o What does an effective teacher do to increase student achievement? 
o What are important decisions teachers must make to effectively instruct?  
o Why is successful classroom management vital to improved student achievement? 
o Can a district model of instruction increase student achievement? 
o Does student achievement increase when building administrators model effective instruction? 
 
Based on this retreat and several meetings during the 2005-2006 school year, the Millard Instructional 
Model was revised to place more emphasis on “student learning.”  “Indicators of Effective Teaching” 
became “Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning.”   
 
We believe all teachers should consider the following four important questions:   
1) What will students know and be able to do? 
2) How will students learn it? 
3) How do we know if students learned it? 
4)  What happens if students don’t learn it or already know it?  
 

 

157



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   26 

 

References for Millard Instructional Model Used Prior to 2005 

Berliner, D.C. (1988).  Implications of studies of expertise in pedagogy for teacher education and 
evaluation.  In the Proceedings of the 1988 ETS Invitational Conference, New directions for teacher 
assessment (pp.39-65).  Princeton, NJ:  Educational Testing Service. 

 

Connecticut State Department of Education, (1988).  Connecticut Competency Instrument.  Hartford, CT:  
The Connecticut State Department of Education, Bureau of Research and Teacher Assessment, P.O. Box 
2219, Hartford, CT  06145. 

 

Instructional Improvement Program, (1981-1994). Millard Public Schools, 5606 South 147th 

 

Street, 
Omaha, Nebraska  68137. 

International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE), 2002. National Educational Technology 
Standards for Teachers:  Preparing Teachers to Use Technology. 

 

Iwanicki, Edward F. (1992).  A Handbook for Teacher Evaluation and Professional Growth, State of 
Louisiana Department of Education, P.O. Box 94064, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 708084-9064. 

 

NEA Resolution C-35, Evaluation of the Professional Educator. 

 

NSEA Resolution D-14, Teacher Evaluation:  D-16, Competency Testing and Teacher Evaluation in 
Education. 

 

Scriven, M. (1987).  Validity in personnel evaluation.  Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education, 1, 

9-23. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

158



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   27 

 

References for Millard Instructional Model Used in 2005-2006 

Buehl, Doug. Classroom Strategies for Interactive Learning
 

.  International Reading Association, 2001. 

Danielson, Charlotte.  Enhancing Professional Practice:  A Framework for Teaching

 

.  Association for 
Supervision and Curriculum Development, 1996. 

Danielson, Charlotte and McGreal, Thomas L. Teacher Evaluation to Enhance Professional Practice

 

.  
Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 2000. 

Dufour, Richard et al.  Whatever it Takes: How Professional Learning Communities Respond When Kids 
Don’t Learn
 

.  National Educational Service, 2004. 

Hunter, Robin. Updated Edition of Madeline Hunter’s Mastery Teaching
 

.  Corwin Press, 2004. 

Marzano, Robert et al. Effective Instructional Practices and Classroom Management that Works

 

.  
Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 2003. 

Marzano, Robert and MCREL Development Team. Effective Instructional Practices

 

. Mid-continent 
Research for Education and Learning, 2000. 

McTighe, Jay and Wiggins, Grant. Understanding by Design

 

. Association for Supervision and Curriculum 
Development, 1998. 

McTighe, Jay and Wiggins, Grant.  Understanding by Design, Professional Development Workbook

 

.  
Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 2004. 

Millard Public Schools. Indicators of Effective Teaching
 

. revised edition 2004. 

O’Connor, Ken.  How to Grade for Learning: Linking Grades to Standards 2nd edition

 

. Corwin Press, 
2002. 

Payne, Ruby. Understanding Learning the How, the Why, the What
 

. aha! Process, Inc., 2002. 

Stronge, James. Handbook for Qualities of Effective Teachers

 

. Association for Supervision and 
Curriculum Development, 2004. 

What Teachers Should Know and Be Able to Do:  The Five Core Propositions of the National Board.  
National Board for Professional Teaching Standards.  www.nbpts.org/about/coreprops.cfm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

159

http://www.nbpts.org/about/coreprops.cfm�


 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   28 

Millard Instructional Model (MIM) 
 

 
The Mission of MIM is to ensure that each student understands, knows, and is able to demonstrate the 
learning specified in the Millard Educational Program so that students meet the guarantee of the Millard 
Public Schools’ Mission.  The Millard Instructional Model is divided into four interdependent domains of 
learning.  The fifth domain, Professional Responsibilities is included in the Teacher Evaluation Process.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Millard Public Schools Mission 
 

The mission of the Millard Public 
    Schools is to guarantee that each 
             student develops the character 
                      traits and masters the  
                 knowledge and skills necessary  
            for personal excellence and 
         responsible citizenship by developing 
       a world-class educational system 
    with diverse programs and effective 
  practices designed to engage  
and challenge all students.  
 

160



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   29 

 

MILLARD INSTRUCTIONAL MODEL: 
PRACTICES THAT PROMOTE SUCCESSFUL STUDENT LEARNING 

 

Domain 1:  Planning 
What will students know and be able to do?  How will students learn it? 

How do we know students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 
I. Students succeed because teachers plan with individual learning results in mind. 
 
 

Domain 2:  Instruction 
How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 

 
II. Students achieve desired learning results from effective participation in well-designed and executed units 

and lessons. 
 
III. Students are given many opportunities to learn the prescribed curriculum of the Millard Education 

Program. 
 
IV. Students develop the capacity to understand and apply knowledge in meaningful ways. 
 
 

Domain 3:  Assessment 
How do we know students learn it? 

 
V. Student progress is continually monitored, and teaching is adjusted to optimize individual learning. 
 
VI. Students who are not meeting individual learning goals are supported by proactive intervention. 
 
VII. Student grades reflect evidence of learning. 
 
 

Domain 4:  Learning Environment 
How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 

 
VIII. Students are engaged in a positive, productive environment established by the teacher. 
 
IX. Student behavior expectations that comply with Millard policy are clearly taught and effectively 

implemented. 
 
X. Students are expected to meet challenging and differentiated learning goals. 
 
 

Domain 5:  Professional Responsibilities 
 
XI. Teaching professionals initiate meaningful professional growth and contribute to school and district 

improvement. 
 
XII. Teaching professionals perform school-related responsibilities. 
 
 

161



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   30 

PRACTICES THAT PROMOTE SUCCESSFUL STUDENT LEARNING 
QUICK REFERENCE 

 

Domain 1:  Planning 
 

What will students know and be able to do?  How will students learn it?   
How do we know students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 

 
I. Students succeed because teachers plan with individual learning results in mind. 

A. The teacher utilizes the Millard Educational Program in planning essential learning outcomes 
and instructional objectives in each area of study. 

B. Individualized assessment data are used to determine learning objectives for each student. 
C. Students are appropriately involved in teacher planning decisions. 
D. The teacher utilizes effective principles of learning in planning the unit and lessons.  

 
 

Domain 2:  Instruction 
 

How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 

 

II. Students achieve desired learning results from effective participation in well-designed and 
executed units and lessons.  

A. Students understand daily, weekly and unit learning goals and objectives. 
B. Students are “hooked into learning” by appropriate anticipatory sets and effective motivational 

strategies. 
C. Students are actively engaged during the full instructional period. 
D. Students learn as a result of effective teacher input and modeling. 
E. Student thinking is facilitated by teacher questioning techniques. 
F. Students are actively engaged in their own learning. 
G. Preferred student learning styles and effective pedagogy are integral components of instruction. 
H. Student success results from ongoing checking for understanding and guided practice that 

incorporate planning, instruction and assessment in a continuous learning loop. 
I. High-quality practice tasks for students are motivating so that learning is engaging and 

meaningful. 
J. Students are given opportunities to use technology as a tool in learning. 

 

III. Students are given many opportunities to learn the prescribed curriculum of the Millard 
Education Program. 

A. Intervention for remediation is immediate and ongoing. 
B. Opportunities for differentiated activities to challenge and interest each student are provided to 

achieve optimum learning. 
 

IV. Students develop the capacity to understand and apply knowledge in meaningful ways. 

A. Students are helped to link new learning to past learning so that transfer will occur. 
B. Students acquire skills to allow them to function productively and independently of direct 

teacher supervision. 
 

162



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   31 

Domain 3:  Assessment 
 

How do we know students learn it? 
 
 

V. Student progress is continually monitored, and teaching is adjusted to optimize individual 
learning. 

A. Effective assessment practices allow students to demonstrate learning and teachers to diagnose 
difficulties. 

B. Pre-assessment data is used to set goals and objectives. 
C. Assessment data is used during instruction to monitor understanding and adjust instruction. 
D. Technology resources support assessment of student learning. 

 
VI. Students who are not meeting individual learning goals are supported by proactive 

intervention. 

A. Effective intervention plans are designed according to district guidelines. 
B. Students, parents, teachers and administrators implement an effective intervention plan. 
C. Intervention plans are monitored to assure their effectiveness. 

 
VII. Student grades reflect evidence of learning. 

A. Grades are fair, consistent, timely and clearly reported to students and parents. 
B. Grading procedures of teachers are based on student achievement of performance standards. 
C. Student involvement in grading includes understanding of grade determination and responsible 

communication with teachers and parents regarding progress. 
 

Domain 4:  Learning Environment 
 

How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 
 

VIII. Students are engaged in a positive, productive environment established by the teacher. 

A. A supportive culture for successful learning is evident. 
B. Students know and follow the procedures for the class. 
C. Physical space is safe and organized for learning. 
D. Students and teacher share mutual rapport and respect. 

 
IX. Student behavior expectations that comply with Millard policy are clearly taught and 

effectively implemented. 

A. Students and teacher establish behavior guidelines appropriate for the developmental level of 
student and classroom setting. 

B. Students understand and follow established behavior guidelines. 
 
X. Students are expected to meet challenging and differentiated learning goals. 

A. Goals are set at least annually. 
B. Students understand and are actively involved in their personal progress. 
C. Goals push students toward continual growth. 

163



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   32 

Domain 5:  Professional Responsibilities 
 
 

 

XI. Teaching professionals initiate meaningful professional growth and contribute to school and 
district improvement. 

A. Teaching professionals pursue professional development to improve instruction. 
B. Teaching professionals assume responsibility for school and district improvement. 

 

XII. Teaching professionals perform school-related responsibilities. 

A. Teaching professionals comply with rules and regulations to provide a safe and orderly school 
environment. 

B. Teaching professionals contribute to a positive school climate. 
C. Teaching professionals initiate parental involvement and support. 
D. Teaching professionals use a variety of educational tools, including technology, to enhance 

professional practice. 
 
 
 
 

164



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   33 

 
PRACTICES THAT PROMOTE SUCCESSFUL STUDENT LEARNING 

In-depth Explanation 

 
 

Domain 1:  Planning 
 

What will students know and be able to do?  How will students learn it?   
How do we know students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 

 

I. Students succeed because teachers plan with individual learning results in mind. 

A. The teacher utilizes the Millard Educational Program in planning essential learning outcomes 
and instructional objectives in each area of study. 
1. Written plans address required MEP curricular outcomes, state and national standards. 
2. Daily and weekly lessons are designed backwards from the unit objectives. 

 
B. Individualized assessment data are used to determine learning objectives for each student. 

1. Standardized and essential learner outcome results guide planning. 
2. Transition data from prior grades is included in planning. 
3. Unit/lesson formative and summative assessments determine next steps. 

 
C. Students are appropriately involved in teacher planning decisions. 

1. Student needs and interests are utilized in planning work that is challenging and 
differentiated. 

2. Students participate in developmentally appropriate goal setting. 
3. Students understand learning objectives, expected outcomes, assessments and the relevance 

of the content study. 
4. Students are motivated to be actively engaged as a result of involvement in planning. 

 
D. The teacher utilizes effective principles of learning in planning the unit and lessons. 

1. The teacher identifies desired results in terms of student learning. 
2. The teacher identifies unit goals, essential questions, enduring understandings, and key 

knowledge and skills. 
3. The teacher defines evidence of learning, including performance tasks and rubrics.  
4. The teacher provides time and instruction to promote student self-assessment. 
5. The teacher designs instructional strategies and learning experiences needed to achieve the 

unit goal.   
6. The teacher designs activities to motivate students to learn. 
7. The teacher uses appropriate anticipatory set and closure to introduce and summarize daily 

and unit learning. 
8. The teacher provides opportunities for students to rehearse, rethink, revise and refine their 

work based upon timely feedback. 
9. The teacher provides opportunities for students to evaluate their work and set future goals. 
10. The teacher designs flexible lessons to meet the interests and learning styles of each student. 

 
 
 
 

165



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   34 

Domain 2:  Instruction 
 

How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 

 

II. Students achieve desired learning results from effective participation in well-designed and 
executed units and lessons. 

A. Students understand daily, weekly and unit learning goals and objectives. 
1. The teacher designs and shares daily learning objectives for student reference. 
2. Instructional strategies and learning activities correlate to the achievement of the stated 

objective. 
3. Students understand the relevance and expectations inherent in achieving objectives. 

 
B. Students are “hooked into learning” by appropriate anticipatory sets and effective motivational 

strategies. 
1. The teacher leads students to review past learning as a connection to current lessons. 
2. The teacher uses the appropriate level of concern and feeling tone to encourage students to 

participate in the lesson. 
3. The teacher plans activities to generate student interest in the learning. 
4. The teacher provides knowledge of results of learning to guide student efforts. 
5. The teacher designs lessons to motivate students intrinsically and extrinsically as needed. 

 
C. Students are actively engaged during the full instructional period. 

1. The teacher designs the start of each class as prime time for learning. 
2. The teacher uses sponge activities, anticipatory sets and shared objectives to focus students. 

 
D. Students learn as a result of effective teacher input and modeling. 

1. The teacher selects and organizes basic information so students have a foundation of 
concepts and generalizations on which to increase understanding. 

2. The teacher organizes instruction so students understand and see the relationship of the parts 
to the whole. 

3. The teacher uses modeling to help students understand. 
4. The teacher uses visuals and/or technology to enhance learning. 
5. The teacher communicates clearly using precise language and acceptable oral expression. 
 

E. Student thinking is facilitated by teacher questioning techniques. 
1. Teacher uses questions that are open-ended. 
2. Teacher uses varying levels of questioning, inquiry, or reflection that range from concrete 

to abstract. 
3. Teacher uses questions that require both lower order and higher order thinking skills 
4. Teacher uses wait time appropriately. 
5. Teacher reinforces, dignifies, and builds on student responses. 
6. Teacher clarifies or rephrases questions and responses when necessary. 
 

F. Students are actively engaged in their own learning. 
1. Students ask relevant questions. 
2. Students actively listen. 
3. Students exchange and build on one another’s ideas. 
4. Students initiate exploration of ideas. 

166



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   35 

G. Preferred student learning styles and effective pedagogy are integral components of instruction. 
1. The teacher uses effective instructional strategies, including the following (from Marzano’s 

work):  
a. Comparing and contrasting 
b. Summarizing and note taking 
c. Reinforcing efforts and providing recognition 
d. Designing appropriate homework and practice 
e. Providing and encouraging non-linguistic representations of key points 
f. Cooperative learning 
g. Setting goals and providing feedback 
h. Generating and testing hypotheses 
i. Using cues, questions and advance organizers. 

 
H. Student success results from ongoing checking for understanding and guided practice that 

incorporate planning, instruction and assessment in a continuous learning loop.    
1. Pre-assessments indicate knowledge transfer from past learning by each student. 
2. Students have opportunity to demonstrate knowledge as teachers check for understanding     

during instruction. 
3. Instruction is monitored and adjusted continually based on student demonstrations of 

knowledge and understanding. 
 

I. High-quality practice tasks for students are motivating so that learning is engaging and 
meaningful. 
1. Students are actively engaged in meaningful guided practice. 
2. Varied types of responses allow students to demonstrate understanding after initial teacher-

guided practice. 
3. Guided practice is short in duration and includes smaller chunks of content. 
4. Students exert intense effort in their intent to learn.   
5. Students receive immediate formative feedback. 
6. As practice progresses, teachers include students as models. 
7. Students are guided to effective independent practice. 
8. Type and amount of practice is differentiated for each student. 

a. Initial independent practice is formative in nature. 
b. Independent practice is engaging and challenging. 

9. Students receive timely formative feedback from the teacher. 
 

J. Students are given opportunities to use technology as a tool in learning. 
1. The teacher uses technology that is appropriate to the task or instruction. 
2. Students have sufficient access to and training in appropriate technology. 

 
III. Students are given many opportunities to learn the prescribed curriculum of the Millard 

Education Program. 

A. Intervention for remediation is immediate and ongoing. 
 

B. Opportunities for differentiated activities to challenge and interest each student are provided     
to achieve optimum learning. 

 
 
 

167



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   36 

IV.   Students develop the capacity to understand and apply knowledge in meaningful ways. 

A. Students are helped to link new learning to past learning so that transfer will occur. 
1. New learning is “hooked” to past learning. 
2. Critical attributes of the content to be learned are identified. 
3. Students learn to “tie it all together” as they combine past and new knowledge. 
4. Students learn to apply knowledge to new situations. 

 
B. Students acquire skills to allow them to function productively and independently of direct 

teacher supervision. 
1. Differentiated opportunities for learning exist. 
2. The class environment is designed for student independence. 

 
 

Domain 3:  Assessment 
 

How do we know students learn it? 
 

 

V. Student progress is continually monitored, and teaching is adjusted to optimize individual 
learning.   

A. Effective assessment practices allow students to demonstrate learning and allow teachers to 
diagnose difficulties. 

 
B. Pre-assessment data is used to set goals and objectives. 
 
C. Assessment data during instruction is used to monitor understanding and adjust instruction. 
 
D. Technology resources support assessment of student learning. 

 
VI. Students who are not meeting individual learning goals are supported by proactive 

intervention. 

A. Effective intervention plans are designed according to district guidelines. 
1. The intervention focuses on the students’ individual learning needs. 
2. A pyramid of interventions provides increasing amounts of support. 
 

B. Students, parents, teachers and administrators implement an effective intervention plan. 
1. Educational professionals work collaboratively to achieve results. 
2. The teacher and other educational professionals provide flexible time for the student to 

achieve results. 
3. The intervention focuses on problem solving. 
4. The intervention fosters student responsibility, accountability, and independence. 

 
C. Intervention plans are monitored to assure their effectiveness. 

 
 
 
 

168



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   37 

VII.  Student grades reflect evidence of learning. 

A. Grades are fair, consistent, timely and clearly reported to students and parents. 
1. Reports differentiate between the formative and summative assessment categories. 
2. Students have assessment choices. 
3. Students have ample opportunity to demonstrate achievement. 
4. Students are accountable for their work. 
5. Teachers post grades in a timely and accurate manner. 
6. Teachers update reports as students improve achievement. 
7. Students have several opportunities (method and number) to demonstrate mastery. 
8. The teacher provides quality assessments. 
9. The teacher accurately records evidence of student need and achievement.  

 
B. Grading procedures of teachers are based on student achievement of performance standards. 

1. Grades relate directly to identified learning goals. 
2. Performance standards are used to determine grades.   
 

C. Student involvement in grading includes understanding of grade determination and responsible 
communication with teachers and parents regarding progress. 
1. Feedback is given separately for formative assessments. 
2. Grades relate directly to individual student achievement through summative assessments. 

 
 

Domain 4:  Learning Environment 
 

How will students learn it?  What happens if students do not learn it or already know it? 
 

 
VIII.  Students are engaged in a positive, productive environment established by the teacher. 

A. A supportive culture for successful learning is evident.  
1. Students have ongoing feedback to know how they are progressing. 
2. Teacher takes personal interest in and knows student achievement and learning styles. 
3. Students are assisted in self responsibility and self monitoring. 
4. Teacher-student relationship is appropriate. 

 
B. Students know and follow the procedures for the class. 

1. Beginning of day and period procedures are routine and logical. 
2. Procedures for transitions focus student attention and minimize interruptions. 
3. Learning materials, support equipment and technology are used efficiently. 
4. Effective procedures are used to present information, guide group work, and facilitate 

independent practice and teacher-led activities. 
5. Students are involved in the establishment of rules and procedures. 

 
C. Physical space is safe and organized for learning. 

1. Safety procedures are defined and visible for student reference. 
2. The learning environment is organized to facilitate learning. 
3. Time on learning is maximized as a result of good organization of the learning environment. 

 
 

169



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   38 

D. Students and teachers share a mutual rapport and respect. 
1. An appropriate level of teacher control is in place. 
2. Students feel the teacher knows and takes personal interest in them. 
3. The tone between teacher and student is pleasant and appropriate. 
4. The teacher and students celebrate success. 
5. Students participate actively in the learning activities. 
6. The teacher designs activities to develop appropriate level of concern.  

a. The teacher is highly visible to all students in the setting. 
b. The teacher uses proximity to motivate students. 
c. Questioning techniques encourage all students to participate. 
d. The teacher demonstrates the appropriate use of humor. 
e. The teacher demonstrates caring for each individual. 

 
IX. Student behavior expectations that comply with Millard policy are clearly taught and 

effectively implemented. 

A.  Students and teacher establish behavior guidelines appropriate for the developmental level of 
student and classroom setting. 
1.  Appropriate limits for unacceptable behavior and resulting consequences are established and 

followed. 
2. Acceptable behavior is acknowledged and reinforced. 

 
B.  Students understand and follow established behavior guidelines. 

1. Bullying or exclusion is not tolerated. 
2. Teacher anticipates problems and reacts immediately. 
3. Effective procedures for record keeping are followed. 

 
X. Students are expected to meet challenging and differentiated learning goals. 

A.  Goals are set at least annually. 
 

B.  Students understand and are actively involved in their personal progress.   
1. Assessment reports provide appropriate information to support the student. 
2. Student/parent/teacher conferences and communications focus on individual student learning 

and achievement. 
3. Students are involved in self reflection about their learning. 
4. Learning goals are reviewed and revised as appropriate. 
 

C.  Goals push students toward continued growth. 
 
 
 

170



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   39 

 

Domain 5:  Professional Responsibilities 
 
 

 
XI. Teaching professionals initiate meaningful professional growth and contribute to school and 

district improvement. 

A.   Teaching professionals pursue professional development to improve instruction. 
1. Teaching professionals apply professional development growth experiences to improve 

content knowledge and pedagogical skill. 
2. Teaching professionals review student data, critically examine their teaching, and collaborate 

with colleagues to increase student achievement. 
3. Teaching professionals systematically reflect upon their own teaching practice and learn 

from experience. 
 

B.  Teaching professionals assume responsibility for school and district improvement. 
1. Teaching professionals work cooperatively to identify areas where school and district 

programs need to be strengthened. 
2. Teaching professionals participate in the implementation of improvement plans. 

 
XII.  Teaching professionals perform school-related responsibilities. 

A.   Teaching professionals comply with rules and regulations to provide a safe and orderly school 
environment. 
1. Teaching professionals carry out school related duties by adhering to established laws, 

policies, rules, and regulations. 
2. Teaching professionals adhere to the Professional Code of Ethics (Board Policy 4155). 

 
B.  Teaching professionals contribute to a positive school climate. 

1. Teaching professionals foster healthy relationships with others. 
2. Teaching professionals demonstrate enthusiasm for their profession and express concerns in 

a constructive manner. 
3. Teaching professionals are involved in school activities to enrich the school learning 

environment. 
 

C.  Teaching professionals initiate parental involvement and support. 
1. Teaching professionals clearly communicate the objectives and expectations of the course 

and/or grade level to students and parents to engage families in the instructional program. 
2. Teaching professionals accurately maintain student records and effectively communicate 

student progress in a variety of methods to students and parents. 
 

D.  Teaching professionals use a variety of educational tools, including technology, to enhance 
professional practice. 
1. Teaching professionals apply technology to increase productivity. 
2. Teaching professionals continually evaluate professional practice regarding the use of 

technology in support of student learning. 
3. Teaching professionals model an understanding of the social, ethical, legal, and human 

issues surrounding the use of technology. 

171



 

 

 
 

Select Staff Evaluation 
 

Counselors 
Social Workers 

School Psychologists 
Special Education Itinerant Staff 

Information/Technology Specialists 

 
 
 

172



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   40 

Select Staff Evaluation Phases 
Counselors, Social Workers, School Psychologists,  

Special Education Itinerant Staff & Information/Technology Specialists 
 

All probationary select staff who have been employed with Millard three years or fewer will be in the Appraisal 
Phase. Some select staff members in permanent certificated status will participate in the Appraisal Phase; in-district 
transfers, new teaching assignments within the school, those not meeting district practices for the specified position, 
or those assigned at administrative discretion. 

Appraisal Phase 

 
1. By the end of September, evaluators will review the evaluation procedures with staff members.  
       (Policy 4160.1) 
 
2. Each staff member on the Appraisal Phase will have three classroom/meeting observations. The evaluator 

will record the dates on the Appraisal Report. 
 
3. Two of the three observations should be full instructional periods/meetings. One full observation should be 

completed prior to winter break. The other full observation should be completed between winter break and 
spring break.  All announced observations require a Pre-observation Form completed by the teacher and 
submitted to the evaluator prior to the observation.   

 
4. All three observations require a Post-observation Form completed by the staff member following the 

observation.  
 

5. After each observation, a Post-observation Conference will take place between the staff member and 
evaluator. The staff member should bring the completed Post-observation Form. As a result of the dialogue 
during the conference, the evaluator will finalize the Classroom/Meeting Observation Form. (For school 
psychologists, the building administrator will conduct the Classroom/Meeting Observations for 
psychologists and share information with the Director of Special Education.) 

 
6. By May 1, a Spring Conference will take place with the staff member and evaluator. Prior to the Spring 

Conference, the staff member will complete the assigned sections of the Appraisal Report. As a result of 
the dialogue during the conference, the evaluator will finalize the Appraisal Report. (For school 
psychologists, the Director of Special Education will conduct the Spring Conference.) 

 
7. Throughout the year, the evaluator will conduct several walk-through observations focusing on the 

practices for the specified position. The evaluator will record the dates on the Appraisal Report. (For school 
psychologists, the building administrator will conduct the walk-through observations and share information 
with the Director of Special Education.) 

 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all select staff (Policy 4160.1) 
Appraisal Phase Time Line for Evaluators 

   
By Winter Break ~ Conduct two classroom/meeting observations followed by the Post-observation  
     Conference - one of these two observations should be for the full instructional  
      period/meeting 
  ~ Complete several walk-through observations  
 
By Spring Break ~ Conduct the third classroom/meeting observation followed by the Post-observation  
                                       Conference – this observation should be for the full instructional period/meeting 
  ~ Complete several walk-through observations  
    
By May 1  ~ Complete the Appraisal Report and conduct the Spring Conference 

 

173



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   41 

 Select Staff Evaluation Phases 
Counselors, Social Workers, School Psychologists,  

Special Education Itinerant Staff & Information/Technology Specialists 
 
 

All select staff members, 4 or more years with MPS, will be evaluated annually. However, formal 
classroom/meeting observations are optional. Some select staff members in permanent certificated status will 
participate in the Appraisal Phase; in-district transfers, new teaching assignment within the school, those not 
meeting district practices for the specified position, or those assigned at administrative discretion. 

Continuous Growth Phase  

 
1. By the end of September, evaluators will review the evaluation procedures with staff members.  
 (Policy 4160.1)  

 
2. By the end of September, a Fall Conference will take place with the staff member and evaluator to establish 

and discuss the staff member’s continuous growth goal and plan of action. This goal should focus on 
student achievement/progress. The staff member will complete the assigned sections on the Continuous 
Growth Form prior to or during the Fall Conference. (For school psychologists, the Director of Special 
Education will conduct the Fall Conference.) 

 
3. Between December and February, the evaluator will communicate a progress check with the staff members 

about their progress toward their continuous growth goal. This progress check may be via an e-mail or a 
face-to-face meeting. 
 

4. Between February and April, a Spring Conference will take place with the staff member and evaluator to 
discuss the staff member’s progress toward the continuous growth goal. The evaluator will bring the 
Continuous Growth Report. The staff member will bring the completed Continuous Growth Reflection 
Form, in addition to evidence of progress toward the goal and professional growth. Evidence of progress 
can be shared in a variety of ways. (For school psychologists, the Director of Special Education will 
conduct the Spring Conference.) Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• Examples of student work  
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s) or meeting (s) 
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development sessions. 

 
5. Throughout the year, the evaluator will conduct several walk-through observations focusing on the 

practices for the specified position. The evaluator will record the dates on the Appraisal Report. (For school 
psychologists, the building administrator will conduct the walk-through observations and share information 
with the Director of Special Education.) 

 
 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all select staff (Policy 4160.1) 
Continuous Growth Phase Time Line for Evaluators 

August-September ~ Fall Conference 

By Winter Break ~ Complete several walk-through observations  

December-February ~ Progress Check 

By Spring Break ~ Complete several walk-through observations 

February-April ~ Complete the Continuous Growth Report and Spring Conference 

174



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   42 

Appraisal Phase 
Pre-observation Form for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date and Time ______________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
Complete the following questions that may be applicable to your lesson/meeting then submit to your 
evaluator prior to the observation. 
 
1.  Which of the practices for your position will be addressed? 
 
 
 
 
 
2.  What will the student/parent/teacher know and be able to do during and/or following the 

lesson/meeting? 
 
 
 
 
 
3.  How will student/parent/teacher be engaged in the objective for the lesson/meeting?   
 
 
 
 
 
4.  Do you anticipate the student/parent/teacher having difficulties or concerns with the interaction?  If so, 

what difficulties or concerns?  How will you address these difficulties or concerns? 
 
 
 
 
 
5. What follow-up and/or resources will you provide to the student/parent/teacher for further 

implementation/instruction? 
 
 
 
 
 
6.  On what specifics (topics/behaviors/processes/techniques) do you want the evaluator to note and 

provide feedback? 
 

175



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   43 

Appraisal Phase 
Post-observation Reflection Form for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date and Time ______________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The purpose of this form is to help you reflect on the lesson/meeting and main objective/goal. Complete 
this form prior to the post-observation conference with your evaluator. Bring two copies to the post-
observation conference. 
 
 
1.  Briefly describe the lesson/meeting and how it was tied to the practices for your position. List the 
     positive aspects of the lesson/meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.  Did the student/parent/teacher become engaged in the lesson/meeting? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.  What indicators did you have that the student/parent/teacher understood what to do during the 
     lesson/meeting? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

176



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   44 

 
4.  What feedback did you receive from student/parent/teacher indicating they achieved 
     understanding and the goal(s)/objective(s) were met for this lesson/meeting? 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  Did the student/parent/teacher have difficulties or concerns with the lesson/meeting?  If so, what  
     difficulties or concerns?  How were the difficulties or concerns addressed? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.  If you had the opportunity to do this lesson/meeting again with the same student/parent/teacher,  
     what would you do differently? 
 
 
 
 
 

 

177



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   45 

Appraisal Phase 
Classroom/Meeting Observation Form for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Observation Date _______________________________ Time In ____________Time Out ___________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
1. Evaluator’s comments (reflective questions, recommendations, and/or commendations) 
    on the observation with respect to the practices for the specified position  and overall work performance  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.  Deficiencies noted in observation and/or overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. The observation was for (check one)        _____ an entire instructional period. 
       
           _____ a partial instructional period. 
 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position                             Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Staff Member’s Signature                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

178



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   46 

Appraisal Phase 
Appraisal Report for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Spring Conference Date _________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The staff member will complete numbers1-3 prior to the Spring Conference.  The evaluator will complete  
numbers 4-9 based on the dialogue from the Spring Conference. 
 
1. Staff member’s reflection of overall performance with respect to the practices for the specified  
    position.   
 
     What are your professional strengths? 
 
 
 
 
 Where have you seen growth this year? 
 
 
 
 
 What are your areas of focus for next year? 
 
 
 
 
 Evaluator Comments 
 
 
2. New Staff Induction Program 
 
 _____ N.A. - If you are not involved in the New Staff Induction Program, skip question two. 
 _____ Year 1 – Mentoring Relationships  
 _____ Year 2 - Peer Coaching Partnerships   
 _____ Year 3 - Extended Professional Experiences 
 
 Discuss your experience in the New Staff Induction Program and the additional support you need. 
 
 
 
 
      Evaluator Comments (Optional) 
 
 
 

179



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   47 

3. Work Related To Professional Responsibilities 
 
     List professional growth, graduate classes, and workshops/conferences you have attended this school   
     year. 
 
 
 

 
 List workshops/in-services you have presented this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 List building/district responsibilities you have participated in this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions,  
     recommendations, and/or commendations) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

180



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   48 

 
6. Next Year’s Phase  
 
 ___ Appraisal Phase (continued)     ___ Continuous Growth Phase     ___ Intensive Assistance 
  Provide a rationale statement if Appraisal Phase or Intensive Assistance is checked. 
 
 
7. Observations Dates   
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. Walk-through Observations Dates   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9. Recommended for  
 
 ___re-election          ___conditional re-election          ___dismissal 

 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position                             Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Staff Member’s Signature                              Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not
 

 concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

181



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   49 

Continuous Growth Phase 
Continuous Growth Report for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Date ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The staff member will complete numbers 1-3 prior to or during the Fall Conference. The evaluator will 
complete numbers 4-12 throughout the year. 
 
1. Continuous Growth Goal 
 The S.M.A.R.T. goal should be focused on student achievement/progress. Staff members are  
 encouraged to revise or add to the goal throughout the year as needed.  
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
2. Action steps and timeline to meet the steps: 
 

 
Action Steps Timeline 

  

 
 
 
3. Evaluation Criteria: How will you know if you met your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

182



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   50 

4. Fall Conference Date _______________ 
 
5. Continuous Growth Goal Agreement Date _______________ 
  
6. Continuous Growth Goal Revision/Addition Date_______________ 
 
7. Continuous Growth Goal Progress Check Date _______________ 
 
8. Walk-through Observation Dates 
 
 
 
9. Spring Conference and Review of Continuous Growth Reflection Form Date _______________ 
 Evidence of progress can be shared in a variety of ways.  Circle the examples that were 
 discussed. Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• Examples of student work 
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s) or meeting (s) 
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development 

sessions 
• Other ______________________________________________ 

 
10. Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions,  
       recommendations, and/or commendations) 
 
 
11. Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
12. Next Year’s Phase 
 
___ Continuous Growth Phase (continued)          ___ Appraisal Phase          ___ Intensive Assistance 
Provide a rationale statement if Appraisal Phase or Intensive Assistance is checked. 
   
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Staff Member’s Signature                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations.      
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

183



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   51 

Continuous Growth Phase 
Continuous Growth Reflection Form for Select Staff 

 
Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

Date ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Grade(s) _____ Subject ______________________ School _____________________________________ 
 
The teacher will bring this completed form prior to the Spring Conference, in addition to evidence of 
progress toward the goal and professional growth. Evidence of progress can be shared in a variety of 
ways.  Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• Examples of student work 
• Examples of data from common formative assessments 
• Evidence of peer observations  
• Examples of student and/or parent feedback  
• Analysis of videotaped lesson(s) or meeting (s) 
• Evidence of learning application from workshops, conferences, or staff development 

sessions 
• Other ______________________________________________ 

 
1. Continuous Growth Goal 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. What have you accomplished toward your goal?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. What existing data supports your progress toward your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

184



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   52 

4. How did your work toward your goal affect student achievement/progress?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. What did you learn from your work toward your goal thus far? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Is there any need to modify or adjust your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. What are your next steps? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. List professional growth, graduate classes, and workshops/conferences you have attended this school  
Work Related To Professional Responsibilities  

    year. 
 
 
 
 
 
9. List workshops/in-services you have presented this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 
10. List building/district responsibilities you have participated in this school year. 

185



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Practices for 
Select Staff 

 
 
 
 
 

186



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   53 

Practices That Promote Successful School Counseling 
 
 
Standard 1:  The professional school counselor implements the Guidance Curriculum Component 
through the use of effective instructional skills and the careful planning of structured group sessions for all 
students. 
 

A. The professional school counselor teaches guidance units effectively. 
 
B. The professional school counselor encourages staff involvement to insure the effective  
 implementation of the guidance curriculum. 

 
 
Standard 2:  The professional school counselor implements the Individual Planning Component by 
guiding individuals and groups of students and their parents through the development of educational and 
career plans. 
 

A. The professional school counselor, in collaboration with parents, helps students establish goals   
 and develop and use planning skills. 
 
B. The professional school counselor demonstrates accurate and appropriate interpretation of 
 assessment behavioral data and the presentation of relevant, unbiased information. 

 
 
Standard 3:  The professional school counselor implements the Responsive Services Component 
through the effective use of individual and small group counseling, consultation, and referral skills. 
 

A. The professional school counselor counsels individual students and small groups of students 
 with identified needs/concerns. 

 
B.  The professional school counselor consults effectively with parents, teachers, administrators and 
 other relevant individuals. 

 
C.  The professional school counselor implements an effective referral process with parents, 
 administrators, teachers, and other school personnel. 

 
 
Standard 4:  The professional school counselor implements the System Support Component through 
effective guidance program management and support for other educational programs. 
 

A. The professional school counselor provides a comprehensive and balanced guidance program 
 by analyzing the building and district data to address building needs. 

 
B.  The professional school counselor provides support for other programs. 

 
 
 
 
 

187



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   54 

Standard 5:  The professional school counselor uses professional communication and interaction with 
the school community.   
 

A.  The professional school counselor demonstrates positive interpersonal relations with students. 
 
B. The professional school counselor demonstrates positive interpersonal relations with education 
 staff. 

 
C.  The professional school counselor demonstrates positive interpersonal relations with 
 parents/patrons. 

 
 

Standard 6:  The professional school counselor fulfills professional responsibilities. 
 

A.  The professional school counselor demonstrates a commitment to ongoing professional growth. 
 

B.  The professional school counselor possesses professional and responsible work habits.  
  

C.  The professional school counselor follows the profession’s ethical and legal standards and 
 guidelines as well as cultural diversity and inclusivity in school policy and interpersonal 
 relationships. 

 
 
Reference the following table for alignment of counseling functions recommended by the American School 
Counselor Association. 
 

Delivery System 
Component 

Elem. School 
% of Time 

Middle School 
% of Time 

High School  
% of Time 

Guidance Curriculum 35% - 45% 25% - 35% 15% - 25% 
Individual Student 
Planning 

5% - 10% 15% - 25% 25% - 35% 

Responsive Services 30% - 40% 30% - 40% 25% - 35% 
System Support 10% - 15% 10% - 15% 15% - 20% 

 

188



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   55 

Practices That Promote Successful School Social Work 
 
 
Standard 1:  The school social worker demonstrates knowledge and understanding basic to the social 
work profession and school social work.   
 

A. Demonstrates an understanding of human behavior in the social environment and is skilled in 
 implementing various practice modalities to empower disadvantaged and oppressed populations.   
 
B. Demonstrates knowledge and understanding basic to the social work profession.  
 
C. Organizes time, energies and workloads to fulfill responsibilities. 
 
D. Maintains adequate safeguards for the privacy and confidentiality of information. 

 
 
Standard 2:  The school social worker demonstrates an understanding of the backgrounds and broad range 
of experiences that shape students’ approaches to learning. 
 

A. Demonstrates knowledge about child development and biological factors that affect students’ 
 ability to function effectively in school.   
 
B.  Demonstrates knowledge of the influences of socioeconomic status, gender, culture, disability, 
 and sexual orientation on educational opportunities for students. 

 
 
Standard 3:  The school social worker demonstrates knowledge and understanding of the organization and 
structure of the school district.  
 

A. Demonstrates knowledge and understanding of the local school district.  
 
B. Demonstrates knowledge and general understanding about approaches to teaching and learning.   

 
 
Standard 4:  The school social worker demonstrates knowledge and understanding of the reciprocal 
influences of home, school, and community. 
 

A.   Demonstrates knowledge and understanding about how family dynamics, health, wellness,  
      mental health, social welfare policies, programs, and resources in the community impact  
      student’s success in the school environment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

189



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   56 

Standard 5:  The school social worker demonstrates skills in systematic assessment and investigation. 
 

A. Gathers information using multiple methods and sources to assess the needs, characteristics 
 and interactions of students, families, school district personnel individuals, and groups in the 
 neighborhood and community. 

 
B. Collects information to document and assess aspects of the biological, medical, psychological, 
 cultural, sociological, emotional, legal, and environmental factors that affect students’ learning. 

 
Standard 6:  The school social worker selects and applies a variety of prevention and intervention 
methods to enhance students’ educational experiences. 
 

A.  Demonstrates skills to assess problems and determine whether interventions should occur at the  
      primary, secondary or tertiary level.  

 
Standard 7: The school social worker develops consultative and collaborative relationships with 
colleagues, parents, and community resources to support student learning and well being. 

 
A.  Works effectively with individuals and groups who have diverse interests, but whose common  
      purpose is to develop programs or systems of care that support and enhance the health, social,  
      and  emotional well being and safety of students.   
 

Standard 8: The school social worker promotes collaboration with and among human service agencies and 
facilitates student and family access to these services. 
 

A. Supports the development and implementation of comprehensive school-based and school-
 linked programs that promote student health and mental health.   
 
B.  Coordinates community resources that support students’ success.    

 
Standard 9: The school social worker assumes responsibility for continued professional development in 
accordance with state requirements and school district policy. 
 

A. Knowledgeable of reforms in education and best practice models in the social work profession. 
 
B. Assists in the ongoing development of school social work. 

 
C.  Provides field instruction through the supervision of school social work interns. 

 
Standard 10: The school social worker demonstrates commitment to the values and ethics of the social 
work profession. 
 

A.  Is informed about the National Association of Social Workers (NASW) Code of Ethics. 
 
B.  Adheres to the NASW Code of Ethics. 

 

190



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   57 

Practices That Promote Successful School Psychologists 
 
Standard 1:  Personal qualities 

A. Flexibility:  Adjusts to sudden changes in a situation with a minimum loss of efficiency.  
 
B. Dependability:  Follows through with the service or referrals necessary to complete a task.  

 
C. Sincerity:  Exhibits a genuine interest in the experiences and plans of the clients and staff. 

         
D. Judgment:  Assesses situations and makes sound decisions for a future course of activities.  
 
E. Resourcefulness:  Adapts with effectiveness and purpose to situations. Experiments with 

techniques and materials that are in harmony with school policy.   
       

F. Effective time management:  Prioritizes time to meet the needs of situations and is efficient and 
effective in managing time in performing school psychology functions.   
     

G. Rapport with professional personnel:  Has ability to develop staff relations, which will promote 
sound school psychology practices and implement programs effectively.   

 
Standard 2:  Consults with school administrators  

A. Helps develop appropriate learning objectives for children. 
 

B. Assists in the planning of developmental and remedial programs for pupils in regular and 
special school programs.  

 
C. Helps establish time priorities for the delivery of school psychological services within each 

building.  
 
D. Assists in improving learning and in facilitating better conditions within the school.  

 
Standard 3: Consults with professional staff  

A. Helps in development and implementation of classroom methods and procedures designed to 
facilitate pupil learning.  

 
B. Helps in development and implementation of techniques for appropriate remediation and 

management of students with learning and behavior disorders.  
 

C. Communicates the results of psychological assessments in a way that is meaningful to the 
professional staff and will be of maximum help to the pupil.    
  

Standard 4:  Consults with parents  
A. Assists in understanding the learning and adjustment processes of their children.  

 
B. Interprets results of psychological assessments.      

 
C. Recommends, when appropriate, behavior management programs.  

 
D. Suggests methods to directly assist their children educationally.  

191



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   58 

Standard 5:  Demonstrates knowledge of the field  
(Including the administration and interpretation of all psychological measures when the assessment of 
individual learning and adjustment is indicated.)  

 
A. Demonstrates competence in administration and interpretation of psychological measures used 

for evaluating, re-evaluating, and assisting in program planning for children in the school 
district.  

 
B. Demonstrates understanding of criteria for verification of handicapping conditions of pre-school 

and school age children with educational, mental, physical, and/or emotional handicaps.  
 
C. Determines the eligibility of children for early entrance into kindergarten in accordance with 

Nebraska state criteria and school board policy.  
 

D. Assists in the identification of planning for academically gifted and talented students.  
 
E. Demonstrates knowledge of psychological theory as applied to school psychology and keeping 

informed on developments in school psychology theory and practices.  
 
Standard 6:  Functions effectively as a member of the multidisciplinary team 

A. Arrives promptly at multidisciplinary team meeting.  
 
B. Is prepared for each team meeting.  
 
C. Demonstrates effective communication skills in interactions with other team members.  
 
D. Promotes good staff relations.  
   
E. Prepares written reports in a timely manner.  
 

Standard 7:  Effectively carries out departmental functions within assigned time limits 
 
Standard 8:  Conducts research appropriate to school district goals  
 
Standard 9: Conducts inservice education for professional staff concerning psychological  

         concepts applicable to the school setting 
 
Standard 10:  Consults with professional personnel within the community, acts as a liaison  

             between community resources and the school, and makes referrals to appropriate  
 resources within the community 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   59 

Practices That Promote Successful Special Education Itinerant Staff 
 

Standard 1:  Personal Skills 
A. Shows flexibility 
  
B. Models dependability  
  
C. Demonstrates professionalism  
 
D.  Demonstrates appropriate judgment  
  
E. Demonstrates resourcefulness  
 
F. Exhibits a positive, respectful, and cooperative attitude when working with students, parents, 

colleagues, and administrators  
 
G. Expresses and deals with concerns in a constructive manner  
     
H. Communication is clear and uses precise and understandable language and acceptable oral 

expressions  
  

Standard 2:  Effective Time Management 
A. Allocates time appropriate to the situation  
 
B. Establishes routines that ensure work-related time is used appropriately   
    
C. Is available to staff and parents  
  
D. Demonstrates proficiency at managing personal calendar   
  
E. Carries out job responsibilities within assigned time limits  

 
            F.  Observes departmental guidelines and timelines in planning purchases and expending funds  
   
Standard 3:  Knowledge of the Field 

A. Demonstrates a high degree of knowledge, understanding, and skill with respect to the identified 
field of specialization  

 
B. Demonstrates proficiency in using equipment and technology specific to the identified field of 

specialization      
  
C. Keeps abreast of developments within the identified field of specialization  
   

Standard 4:  Relationship with Students 
A. Maintains control and demonstrates self-confidence in working with students   
   
B Establishes rapport through positive verbal and non-verbal exchanges 
      
C. Demonstrates patience, acceptance, empathy, and interest  

193



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   60 

Standard 5:  Collaboration 
A. Consults with parents, teachers, and other school staff regarding ways to facilitate student 

learning  
  
B. Demonstrates effective consultative behaviors 
    
C. Interprets district and departmental policies, procedures, and programs to parents and teachers

  
D. Acts as a resource to parents, teachers, and other staff   
  
E. Conducts in-service sessions for staff and parents to disseminate information and facilitate the 

application of strategies  
  
F. Initiates communication, planning, and other activities that assure effective services to students  
 

Standard 6:  Intervention/Direct Services and Assessment/Evaluation 
A. Identifies appropriate learning objectives and recommends effective intervention strategies for 

individual students 
 
B. Conducts valid assessments within the identified field of specialization in accordance with 

professional standards  
 
C. Analyzes and interprets information to make recommendations regarding the educational needs 

of students  
 
D. Effectively communicates student progress to parents and teachers  
  
E. Functions effectively as a member of Multidisciplinary and IEP Teams  

   
Standard 7:  Professional Responsibilities and Personal Development 

A. Adheres to established laws, policies, rules, and regulations  
  
B. Exhibits a ‘team’ attitude when working with colleagues and administrators 
   
C. Accepts responsibility for and participates in work-related and other professional activities   
 
D. Attends department and district meetings as scheduled   
 
E. Participates in committee activities related to department priorities and concerns or district 

pursuits  
 
F. Manages information related to the school, district, students, and their families so 

confidentiality is maintained and respected 
 
 
 
 
 
 

194



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   61 

Practices That Promote Successful Information/Technology Specialists 
   

Standard 1:  Planning 
A. Works with classroom teacher and administrators to plan integrated information literacy   
      instruction 
B. Seeks input from students and staff when planning collection purchases.  

C. Follows building and district guidelines for purchasing.   

D. Assists teachers in the preview and selection of information materials and tools for classroom  
     instruction.         
 

Standard 2:  Management 
A. Trains, collaborates with, and supervises paraprofessionals assigned to the Information Center. 

B. Maintains a balanced collection of print and electronic resources.  

C. Provides timely and accurate inventories, reports, and information.  

D. Supervises care of equipment and repair procedures.    

E. Manages time efficiently and maintains a flexible schedule in a business-like manner. 

F. Uses effective skills of communication in relating to parents, volunteers, and staff.  

G. Provides leadership in technology integration.     

H. Follows district selection policy, which includes procedures for reconsideration of materials. 

I. Exhibits a pleasant, friendly, and cooperative attitude toward staff and students.  

J. Develops and maintains effective working relationships among school staff.   
 

Standard 3:  Instruction 
A. Provides systematic instruction in information literacy skills.   

B. Communicates instructional objectives to students.   

C. Shows how present topic is related to topics that have been taught or will be taught.  

D. Relates subject topics to existing student experiences.     

E. Uses responses, questioning techniques, and/or guided practices to involve all students. 

F. Uses signaled responses, questioning techniques, and/or guided practices to involve all students. 

G. Teaches the instructional or learning objectives through a variety of methods.   

H. Gives directions that are clearly stated and related to the learning objectives.   

I. Demonstrates the desired skill or process .    

J. Checks to determine if students are progressing toward stated objectives.  

K. Uses principles of differentiation in instruction.     

L. Summarizes or identifies a context about what has been taught.    

M. Clearly defines expected student behavior.      

N. Treats students with respect and dignity. 

195



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   62 

Standard 4:  Environment 
A.  Establishes and maintains a pleasant, safe, and orderly climate conducive to learning.   

B. Encourages students to develop life-long reading, listening, and thinking skills.   

C. Publicizes programs, services, and materials through newsletters, announcements, and/or web    
   pages. 

 
Standard 5:  Assessment 

A.  Evaluates media program effectiveness.       
  

Standard 6:  Professional Responsibilities 
A.  Supports professional organizations.       

B.  Provides staff development in the area of technology/information integration.   

C.  Serves on building and district committees for curriculum development and implementation. 

D.  Adheres to district, department, and building policies.     
 

Standard 7:  Technology Support  
A.  Provides input to and assists in the implementation of technology at building and district level. 

B.  Assists in the selection of appropriate materials, media, and supplies that support student    

      learning and district curriculum.       

C.  Assists in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of technology staff development at the   

      building level.         

D.  Serves as a liaison between the building, staff community, and technology division.  

E.  Is knowledgeable about copyright, software licensing, and Internet filtering.   

F.  Assists with technology set-ups, inventories, and troubleshoots technical problems.   

G.  Is knowledgeable in the use and backup of the building fileserver.     

H.  Is knowledgeable in the use of the district WAN and Internet.     

I.  Assists in problem-solving appropriate uses of technology in an educational setting.   

J.  Collaborates with staff in the appropriate integration of technology into curriculum, instruction,    

 and assessment to improve teaching and student learning.   

K. Works with site and district planning/advisory teams as requested.     

L. Attends monthly meetings and training sessions as requested.      

M.  Remains current in appropriate technology knowledge.  

196



 

 

 
 

School Nurse Evaluation 

 
 

197



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   63 

School Nurse Evaluation  
 

 
School nurses are evaluated by the building administrator assigned by the Director of Pupil Services.  

 
School nurses in their first year with Millard will be mentored by the MPS Head Nurse. The new school 
nurse will have a buddy in each building he/she works, which is assigned by the building administrator.  

 
1. By the end of September, a Fall Conference will take place with the school nurse and evaluator 

to establish and discuss the school nurse’s growth goal and plan of action. The school nurse will 
complete the assigned sections on the Reflection Form prior to or during the Fall Conference. 
The evaluator will record the goal on the Evaluation Report.  

 
2. Between February and April, a Spring Conference will take place with the school nurse and 

evaluator. Prior to the Spring Conference, the school nurse will complete the assigned sections 
of the Reflection Form. As a result of the dialogue during the conference, the evaluator will 
finalize the Evaluation Report. 

 
3. Throughout the year, the evaluator will conduct several walk-through observations focusing on 

the Practices That Promote Successful School Nursing. The evaluator will record the dates on 
the Evaluation Report. 

 
 

August-September ~ Fall Conference 
School Nurse Evaluation Time Line for Evaluators 

 
By Winter Break ~ Complete several walk-through observations  
 
By Spring Break ~ Complete several walk-through observations  
    
February-April ~ Complete the Evaluation Report and conduct the Spring Conference 

 
 
 

198



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   64 

Reflection Form for School Nurses 
 
School Nurse’s Name ___________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name ______________________________________________________________________ 

School ____________________________________________ Date ______________________________ 

 
The school nurse will complete numbers 1-4 prior to or during the Fall Conference. The school nurse will 
complete numbers 5-12 prior to the Spring Conference. 
 
1. Continuous Growth Goal 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Rationale: Why did you select this goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Action Steps and Timeline  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Evaluation Criteria: How will you know if you met your goal? 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

199



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   65 

The school nurse will complete numbers 5-12 prior to the Spring Conference. 

 
5. What have you accomplished toward your goal?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. What existing information supports that you have met your goal? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. How did your work toward your goal affect student health?   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. What did you learn from your work toward your goal thus far? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9. What are your next steps? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   66 

10. List Continuing Education Units (CEU) you have completed this school year. 
Work Related To Professional Responsibilities  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. List in-services you have presented this school year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. List building/district/community responsibilities you have participated in this school year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

201



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  67 

 

Evaluation Report for School Nurses 
 
School Nurse’s Name_____________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name________________________________________________ 

School_________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator can obtain input from the MPS head nurse on the indicators identified with a *, as appropriate. 

Practices That Promote 
Successful School Nursing 

Indicators 
 

Rating 

I. Personal-Professional  
Preparedness 
 
 
 

A. Reflects professional leadership abilities in mature, self-directed goal-setting, decision-making, and 
action-taking activities.* 
  
B. Provides nursing services and health screenings within the defined limits of school district policies, rules, 
and procedures.* 
 
C. Knows and complies with state school laws, regulations, and recommendations regarding school health 
and nurse services.* 
 
D. Participates in the appropriate number of Continual Educational Units (CEU) activities.* 
 

 1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA   

II. Health Room Management  
 
 
 
 
 
 

A. Creates an emotional and physical environment conducive to the maintenance of a safe, orderly, and 
attractive work area.  
 
B. Anticipates supply and equipment needs appropriate for maintaining a continuous, functional school 
health program.* 
  
C. Develops a program that assures safe, ongoing emergency health care in the absence of the nurse.  

 
D. Initiates planning for appropriate communication with principal and faculty to ensure an ongoing health 
program.  

 
E. Maintains accurate, updated records of health information on all students and makes provisions for the 
timely and accurate management of incoming and outgoing records and reports.* 
 
F. Initiates referrals and follow-up relevant to unmet health needs of students and makes appropriate 
distribution of health information to necessary staff. 
 

  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 

1 = Proficient: The school nurse consistently does this well. 
2 = Progressing: The school nurse usually accomplishes this professional  
       skill well; however, there is a need to continue to improve this area. 
3 = Needs Improvement: There is a need to improve in this area. 
NA = Not Applicable 
 
 

202



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  68 

Practices That Promote 
Successful School Nursing 

Indicators 
 

Rating 

III. Pupil-Nurse Relationships A. Demonstrates an honest, caring attitude that invites student trust.  
 

B. Demonstrates a capacity to see the student as a total person rather than a physical, social, or educational 
problem.  
 
C. Demonstrates consistent behavior in assisting students with management of health problems.  
 
D. Possesses resourcefulness and skill in assisting students with health maintenance needs.  
 
E. Upholds and maintains student and staff confidentiality. 
 

 1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 

IV. Practice Skills And 
Knowledge 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Possesses skills appropriate for meeting school health emergencies.  
A. Health Service 

 
2. Demonstrates full range of knowledge and skills in health appraisal techniques.  
 
3. Allocates appropriate job function to health paraprofessionals / support personnel.*  

 
4. Utilizes appropriate resources within the school and community to promote optimum delivery of health 
care services.  

 
5. Anticipates building-level health maintenance needs and serves as health team leader in school-
community activities for communicable disease control.  
 

1. Demonstrates sensitivity to students’ need to be heard as well as to be helped.  
B. Health Counseling 

 
2. Interprets and utilizes health information with good judgment and professional skill.  

 
3. Assists students, parents, and school faculty in exploring alternate approaches to meeting health care 
needs.  

 
4. Participates in a helping relationships with individuals or families in crisis intervention.  

 
5. Initiates planning for staff-nurse conferences at appropriate intervals to consider the physical, social, and 
emotional health of each child.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
   1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
 
 
 
 

203



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  69 

Practices That Promote 
Successful School Nursing 

Indicators 
 

Rating 

IV. Practice Skills And 
Knowledge Continued 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Utilizes health room service as a vehicle for direct and indirect health teaching.  
C. Health Education 

 
2. Serves as resource person to school faculty and nurse staff in special areas of expertise.  
 
3. Provides creative, individual learning experiences relevant to health information needs to equip students 
to make constructive decisions regarding health behavior. 
 

 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
   
  1      2      3      NA    
 

V. Public Relations 
 
 

A. Assists in establishing and maintaining a positive school-community relationship.  
 
B. Demonstrates a capacity for responding to the public in a positive and constructive manner.  

 
C. Interprets and conducts school health program in a manner that elicits positive support from students, 
parents, school, and community.  

 
D. Recognizes the parent to be an extension of the school health program and invites parent involvement in 
health care planning. 

  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
  
  1      2      3      NA    
 
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 

VI. Health Appearance A. Keeps grooming and personal attire appropriate to professional duties of school nurse practice.  
 

B. Maintains poise and stability in student, parent, and peer relationships.  
 

C. Demonstrates a positive attitude in the performance of duties. 

  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 
  1      2      3      NA    
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

204



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation  70 

Date ________________________________ 

Fall Conference 

Professional Growth Goal _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

School Nurse’s Signature _____________________________  Evaluator’s Signature _____________________________ 

 

 

Walk-through Observation Dates 

 

Date ________________________________ 

Spring Conference 

 

Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions, recommendations, and/or commendations) 
 
 
 

Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 

School Nurse’s Signature _____________________________  Evaluator’s Signature _____________________________ 
  

Recommended for:     ___Re-election          __Conditional Re-election          ___Dismissal 
 
 

___I concur with the analysis and recommendations.     ___I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing

205



 

 

 
 

District Level Leaders 
Evaluation 

206



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   71 

District Level Leaders Evaluation 
 
 
Due to the unique role of each district level leader, the following process has been designed to guide 
supervisors in evaluating these positions. District level leaders and their evaluators will meet 
collaboratively throughout the process in order to best define and meet the needs of those being evaluated. 
 
District Level Leader Positions
These positions defined as certificated staff members who are in district-wide leadership positions while 
serving in non-administrative capacities. These positions include: 

   

• Administrative Interns 
• CADRE Associates 
• Coordinators not assigned as administrators 
• District Department Heads not assigned general classroom responsibilities 
• MEP Facilitators including Curriculum & Instruction, Staff Development and Technology 
• Program Support Specialists 
• Special Education Program Facilitators 
• Interventionists 

 
Purpose
The evaluation process involving district level leaders ensures they are collaborating with district staff to 
provide curriculum and instructional support, staff development, and organized efforts to assist district 
staff in meeting the objectives and mission of the Millard Public Schools.  As with other certificated staff 
members, the process is also designed to foster continuous professional growth.  

  

 

• Connect job descriptions to the operational level with precision and conciseness as to what the job 
responsibilities include and deem essential. 

Mutual Commitments 

• Afford the opportunity to define why leaders do what they do while providing the criteria used to 
measure successful achievement towards their Mutual Commitments. 

• Are discussed and agreed upon by the district level leader and evaluator. 
• Are reviewed once during a conference prior to Winter Break and once again prior to Spring 

Break. 
 

• Provide the opportunity for evaluators to observe the district level leaders facilitating or 
participating in a meeting, staff development sessions, or other related activities connected to their 
leadership positions. 

Observation(s) 

• Prior to the observation, the district level leader will provide an agenda or plan, objective, and/or 
relevant tasks which could be noted during the observation. 

• After the observation, the district level leader self-reflects prior to meeting with the evaluator.  The 
reflection could include: What went well?  What could be done differently?  What are next steps? 
Was progress made toward the intended objective?   

• As a result of the post-conference dialogue, the evaluator will finalize the post-observation form 
and share it with the district level leader. 

• District level leaders will be formally observed twice a year until they have served in their role for 
three years.  Beginning with the fourth year, district level leaders will be formally observed once. 

    

207



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   72 

• Aligns overall performance to Mutual Commitments 
Annual Evaluation Report 

• Provides for self-reflection about performance in relation to Mutual Commitments prior to the 
Annual Evaluation Conference. 

• Evaluators will complete a summary of overall performance with respect to the district level 
leader’s Mutual Commitments, and dates of when the observation(s) and conference(s) were held 
prior to the Annual Evaluation Report Conference.  

 
 
Time Line For Evaluators
August  ~ Review evaluation process with district level leader 

  

  ~ Fall Conference to determine and draft Mutual Commitments 
 
September  ~ Finalize, submit, and/or receive Mutual Commitments 
 
By Winter Break   ~ Conduct first observation and post-conference for those in role three years or less 
  ~ Conference to review progress towards Mutual Commitments 
 
By Spring Break  ~ Conduct second observation and post-conference for those in role three years or  
          less 
  ~ Conduct observation and conference for those in role more than three years 
  ~ Conference to review progress towards Mutual Commitments 
 
May  ~ Complete the Evaluation Report and conduct Evaluation Conference 
 
 

 

208



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   73 

Observation Form for District Level Leaders 
 

Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Position ___________________________________________ Observation Date ____________________ 

Evaluator’s Name _____________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
1. Name of activity observed 
 
 
2. Summary of activity observed 
 
 
 
 
3. Self-reflection:  What went well?  What could be done differently?  What are next steps?  Was 

progress made towards the objective?  
 
 
 
 
 
4.          Evaluator’s summative comments on observation and overall work performance (reflective  
             questions, recommendations, and/or commendations) 
 
 
 
 
5.         Deficiencies noted in observation and/or overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position                             Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Staff Member’s Signature                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations. 
___ I do not
 

 concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

 
 

209



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation   74 

Evaluation Report for District Level Leaders 
 

Staff Member’s Name __________________________________________________________________ 

Position ______________________________________________________________________________ 

Evaluator’s Name _____________________________________________________________________ 

(District Level Leader completes 1-2.  Evaluator completes 3-4.) 
 
 
1. Self-reflection summary of overall performance with respect to Mutual Commitments:  
 
 
 
 
2. Self-reflection with respect to personal goals: Did I accomplish what I expected this year?  What 

are my strengths as a leader?  Where have I seen growth this year?  What are my areas of focus 
for next year?  

 
 
 
3.          Evaluator’s summative comments on overall work performance (reflective questions,  
             recommendations, and/or commendations) 
 
 
 
 
4.         Deficiencies noted in overall work performance with steps for improvement 
 
 
 
Observation Date(s) 
 
Post-observation Conference Date(s) 

 
 
 
________________________________________   ____________________   ____________________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                                                 Position                             Date 
 
 
________________________________________   _______________ 
Staff Member’s Signature                Date 
 
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations. 
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing.

210



 

 

 
 

Additional Resources

211



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    76 

Formulate Learning Objectives 
  
 
                                                                         Learning 

 
 

 
 The Learner Will Demonstrate 
 
 
_____________________________ of ____________________________________________________ 
     (Bloom’s Level of Thinking)                                                   (Skill/Concept) 

 
 
by _____________________________  ___________________________________________________ 

   (Bloom’s Power Word)                          (Output That Demos/Validates the Learning)  
 

 
 

                                                                                         
                                        
             
     Student Behavior That Demonstrates Learning 

 
 
 
Teach to the Objective 
In order to teach to an objective, the teacher needs to formulate the objective so the learning and the 
behavior that demonstrates the learning are congruent. The teacher must then plan relevant actions. 
 
 
Formulating a Learning Objective 
There are two parts to writing an objective; the learning and the behavior that demonstrates the learning. 
 
1. The learning consists of Bloom’s Level of Thinking and the skill or concept that relates to the Millard 
    curriculum.  
 

• Reflect on the question:  What are my students going to learn and at what level of thinking 
are they going to learn it? 

 
2. The student behavior that demonstrates the learning includes a Bloom’s Power Word that reflects the  
    Bloom’s Level of Thinking and a measurable activity that demonstrates learning.  
 

• Reflect on the question:  What will my students do to show their individual learning of the 
skill or concept that was taught? 

 
 

212



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    77 

Descriptions of the Major Categories of Bloom’s Taxonomy 
 
 

Knowledge—the remembering of previous learned material.  This is the lowest level of the cognitive 
domain.  Some terms that are used at this domain are defines, describes, identifies, labels, and states. 
 
 
Comprehension—the ability to grasp the meaning of material.  This is shown by translating material 
from one form to another.  Some terms that are used at this level are:  covert, explain, summarize, and 
generalize. 
 
 
Application—the ability to use learned material in new and concrete situations.  This includes the 
application of such things as rules, methods, and theories.  Some terms used at this level are:  change, 
compute, demonstrate, manipulate, and solve.  
 
 
Analysis—the ability to break down material into its component parts so its organizational structure is 
understood.  This includes identification of parts and relationships between parts.  Some terms used at 
this level are:  diagrams, discriminates, outlines, separates, and selects. 
 
 
Synthesis—the ability to put parts together to form a new whole.  This may involve the production of a 
unique communication, a plan of operations, or a set of abstract relations.  Some terms used at this level 
are:  combines, compiles, composes, creates, and revises. 
 
 
Evaluation—the ability to judge the value of material for a given purpose.  This may be internal criteria 
or external criteria.  Some terms used at this level are: compares, concludes, contrasts, discriminates, and 
explains. 

 

213



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    78 

S.M.A.R.T. Goals 
 

Specific and Strategic 
Measurable 
Attainable 
Results-oriented 
Time-bound 
 
Goals about improving student learning based upon data 
 
1.  Identify an important skill or concept (make this choice based on data from past students – choose 

based on priority for improving student performance) that you will all give a common assessment on 
to measure student learning. 

 
2.  Create a smart goal 

• Specific 
• Measurable 
• Attainable 
• Results-oriented 
• Time-bound 
 

3.  Decide on what evidence you will use to know if goal has been met (specific student    learning).  
You can use a common assessment already created and revise it or make a new common assessment.  
Make sure you have clear criteria that you are all using similarly to define and measure student 
success (rubric). 

 

4. Set a time-line.  Your time line must include goals for the first half of the year and goals for the 
second half of the year or you must write two different smart goals for each half of the year. 

 
Make sure you leave time to collect data, analyze data and then implement revisions based on data. 

 
5. Make a Plan of Action (This is the means – the how by which you are going to get there).  Include 

both prevention (how to help student succeed) and intervention (what to do if student does not 
succeed) steps. 
 

6. Check progress along the way and adjust. 
 
7. Measure progress by collecting and analyzing student performance data.   Follow through on 

interventions for students who did not make goal.    

 
 

 

 

 

214



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    79 

Samples: 

 

All students will earn an 85% or above on the unit 5 assessment. 

 

All students will earn a 90% or better on the equation sections of the Chapter 5 assessment. 

 

All students will complete at least one timed write in the semester that meets all the required criteria 
at a competency level or higher. 

 

 

Suggestions: 

 

Set your goals for all students; but have a plan for students who do not obtain this goal. 

 

DO NOT say: 

80% of students will earn an 85% or above on the unit 5 assessment.   

Instead set the goal for all students to earn the 85% or better. 

 

Obviously we want all students meeting the standard.  All might not, but then we have to have 
intervention steps in place to reteach these students.   

 

Goals include: 

Plan for improving overall student performance 

As well as 

Systematic and timely systems of intervention for those students who do not meet the 
performance standard in expected time line. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

215



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    80 

S.M.A.R.T. Goal Template 

 

 

S.M.A.R.T. GOAL (aimed at improving overall student performance):   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Plan of intervention (reteaching) for students who do not make goal: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Describe type of data being collected, the plan for data analysis and time line: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Describe tentative plan for improving student overall performance (include timeline): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

216



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    81 

Results 

  

 

 Strand 1 Strand 2 Strand 3 Strand 4 Overall 

Semester         

Number of students 

Who did not meet 
strand on first 
attempt 

     

Number of students 
who did not  meet 
strand after  

reteaching 

     

 

Summarize adjustments made to the assessment instrument itself: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summarize adjustments made to intervention plan: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summarize adjustments made to teaching to improve student success: 

 

 

 

 

217



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    82 

Category: Human Resources 
Policy: Code of Ethics        
4155 
 
The Board recognizes, endorses and adopts the Standards of Ethical and Professional Performance as 
established by the Nebraska Department of Education. 
 
Related Rule: 
 

4155.1 

Date of Adoption: October 7, 1974 
 
Date of Revision: August 3, 1992; June 2, 2003 
 
Date of Last Review: January 5, 1998 
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §79−859, 79−866; 92 NAC 27 
 
The Millard Public School District does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national 
origin, gender, marital status, disability, or age in its employment, programs, and activities. 
Questions can be directed to: Superintendent, 5606 S. 147 St., 
Omaha, NE 68137, 402−715−8200. 
Privacy Statement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

218



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    83 

Category: Human Resources 
Policy: Code of Ethics 
Rule: Code of Ethics        
4155.1 
 
Standards of Ethical and Professional Performance 
Preamble 
The Millard Board of Education hereby endorses and communicates to its staff the generally accepted 
minimal standards of professional practices adopted by the Nebraska State Board of Education. 
 
I. Preamble  
 
The educator shall believe in the worth and dignity of human beings. Recognizing the supreme 
importance of the pursuit of truth, the devotion to excellence, and the nurture of democratic citizenship, 
the educator shall regard as essential to these goals the protection of the freedom to learn and to teach 
and the guarantee of equal educational opportunity for all. The educator shall accept the responsibility to 
practice the profession to these ethical standards. 
 
The educator shall recognize the magnitude of the responsibility he or she has accepted in choosing a 
career in education, and engages, individually and collectively with other educators, to judge his or her 
colleagues, and to be judged by them, in accordance with the provisions of this code of ethics. 
 
The standards listed in this section are held to be generally accepted minimal standards for public school 
certificate holders in Nebraska with respect to ethical and professional conduct and are, therefore, 
declared to be the criteria of ethical and professional performance adopted pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 79-866 Neb. Rev. Stat. for holders of public school certificates. 
 
II. Principle I - Commitment as a Professional Educator:  
 
Fundamental to the pursuit of high educational standards is the maintenance of a profession possessed of 
individuals with high skills, intellect, integrity, wisdom, and compassion. The educator shall exhibit 
good moral character, maintain high standards of performance, and promote equality of opportunity. 
 
In fulfillment of the educator's contractual and professional responsibilities, the educator: 

A. Shall not interfere with the exercise of political and citizenship rights and responsibilities of 
students, colleagues, parents, school patrons, or school board members. 

B. Shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, marital status, 
disability, or age. 

C. Shall not use coercive means, or promise or provide special treatment to students, colleagues, 
school patrons, or school board members in order to influence professional decisions. 

D. Shall not make any fraudulent statement or fail to disclose a material fact for which the educator 
is responsible. 

E. Shall not exploit professional relationships with students, colleagues, parents, school patrons, or 
school board members for personal gain or private advantage. 

219



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    84 

F. Shall not sexually harass students, parents or school patrons, employees, or board members. 

G. Shall not have had revoked for cause a teaching certificate, administrative certificate, or any 
certificate enabling a person to engage in any of the activities for which a special services 
counseling certificate is issued in Nebraska. 

H. Shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation in the 
performance of professional duties. 

I. Shall report to the Commissioner and the Millard Public Schools Superintendent any known 
violation of Principle I, number 7; Principle III, number 5; or Principle IV, number 2. 

J. Shall seek no reprisal against any individual who has reported a violation of this code of ethics. 
 
III. Principle II - Commitment to the Student:  
 
Mindful that a profession exists for the purpose of serving the best interests of the client, the educator 
shall practice the profession with genuine interest, concern, and consideration for the student. The 
educator shall work to stimulate the spirit of inquiry, the acquisition of knowledge and understanding, 
and the thoughtful formulation of worthy goals. 
 
In fulfillment of the obligation to the student, the educator: 

A. Shall permit the student to pursue reasonable independent scholastic effort, and shall permit the 
student access to varying points of view. 

B. Shall not deliberately suppress or distort subject matter for which the educator is responsible. 

C. Shall make reasonable effort to protect the student from conditions which interfere with the 
learning process or are harmful to health or safety. 

D. Shall conduct professional educational activities in accordance with sound educational practices 
that are in the best interest of the student. 

E. Shall keep in confidence personally identifiable information that has been obtained in the course 
of professional service, unless disclosure serves professional purposes, or is required by law. 

F. Shall not tutor for remuneration students assigned to his or her classes unless approved by the 
Millard Board of Education. 

G. Shall not discipline students using corporal punishment. 

IV. Principle III - Commitment to the Public:  
 
The magnitude of the responsibility inherent in the education process requires dedication to the 
principles of our democratic heritage. The educator bears particular responsibility for instilling an 
understanding of the confidence in the rule of law, respect for individual freedom, and a responsibility to 
promote respect by the public for the integrity of the profession. 
 
 

220



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    85 

In fulfillment of the obligation to the public, the educator: 

A. Shall not misrepresent an institution with which the educator is affiliated, and shall take added 
precautions to distinguish between the educator's personal and institutional views. 

B. Shall not use institutional privileges for private gain or to promote political candidates, political 
issues, or partisan political activities. 

C. Shall neither offer nor accept gifts or favors that will impair professional judgment. 

D. Shall support the principle of due process and protect the political, citizenship, and natural rights 
of all individuals. 

E. Shall not commit any act of moral turpitude, nor commit any felony under the laws of the United 
States or any state or territory, and shall not have a misdemeanor conviction involving abuse, 
neglect, or sexual misconduct as defined in Sections 003.12 through 003.14 of 92 NAC 21 (an 
offense under the laws of any jurisdiction, which, if committed in Nebraska, would constitute 
one of the following misdemeanors {with the applicable sections for the Revised Statutes of 
Nebraska in parenthesis }): 

1. Assault (third degree) (28-310) 

2. Stalking (28-311.03) 

3. Hazing (28-311.06) 

4. False Imprisonment (28-315) 

5. Sexual Assault (third degree) (28-320) 

6. Abandonment of Spouse or Child (28-705) 

7. Child Abuse (28-707) 

8. Contributing to the Delinquency of a Child (28-709) 

9. Prostitution (28-801) 

10. Keeping a Place of Prostitution (28-804) 

11. Debauching a Minor (28-805) 

12. Public Indecency (28-806) 

13. Sale of Obscene Material to Minor (28-808) 

14. Obscene Motion Picture Show, Admitting Minor (28-809) 

15. Obscene Literature Distribution (28-813) 

16. Sexually Explicit Conduct (28-813.01) 

221



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    86 

17. Resisting Arrest (28-904 (1)(a)), when the conviction involves use of threat or physical 
force or violence against a police officer 

18. Indecency with an Animal (28-1010) 

19. Intimidation by Phone Call (28-1310) 
 
Other convictions related to such crimes including: 

20. Attempt to Commit a Crime (28-201) 

21. Criminal Conspiracy (28-202) 

22. Accessory to a Felony (28-204) 

23. Aiding, Abetting, Procuring, or Causing Another to Commit an Offense (28-206) 
 
Convictions which have been set aside, nullified, expunged, or pardoned shall not be 
considered convictions for purposes of this rule, unless the laws of the jurisdiction of the 
conviction would allow the conviction to be used as the basis for denial of a certificate to 
teach, administer, or provide special services in schools. 
 

F. Shall, with reasonable diligence, attend to the duties of his or her professional position. 
 
V. Principle IV - Commitment to the Profession:  
 
In belief that the quality of the services to the education profession directly influences the nation and its 
citizens, the educator shall exert every effort to raise professional standards, to improve service, to 
promote a climate in which the exercise of professional judgment is encouraged, and to achieve 
conditions which attract persons worthy of the trust to careers in education. The educator shall believe 
that sound professional relationships with colleagues are built upon personal integrity, dignity, and 
mutual respect. 
 
In fulfillment of the obligation to the profession, the educator: 

A. Shall provide upon the request of an aggrieved party, a written statement of specific reasons 
for recommendations that lead to the denial of increments, significant changes in 
employment, or termination of employment. 

B. Shall not misrepresent his or her professional qualifications, nor those of colleagues. 
C. Shall practice the profession only with proper certification, and shall actively oppose the 

practice of the profession by persons known to be unqualified. 
 
VI. Principle V - Commitment to Professional Employment Practices:  
 
The educator shall regard the employment agreement as a pledge to be executed both in spirit and in 
fact. The educator shall believe that sound personnel relationships with governing boards are built upon 
personal integrity, dignity, and mutual respect. 
 
 
 

222



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    87 

In fulfillment of the obligation to professional employment practices, the educator: 

A. Shall apply for, accept, offer, or assign a position or responsibility on the basis of professional 
preparation and legal qualifications. 

B. Shall not knowingly withhold information regarding a position from an applicant or employer, or 
misrepresent an assignment or conditions of employment. 

C. Shall give prompt notice to the employer of any change in availability of service. 

D. Shall conduct professional business through designated procedures, when available, that have 
been approved by the employing agency. 

E. Shall not assign to unqualified personnel, tasks for which an educator is responsible. 

F. Shall permit no commercial or personal exploitation of his or her professional position. 

G. Shall use time on duty and leave time for the purpose for which intended. 

 
Related Policy: 4155  
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §79-859, §79-866; 92 NAC 27, 92 NAC 21  
 
Date of Adoption: October 7, 1974  
 
Date of Revision: August 3, 1992; January 5, 1998; May 3, 2004  
 
Date of Last Review:

Millard Public Schools 
Omaha, NE 

 June 2, 2003  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

223

http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=192�


 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    88 

Category: Human Resources 
Policy: Evaluation         
4160 
  
All personnel shall be continuously evaluated by the appropriate supervisors to encourage improvement 
of the total school program. 
 
The Millard Public School District shall provide procedures for the evaluation of staff: said evaluation 
shall serve as a basis for the improvement of performance and continued employment in the Millard 
School District. The procedures shall provide for a source of information for sound decision-making as 
well as for counseling, for inservice training, and for continual growth of all employees. The procedures 
shall provide not only for the identification and improvement of staff skills and abilities that enhance the 
learning process, but also for the orderly dismissal of those who do not meet the standards of the 
District.  
 
 
Related Rules: 4160.1 , 4160.2  
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat §79-318(5)(h) and §79-828; Title 92  
 
Date of Adoption: January 2, 1979  
 
Date of Revision:
  

 August 3, 1992; December 21, 1998; July 21, 2003; June 1, 2009 

Millard Public Schools 
Omaha, NE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

224

http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=201�
http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=202�


 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    89 

Category: Human Resources 
Policy: Evaluation          
Rule: Evaluation: Certificated Staff       
4160.1 
 

All certificated personnel shall be evaluated in accordance with the District’s written procedures on 
appraisal forms provided by the Human Resources Office as follows: 

I. Probationary certificated employees shall be evaluated at least once each semester in accordance 
with the procedures provided by law. 

II. Permanent certificated employees shall be evaluated at least once every school year. 

The District will obtain approval of its teacher evaluation policies and procedures from the Nebraska 
Department of Education as a requirement to legally operate as an accredited school district in Nebraska 
in accordance with Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 10. In the event the District 
changes its policies or procedures for teacher evaluation, it shall re-submit the revised policies and 
procedures to the Nebraska Department of Education for approval. The policies and procedures 
submitted for the approval of the Nebraska Department of Education shall be in writing, shall be 
approved by the Millard Board of Education, and shall include the following: 

I. A policy containing a statement of the purpose of teacher evaluation in the District. 

II. A teacher evaluation procedure which shall: 

A. Contain specific criteria upon which teachers are to be evaluated. Evaluation instruments 
shall be designed primarily for the improvement of instruction and shall include, at a 
minimum: (1) instructional performance, (2) classroom organization and management, 
(3) professional conduct, and (4) personal conduct. Specific standards for measurement in 
each of these four areas shall be tied to the instructional goals of the District. 

B. Describe the process to be used for evaluation, including the duration and frequency of 
the observations and the formal evaluations for probationary and permanent certificated 
teachers. 

C. Provide for documenting the evaluation. 

D. Communicate results of the evaluation annually, in writing, to those being evaluated. 

E. Provide for written communication (commonly referred to as a growth plan) to the 
evaluated teacher on all noted deficiencies, specific means for the correction of the noted 
deficiencies, and an adequate timeline for implementing the concrete suggestions for 
improvement. 

F. Provide for the teacher to offer a written response to the evaluation. 

G. Communicate the evaluation procedure annually, in writing, to those being evaluated. 

H. Describe the District's plan for training evaluators. 

225



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    90 

III. All evaluators shall possess a valid Nebraska Administrative Certificate and shall be trained to 
use the evaluation system employed in the District. 

 
Related Policy: 4160  
 
Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. §§79-318(5)(h) and 79-828(2)  
 
Date of Adoption: January 2, 1979  
 
Date of Revision:
               June 1, 2009 

 November 21, 1983; August 3, 1992; Sept 7, 1993; Dec. 21, 1998; July 21, 2003;  

 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Omaha, NE 

226

http://www.mpsomaha.org/mps/index.cfm?action=309&id=447&pid=200�


 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    91 

Category: Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
Policy: Taught Curriculum--Instructional Delivery     
6200 
 
In order to enable the alignment of the taught curriculum with the written curriculum, the Millard Public 
Schools shall identify clearly defined standards for the District’s staff. These standards are referred to as 
“Practices that Promote Successful Student Learning” and are included in The Millard Instructional 
Model.  The five Domains of the Millard Instructional Model are: 
 

I. Planning 
 
II. Instruction 
 
III. Assessment 
 
IV. Learning Environment 
 
V. Professional Responsibilities 

 
The “Practices that Promote Successful Student Learning” of the Millard Instructional Model have been 
incorporated into the teacher evaluation process and used by administrators, in conjunction with 
curriculum frameworks and guides, to monitor the taught curriculum. 
 
 
Related Policies and Rules:  4160 
Policy Adopted:  May 3, 1999 Millard Public Schools 
Reaffirmed: May 19, 2003 Omaha, Nebraska 
Revised:  October 2, 2006; June 2, 2008 
 
 
 
Category: Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment  
Policy: Taught Curriculum: Instructional Delivery  
Rule: Taught Curriculum: Instructional Delivery 6200.1 
 
 
Within each domain of the Millard Instructional Model are standards referred to as “Practices that 
Promote Successful Student Learning.”   
Related Policy: 
 

6200  

Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning can be found in this handbook, pages 27-38. 
 
Legal Reference: §79-866; 92 NAC 27  
Date of Adoption: May 3, 1999  Millard Public Schools 
Revised:
May 21, 2007; June 2, 2008 

 July 16, 2001; May 19, 2003; October 2, 2006 Omaha NE 

227



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    92 

References for 2008-2009 Teacher Evaluation Program 

 
 
ASCD. (2006). How to conduct effective walkthroughs.  [videotape] Alexandria, VA.  Author. 
 
Barth, R. (2006).  Relationships within the schoolhouse.  Association for Supervision and Curriculum 
Development, March 2006, 9-13. 
 
Blasé, J. & Blasé, J. (1998).  The conference:  Heart of instructional supervision.  In Handbook of 
Instructional Leadership (pp.19-47). Thousand Oaks, CA:  Corwin Press. 
 
Boyd, R. (1989).  Improving teacher evaluations.  Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 1(7).  
Retrieved October 22, 2006, from http://PAREonline.net/getvn.asp?v=1&n=7 
 
Bushman, J. (2006) Teachers as walk-through partners.  Educational Leadership, March 2006, 58-61. 
 
Canadian Educational Standards Newsletter. (2001).  [Review of the article Faculty evaluation:  What is 
the Goal?], March 2001:  Author. 
 
Carter, L. (2007).  Total instructional alignment:  From standards to student success.  Bloomington, IN:  
Solution Tree. 
 
Danielson, C. & McGreal, T. (2000).  Teacher Evaluation:  To enhance professional practice.  
Alexandria, VA:  ASCD. 
 
Danielson, C. & McGreal, T. (2000).  [Review of the article Teacher Evaluation:  To enhance 
professional practice.] Educational Testing Service. 
 
Downey, C & Frase, L. (2003).  Conducting walk-throughs with reflective inquiry to maximize student 
achievement.  Johnston, Iowa:  Curriculum Management Systems, Inc. 
 
DuFour, R. (2002).  The learning-centered principal.  Educational Leadership, 59, 12-15. 
 
Educational Research Service. (2006).  Using student achievement measures to evaluate teachers. 
Alexandria, VA:  Author. 
 
Eisner, E. (2006).  The satisfactions of teaching.  Educational Leadership, March 2006. 
 
Fleischman, S. ((2006) Moving to evidence-based professional practice.  Association for Supervision 
and Curriculum Development, March, 87-90. 
 
Ginsburg, M.      How Walkthroughs Open Doors.  Educational Leadership, V59, 34-36. 
 
Glickman, C. (2002).  Leadership for learning:  How to help teachers succeed.  Alexandria, VA:  
ASCD. 
 

228

http://pareonline.net/getvn.asp?v=1&n=7�


 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation    93 

Goldrick, L. (2002). Improving teacher evaluation to improve teaching quality.  National Governor’s 
Association, Washington, D.C. Center for Best Practices. from 
http://www.ng.org.cda.files.1202IMPROVINGTEACHEREVAL.pdf 
 
Goldstein, J. & Noguera, P. (2006).  A thoughtful approach to teacher evaluation.  Educational 
Leadership, 63(6), 31-36. 
 
Heller, D. (2004). Teachers wanted:  Attracting and retaining good teachers, Alexandria, VA:  ASCD. 
   
Kennedy, M. (2006).  From teacher quality to quality teaching.  Educational Leadership, March 2006. 
 
Leadership by walking around:  Walkthroughs and instructional improvement.  The Principals’ 
Partnership 
Retrieved from:  www.principalpartnerhsip.com/feature203.html 
 
Marshall, K. (2006). The why’s and how’s of teacher evaluation rubrics. Edge, PDK International, 
September/October 2006, 3-19. 
 
Marzano, R., Waters, T. & McNulty, B. (2005). School leadership that works:  From research to 
results. 
Alexandria, VA:  ASCD. 
 
McKinley, J. (2006). Winning methods of teachers who close the gap between black and white students. 
The Journal of Staff Development, 27 (4), 43-47. 
 
Mocete, L. (1998) Iwanicki focuses teacher evaluations on outcome not impact [Article Review] 
University of Connecticut Advance. 
 
Peterson, K.D. (2000).  Teacher Evaluation:  A comprehensive guide to new directions and practices  
(2nd

 
 ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA:  Corwin. 

Peterson, K.D. (2004). Research on school teacher evaluation. NAASP Bulletin, 88, 80-88. 
 
Schmoker, Mike (2006).  Results Now:  How we can achieve unprecedented improvements in teaching 
and learning. 
 
Troen, V. & Boles, K. (2005) The curse of teacher isolation, and a possible cure.  ENC Focus—The 
closed door syndrome:  Overcoming teacher isolation. Retrieved from www.enc.org/focus/isolation 
 
Tucker, P. & Stronge, J. (2005). Linking teacher evaluation and student learning.  Alexandria, VA:  
ASCD. 
 
Wiggins, G. & McTighe, J. (2006) Examining the teaching life.  Educational Leadership, March 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 

229

http://www.ng.org.cda.files.1202improvingteachereval.pdf/�
http://www.principalpartnerhsip.com/feature203.html�
http://www.enc.org/focus/isolation�


 

 

 
 

Intensive Assistance 

 

230



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         94 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The 
 
 

Intensive Assistance Program 

 
For 

 
 

Millard Public Schools  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

231



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         95 

Intensive Assistance Overview 
 
A major focus of the Millard Public School’s teacher evaluation process is to ensure that only effective 
teaching practices continue in the classroom.  The Practices That Promote Successful Student 
Learning have been developed to define these effective teaching practices.  If it is determined that a 
teacher in the Millard Public Schools is not meeting these standards, the Intensive Assistance Program 
will be used to assist the teacher in improving teaching practices to ensure that the standards are met.  It is 
the teacher’s responsibility to show improvement. 
 
Concerns about teacher performance will be investigated and a determination made regarding the need for 
Intensive Assistance.  Examples of such concerns include, but are not limited to the following: 
 

• Coaching in prior phases of teacher evaluation that has not resolved the problem 
• A pattern over time of insufficient student learning 
• A classroom environment that is detrimental to student learning 
• A classroom that is unsafe for students 

 
Intensive Assistance is part of the Appraisal Phase of the evaluation process.  If Intensive Assistance is 
indicated, teachers currently in the Appraisal Phase can be placed directly in Intensive Assistance.  
Teachers currently in the Continuous Growth Phase will be moved to the Appraisal Phase at the time 
Intensive Assistance is initiated. 
 
While in Intensive Assistance the teacher will be informed of the concerns with performance and be an 
active participant in the development and implementation of the Plan for Improvement.  Intensive 
Assistance will consist of a Plan for Improvement that is developed by the evaluator and may include 
the teacher, with optional participation by a team.  The Plan for Improvement will include the 
objective(s) to be accomplished, action steps for achieving the objectives, a description of the assistance 
that will be provided, a time line for implementation, the type and frequency of feedback, and the 
evaluation criteria and date of evaluation. 
 
When the date for evaluation of the Plan for Improvement is reached, a determination is made by the 
evaluator regarding the successful accomplishment of the objectives.  The Intensive Assistance Program 
is intended to assist teachers who are not meeting performance standards with respect to the Practices 
That Promote Successful Student Learning.  Teachers who continue to perform unsatisfactorily 
according to the performance standards in the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning 
after Intensive Assistance has been employed may be subject to dismissal or non-renewal of contract.  
Failure to institute an Intensive Assistance Plan shall not prevent the district from terminating, 
canceling, or non-renewing a teacher’s contract.  There also may be other grounds for non-renewal of 
contract or dismissal that are made independently of the teacher evaluation process. 
 
 
PLEASE NOTE: Sample Intensive Assistance Plans can be found in the Administrator Addendum of the Staff 
Evaluation Handbook. 
 

232



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         96 

Intensive Assistance Narrative 
 
The Intensive Assistance Program will be initiated when it has been determined that a teacher is not 
performing satisfactorily with respect to the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning that 
serve as a basis for the teacher evaluation process.  Examples include, but are not limited to: 

• coaching in prior phases of teacher evaluation that has not resolved the problem 
• a pattern over time of insufficient student learning 
• a classroom environment that is detrimental to student learning 
• a classroom that is unsafe for students 

 
The evaluator completes an investigation of any concerns expressed by others including students, parents, 
or peers.  The evaluator completes observations and collects data to document concerns with performance 
that relate to the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning. The evaluator may consult with 
other evaluators and other support personnel such as department heads, curriculum specialists, pupil 
services personnel, and special education personnel, as appropriate to determine the significance of the 
concerns. 
 
Concerns with performance must be verbally shared and discussed with the teacher. The evaluator must 
confer with Human Resources about the concerns with teacher performance in meeting the Practices 
That Promote Successful Student Learning. 
 
The evaluator considers the evidence collected and makes a determination regarding whether the teacher 
satisfactorily meets the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning.  Communication with 
Human Resources regarding the determination should be made by the evaluator. 
 
If the determination is made that the teacher is satisfactorily meeting the Practices That Promote 
Successful Student Learning, there will be no further action.  The teacher will continue to be evaluated 
in his/her current phase of the evaluation process. 

 
If the determination is made that the teacher is not satisfactorily meeting the Practices That Promote 
Successful Student Learning, a Recommendation for Intensive Assistance will be made through the 
Appraisal Phase. 

 
 

If the teacher is currently in the Appraisal Phase, the recommendation for Intensive Assistance (1A1) 
should be completed.  Practices that are not being met must be specified and documentation provided. 

Appraisal Phase 

Support Phase or Professional Growth Phase 
If the teacher is currently in the Continuous Growth Phase, the teacher must be moved to the Appraisal 
Phase to focus directly on the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning.  The 
Recommendation for Intensive Assistance (1A1) should be completed.  Practices that are not being met 
must be specified and documentation provided.  Direct classroom observations and documentation 
provided.  Direct classroom observations and conferences (Appraisal Phase) should be reinitiated and 
should focus on the concerns with the specified practices.  Classroom Observation Form must be 
completed for each observation. 
The evaluator shares the Recommendation for Intensive Assistance (1A1) with the teacher. A 
conference is held to discuss the recommendation, and the teacher receives and signs the 
Recommendation for Intensive Assistance.  The teacher can request MEA representation at this 

Follow due process 
with 

the assistance of HR, 
association rep., and 

attorney. 

233



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         97 

conference.  The evaluator can request a representative from Human Resources at this conference.  As a 
courtesy, the evaluator and teacher should be informed if representatives from MEA or Human Resources 
will be at the conference. 
  
At the initial Intensive Assistance conference, the involvement of a team to assist in developing and 
implementing a plan for improvement may be determined.    Team membership may include educators 
with expertise in the areas needing improvement.  If teams are utilized, expectations for team members 
including confidentiality will be emphasized.   
 
A written Plan for Improvement (1A2) must be developed by the evaluator with input from the teacher 
and team (if one is utilized).  The plan must include the objective(s) to be accomplished, action steps for 
achieving the objectives, a description of the assistance that will be provided (what, who, when), a 
timeline for implementation, the type and frequency of feedback that will be provided the teacher, and the 
evaluation criteria and date.  This plan must be shared with Human Resources. 
 
 A conference will be held to review the completed Plan for Improvement (1A2). Both teacher and 
evaluator will sign and date the Plan for Improvement. 

 
The Plan for Improvement will be implemented following the time line and recommended action steps 
making sure that the specified assistance is provided.  Regular feedback to the teacher is expected.  
Observations, visits, conferences, or other contact to the evaluator and teacher should occur 
approximately as specified in the plan.        

   
When the date for evaluation as specified in the Plan for Improvement is reached, a determination will 
be made by the evaluator regarding whether the teacher is meeting the specified Practices That Promote 
Successful Student Learning.  Evaluation criteria, as specified in the Plan for Improvement, should be 
a major part of this determination. 

    
If the teacher is meeting the standards, the placement in the Intensive Assistance program is completed.  
The teacher will remain in the Appraisal Phase of the evaluation cycle for the current year and the 
following year.  Placement in Intensive Assistance will be reinitiated if concerns resurface. 

 
If the teacher is not meeting the standards and sufficient documentation for dismissal does not exist, the 
evaluator will reexamine the Recommendation for Intensive Assistance, the Plan for Improvement, 
and review the documentation. The Recommendation for Intensive Assistance will be rewritten and a 
new plan developed.  Care will be taken to align the concerns with the most appropriate practices and to 
develop specificity in the plan and the evaluation criteria. 

  
If sufficient documentation for dismissal exists, due process will be followed with involvement of Human 
Resources. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

234



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         98 

IA1 

Recommendation for Intensive Assistance 
 
Teacher’s Name___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. List the Practices That Promote Successful Student Learning not being met from the Millard 

Instructional Model: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Documentation: 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________   __________________________      _______________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                         Position           Date 
 
____________________________   __________________________ 
Teacher’s Signature                        Date     
 
 

1A1 

235



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         99 

IA2 
Plan for Improvement 

Intensive Assistance Program 
 

Teacher’s Name _______________________________________________________________________   

School _________________________________________ Position ______________________________ 

Date_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
1. Objective(s) to be accomplished: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Action steps for achieving the objectives: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Assistance that will be provided (who, what, when, how): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1A2 

236



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         100 

4.   Time line for achieving objectives: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  Type and frequency of feedback: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.   Evaluation Criteria:    
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
____________________________   __________________________      _______________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                         Position                   Date 
 
_____________________________   __________________________ 
Teacher’s Signature                         Date     
 
___ I concur with the analysis and recommendations. 
___ I do not concur and I have a right to respond in writing. 

 

237



 

Millard Public Schools Staff Evaluation                         101 

IA3 
Feedback Intensive Assistance Program 

Report of Progress 
 

Teacher’s Name _____________________________ School ___________________________________ 
 
Position ______________________________________  Date __________________________________ 
 
 
 

Objective 1: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Objective 2: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Objective 3: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

238



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Staff Evaluation Handbook  
and Administrator Addendum 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Revised May 2010 

 

239



Table of Contents of Administrator Addendum 
      
 
Administrator Time Lines and Expectations 
 Teacher Evaluation Time Line .......................................................................................................... 102 

         Select Staff & Nurse Evaluation Time Lines .................................................................................... 103 

 Sample Logging Method  .................................................................................................................. 104 

 

Other Staff Evaluation Forms 

Support Personnel Evaluation Form ........................................................................................................... 106 

Secretary Self Reflection Form ................................................................................................................... 107 

Secretary Evaluation Form.......................................................................................................................... 108 

Sample Secretary Evaluation Form ......................................................................................................109-110 

Professional / Technical Staff Evaluation Form ......................................................................................... 111 

Hall Monitor Evaluation ............................................................................................................................. 112 

SRO Feedback Form ............................................................................................................................113-114 

Secondary Department Head Evaluation Form ........................................................................................... 115 

 

Sample Letters 
Letter of Reprimand Template…………………………………………………………………………..126 

Letter of Summary Template ................................................................................................................... 127 

Components of a Sample Deficiency Comment ...................................................................................... 128 

Principal Evaluators ................................................................................................................................. 129 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

240



 

 
 

Administrator Time 
Lines and Expectations

241



102 
 

Teacher Evaluation Time Line 
 
 
 

 
Appraisal Phase Time Line - Probationary Teachers and Teachers with Special Circumstances 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all certificated staff (Policy 4160.1) 
     
By Winter Break ~ Conduct two classroom observations followed by the Post-observation  
      Conference - one of these two observations should be for the full instructional  
      period 
   ~ Complete 5 instructional walk-through observations 
 
By Spring Break ~ Conduct the third classroom observation followed by the Post-observation  
                 Conference - this observation should be for the full instructional period  
   ~ Complete 3 instructional walk-through observations 
     
By May 1  ~ Complete the Appraisal Report and conduct the Spring Conference   
 
By May 15  ~ Appraisal Report should be sent to Human Resources at DSAC 
 
 

 
Continuous Growth Phase Time Line - Teachers 4 or More Years with MPS 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all certificated staff (Policy 4160.1) 
 
August-September ~ Fall Conference 
 
By Winter Break ~ Complete 5 instructional walk-through observations  
 
December-February ~ Progress Check 
 
By Spring Break ~ Complete 3 instructional walk-through observations  
    
February-April ~ Complete the Continuous Growth Report and conduct the Spring Conference 
    
By May 15  ~ Continuous Growth Report should be sent to Human Resources at DSAC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

242



103 
 

Select Staff & Nurse Evaluation Time Lines 
 

 
Appraisal Phase Time Line - Probationary Select Staff and Select Staff with Special Circumstances 

August-September ~Review evaluation procedures with all select staff (Policy 4160.1) 
   
By Winter Break ~ Conduct two classroom/meeting observations followed by the Post-observation  
     Conference – one of these two observations should be for the full instructional  
     period/meeting 
   ~ Complete 5 walk-through observations  
 
By Spring Break ~ Conduct the third classroom/meeting observation followed by the Post-   
                                      observation Conference – this observation should be for the full instructional  
     period/meeting 
   ~ Complete 3 walk-through observations  
    
By May 1  ~ Complete the Appraisal Report and conduct the Spring Conference 
 
By May 15  ~ Appraisal Report should be sent to Human Resources at DSAC 
 
 

 
Continuous Growth Phase Time Line - Select Staff 4 or More Years with MPS 

August-September ~ Review evaluation procedures with all select staff (Policy 4160.1) 
 
August-September ~ Fall Conference 
 
By Winter Break ~ Complete 5 walk-through observations  
 
December-February  ~ Progress check  
 
By Spring Break ~ Complete 3 walk-through observations 
 
February-April ~ Complete the Continuous Growth Report and Spring Conference 
 
By May 15  ~ Continuous Growth Report should be sent to Human Resources at DSAC 
 
 

 
School Nurse Evaluation Time Line  

August-September ~ Fall Conference 
 
By Winter Break ~ Complete 5 walk-through observations  
 
By Spring Break ~ Complete 3 walk-through observations  
    
February-April ~ Complete the Evaluation Report and conduct the Spring Conference 
 
By May 15  ~ Evaluation Report should be sent to Human Resources at DSAC 

243



104 
 

 

 
Sample Logging Method 

 
 

 

Appraisal Phase   
Walkthroughs Observations 

Spring 
Conference #1 #2 #3 #4 #5 #6 #7 #8 

#1 
Full Inst. 

#2 
#3 

Full Inst. 

    By Winter Break By Spring Break By Winter Break 
By Spring 

Break 
By May 1 

                            
                            
                            
                            
                            
                            

Continuous 
Professional Growth 

Phase 

Fall 
Conference 

Walkthroughs Progress 
Check 

Spring 
Conference 

    

#1 #2  #4 #5 #6 #7 #8     

  Aug.-Sept. By Winter Break By Spring Break Dec.-Feb.  Feb.-April     
                            

                           

                            

                            

                            

                            

244



105 
 

 
 

Other  
Staff Evaluation Forms 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

245



106 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Support Personnel Evaluation 

 
Check one 

NAME   _____________________________________________ _____ Ed. Para. 
 
SCHOOL ____________________________________________   
 
DATE   ______________________________________________  _____ Other 
 
 
  SATISFACTORY 
 

UNSATISFACTORY 

Appropriate Dress ................................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Punctuality ............................................................................ ________________ _______________ 
Attendance............................................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Organizational Skills ............................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Initiative ................................................................................ ________________ _______________ 
Telephone Courtesy .............................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Use of Grammar .................................................................... ________________ _______________ 
Confidentiality with School Matters ..................................... ________________ _______________ 
Efficiency with Clerical Responsibilities .............................. ________________ _______________ 
Ability to Follow Directions ................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Rapport with Public .............................................................. ________________ _______________ 
Cooperation with Co-workers ............................................... ________________ _______________ 
Quality of Work .................................................................... ________________ _______________ 
 
 
Additional Comments
 

: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommend for rehire   ___________        Not Recommend for rehire __________ 
 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________  
Signature of Employee   Date  Signature of Appraiser Date 
 
 
 

 

246



107 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Secretary Self Reflection Form 

   
NAME   ____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SCHOOL ___________________________________________________________________________  
 
DATE ______________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
As a lifelong learner, it is important to be reflective in your job.  Please spend some time reflecting on the 
skills and attributes you possess.  What are your areas of strength?  What are areas in which you can 
improve?   What are your goals for next year?  Give specific examples or explanations of how you meet 
the Millard standard of professionalism.  When evaluating yourself, the following is a list to consider: 
appropriate dress, punctuality, attendance, organizational skills, initiative, telephone courtesy, use of 
grammar, confidentiality with school matters, efficiency with clerical responsibilities, ability to follow 
directions, rapport with public, cooperation with co-workers, and quality of work. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Also list at least TWO of your professional goals you have for next year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

247



108 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Secretary Evaluation 

   
NAME   _____________________________________________________________________________
  
SCHOOL ____________________________________________________________________________
   
DATE   _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  SATISFACTORY 
Appropriate Dress ................................................................. _______________     _______________ 

UNSATISFACTORY 

Punctuality ............................................................................ _______________     _______________ 
Attendance............................................................................. _______________      _______________ 
Organizational Skills ............................................................. _______________     ______________ 
Initiative ................................................................................ _______________     _______________ 
Telephone Courtesy .............................................................. _______________     _______________ 
Use of Grammar .................................................................... _______________     _______________ 
Confidentiality with School Matters ..................................... _______________     _______________ 
Efficiency with Clerical Responsibilities .............................. _______________     _______________ 
Ability to Follow Directions ................................................. _______________     _______________ 
Rapport with Public .............................................................. _______________     _______________ 
Cooperation with Co-workers ............................................... _______________     _______________ 
Quality of Work .................................................................... _______________     _______________ 
 
Secretary Comments:  
 
 
 
List at least TWO of your professional goals:   

 
 
 

Evaluator Comments:  
 
 
 
 
 
____Recommend for rehire           _____Not Recommend for rehire      
     
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Signature of Employee                   Date    Signatures of Appraiser 

248



109 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Sample Secretary Evaluation  

NAME   _____________________________________________________________________________
  
SCHOOL ____________________________________________________________________________
  
DATE   _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  SATISFACTORY 
Appropriate Dress ................................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 

UNSATISFACTORY 

Punctuality ............................................................................ ______x_  ________ _______________ 
Attendance............................................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Organizational Skills ............................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Initiative ................................................................................ ______x__________ _______________ 
Telephone Courtesy .............................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Use of Grammar .................................................................... ______x__________ _______________ 
Confidentiality with School Matters ..................................... ______x__________ _______________ 
Efficiency with Clerical Responsibilities .............................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Ability to Follow Directions ................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Rapport with Public .............................................................. ______x__________ _______________ 
Cooperation with Co-workers ............................................... ______x__________ _______________ 
Quality of Work .................................................................... ______x__________ _______________ 
 
Secretary Comments:  
In my position as project secretary, I continue to rely on my organizational skills to keep my projects on 
task and finished on time.   I strive for perfection in putting together events in the fall and events in the 
spring.  I work hard to put together a professional program.  This year I am printing award certificates for 
the Spring program.   One of my goals was to cross train with the disciplinary offices to learn to read and 
print out their portion from the SIMS program.   I have accomplished this goal, but still need to learn to 
understand all the codes and terminology.    My second goal was to improve my skills in working within 
Excel.  To date, I have converted most of my databases from Claris to Excel and I am becoming 
proficient in that program.  I took a class in Excel last summer, but find what works best for me is 
experimenting within the program to accomplish what I need the program to do.   
 
I continue to be a team player, helping the main office when needed.   I continue to be extremely reliable 
in that my attendance is perfect and I am on time everyday ready to assist the staff and students with 
anything and everything. 

List at least TWO professional goals you have for 2007-08:   
One of my goals for next year would be to learn the formulas within the Excel program so I can program 
the sheet with the formulas from the beginning. 
 
Another goal for next year is to help the new administrator adjust in the position of Assistant Principal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

249



110 
 

Evaluators Comments:  
We both concur with her self evaluation listed at the top.  Her goals are also very appropriate for 2007-
08.  She has a special ability to multitask and still remain positive.  Dependability and initiative are her 
strong assets.  She thinks ahead and anticipates the needs of her supervisors and often accomplishes the 
tasks before being asked.  Problem solving is a crucial skill for a secretary to possess.  She is able to 
problem solve and make decisions, which other secretaries are unable to do.  This problem solving 
leadership she displays saves her administrators time and effort.  Staff and the public love working with 
her.  The administrators from DSAC often utilize the school for their staff development functions 
because of how friendly and helpful she is.  She makes helping others a big part of her job.  Because of 
her positive attitude and helpful spirit, she is excellent for public relations in the Principal’s Office.  Not 
only do we think she is TOP NOTCH but so does the Millard Foundations Committee.  She was selected 
as Millard Foundations Support Staff of the Year.  She will be honored at the May 7th

 

 banquet and 
receive a $1000 stipend.  We are so pleased with this recognition that she has earned. 

We encourage her to set up “action steps” to help her realize her 2 proposed goals for 2007-08.  We will 
assist her in providing staff development opportunities as needed.  We consider ourselves very lucky to 
work with her! 
 
__X__Recommend for rehire           _____Not Recommend for rehire      
 
 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 
Signature of Employee                   Date  Signatures of Appraisers  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

250



111 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Professional / Technical Staff Evaluation 

 
 
NAME:   DATE:  
     
SCHOOL:     
     
JOB TITLE:     
     
 
 
  SATISFACTORY 
 

UNSATISFACTORY 

Appropriate Dress ..................................................................................................  ..............................  
Punctuality .............................................................................................................  ..............................  
Attendance .............................................................................................................  ..............................  
Organizational Skills ..............................................................................................  ..............................  
Initiative .................................................................................................................  ..............................  
Telephone Courtesy ...............................................................................................  ..............................  
Use of Grammar .....................................................................................................  ..............................  
Confidentiality with School Matters ......................................................................  ..............................  
Efficiency with Clerical Responsibilities ...............................................................  ..............................  
Ability to Follow Directions ..................................................................................  ..............................  
Rapport with Public ................................................................................................  ..............................  
Cooperation with Co-workers ................................................................................  ..............................  
Quality of Work .....................................................................................................  ..............................  
 

 
Refer to job description when completing this evaluation 

1) Strengths and commendations: 
 
 
 
2) Areas needing improvement: 
 
 
 
3)   Job target for next year: 
 
 
 
Recommend for rehire          Not Recommend for rehire            
 
_________________________________         _________________________________ 
Signature of Employee   Date  Signature of Appraiser Date 
 
   
 _________________________________ 
  Signature of Building Supervisor  Date 
  (Required) 

251



112 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Hall Monitor Evaluation 

 
NAME ________________________________________________________________________ 

SCHOOL ______________________________________________________________________  

DATE ________________________________________________________________________ 

 

             Satisfactory    

Appropriate Dress  ................................................................ _______________ _______________ 

Unsatisfactory 

Punctuality ............................................................................ _______________ _______________ 

Attendance............................................................................. _______________ _______________ 

Initiative ................................................................................ _______________ _______________ 

Confidentiality with School Matters…………………………______________ _______________ 

Rapport with Public, Students, and Staff .............................. _______________ _______________ 

Cooperation with Co-workers ............................................... _______________ _______________ 

Quality of Work .................................................................... _______________ _______________ 

Monitors assigned hallways, bathrooms, entrances, & walkways ___________   ______________ 

Supervises special areas as assigned .....................................  ______________ _______________ 

Notifies administration of all violations of student rules  
providing testimony as necessary regarding observations  
of student misconduct ………………………………………______________ _______________  

Escorts rule violators to the office without physical force …______________ _______________  

Assists visitors in reporting to the office. Requests unauthorized 
personnel leave the building & notifies the administration…______________ _______________ 

Monitors students specifically for: substance use, possession and 
distribution, vandalism, and interpersonal confrontation ...... ______________ _______________ 

Provides emergency first aid and CPR as needed. Notifies nurse and 
administration of students and staff requiring such assistance______________ _______________ 

Performs other duties as requested by the principal.............  _______________ _______________ 

 
Additional Comments: 

 

 
 Recommend for rehire     Not Recommended for rehire     

        

_________________________________  __________________________________________ 
Signature of Employee                 Date  Signature of Appraiser     Date 

252



113 
 

Millard Public Schools 
SRO Feedback Form 

 
 
Name ___________________________________  Date____________________ 
 
School __________________________________ 
 
         Excellent Satisfactory  Unsatisfactory 
 
Appropriate dress         _____      _____    _____ 
Organizational skills         _____      _____    _____ 
Initiative          _____      _____    _____ 
Cooperation with co-workers        _____      _____    _____ 
Rapport with staff, students, and public      _____      _____    _____ 
Confidentiality regarding school matters            _____      _____    _____ 
Proficient using needed technology                     _____      _____    _____ 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 

Excellent Satisfactory  Unsatisfactory 
   

1. The officer is prompt in reporting at the 
assigned school.        ________ __________ ___________             

      Comments:  
 
 
 
2. The officer communicates with school 

personnel (principals) on a regular basis  ________ __________ ___________ 
      Comments:  
 
 
 
3. The officer communicates with students and 

 families in an effective, courteous, professional 
       manner.      ________ __________ ___________ 
       Comments: 
 
 
 
4. The officer presents educational leadership for 

students, parents, and community in regards to 
alcohol, tobacco, drugs, the law, violence, 
gangs, safety, and security concerns.  ________ __________ ___________         
Comments: 
 

253



114 
 

                  Excellent Satisfactory Unsatisfactory 
  
5. The officer provides informational in-services 
      for staff on issues regarding alcohol, tobacco, 
      drugs, the law, violence, gangs, safety, and 
      security concerns.                 ________ __________ ___________             
      Comments: 
 
 
 
6. The officer assists in maintaining order and 
      enforcing school policies.    ________ __________ ___________ 
      Comments:                       
    
 
 
7. The officer is visible and accessible during the 
       scheduled time.     _________ _________ ____________ 
       Comments:   
 
 
 
1) Strengths and recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
2) Areas needing improvement: 
 
 
 
 
 
3) Personal goals for the year: 
 
 
 
 
 
4) Action plan to achieve those goals: 
 
 
 
 
Signature of Officer________________________________________ Date_____________________             
 
 
Signature of Principal_______________________________________Date_____________________ 

254



115 
 

Millard Public Schools 
Secondary Department Head Evaluation Form 

 
 

Name:________________________________ Building:______________________________________ 
 
                  Satisfactory              Unsatisfactory 
 
1. Assists in the monitoring, development, and evaluation 
 of department curriculum (this may include classroom 
 visitations.       ________________ ______________     
                   
2. Supports the implementation of the district Instructional 
 Improvement Program (this may include classroom 
 visitations.       ________________ ______________                     
 
3. Assists in the communication of department goals  
 and objectives to all department teachers, substitute  
 teachers, and the community.    ________________ ______________                                   
 
2. Promotes the coordination and articulation of the   
 curriculum within and between buildings.  ________________ ______________ 
                                    
5. Assists in the selection and organization of materials, 
 supplies, and facilities.     ________________ ______________  
  
6.   Assists in the preparation of the department budget. ________________ ______________        
   
7. Assists with the identification of inservice needs. ________________ ______________       
                                     
8. Assists with other management tasks including 
 scheduling and pupil services.    ________________ ______________            
                     
 

 
Strengths And Recommendation 

 
 
  
 
                                                     
Department Head        Principal 
 
                                   
Area        Director of Secondary Education 
 
                         
Date         

 

255



116 
 

 

 
 
 

Sample Letters  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

256



117 
 

SAMPLE Recommendation for Intensive Assistance Program (IA1) 
 
TO:  Jane Doe 
 
FROM: Principal Smith 
 
DATE:  May 6, 2008 
 
RE:  Performance deficiencies 
 
As we begin to look at your Intensive Assistance Plan for the current year, we continue to see 
deficiencies as noted below and as noted in other documentation such as your eight Intensive Assistance 
Progress Reports.  For this year, you were provided four objectives.  This memorandum will include a 
summary of your performance this year and then will look at how to improve going forward, including 
specific directives and expectations. 
 
Objective 1:   This objective focused on lesson plans.  It directed you to complete weekly lesson plans 
prior to 8:45 am each Monday morning that are sequential, descriptive, and are aligned to the district 
curriculum guides.  The purpose of this objective is to maximize instructional time and keep students 
actively engaged in the learning process.  Adequate lesson plans also provide instruction/direction that is 
specific and easily understood by students. 
 
Since September, you have been turning in your lesson plans on a weekly basis.  However, the plans did 
not address actual teaching strategies as requested.  Instead, your lessons would mostly just consist of a 
list of problems that you were doing for the day and that the students would try.  At no time did your 
lesson plans mention strategies like: work this problem in pairs; or share your work with a partner; or 
students going to the board to work; or other activity based strategies.   
 
After a January visit to Millard West classrooms, you were directed to incorporate into your lesson 
planning utilization of whiteboards in your class consistent with the effective strategies we observed.  I 
observed you use the white boards once, and slowly over time the student desks gravitated back towards 
the white board rendering them unused.  I then observed a recurrence of inappropriately vast amounts of 
independent work time given to students.  On April 1, again I directed you to pull the desks away from 
that wall and use the whiteboard as a strategy of getting students to the board and working problems as a 
class.   
 
Over the last two and half years, I have repeatedly directed you to plan your lessons to use the 
instructional block to its fullest potential.  This was because I frequently would walk in on students 
having 45 minutes (half the block) to work on homework.  Most students would finish their work and 
become disruptive to the classroom environment.  I told you a maximum of 20 minutes to work on 
homework per block was acceptable for guided practice time.  However, I continue to observe in your 
classroom times where students had no more instruction and were given assignments to work on with 
approximately 40 minutes left in the class.  For example, on March 27, I observed students working for 
an extended period of time on homework.  When I asked you about this, you justified it by commenting 
on 2 or 3 students that need to catch up on old assignments.  You also mentioned that one student has an 
IEP that calls for extended work time.  IEP’s can be met individually by sending that student to the 
resource help lab or providing time after school.  You do not need to take instructional time away from 
all students to create classroom time for one.  This is another justification for ineffective classroom 
practice. 

257



118 
 

You were directed to notify me when your plans changed throughout the week.  You were instructed that 
changes in methods of instruction would increase student learning and, therefore, increase student testing 
scores.  Changes in instruction and adequate differentiation of instruction should have been happening 
regularly to seek alternate ways to achieve appropriate and quantifiable student learning.  However, you 
never notified me of any adjustments to your plans to improve student understanding or to re-teach using 
another strategy.  The only notifications I received of changes were superficial such as “I didn’t get to 
section 5, I will do that next time.”  In our weekly meetings, I frequently urged you to seek out new 
strategies from colleagues to augment your strategy of repeatedly modeling a problem, then having 
students try a problem.  I rarely saw any change to your instruction.     
 
I expect that you will use a variety of instructional strategies and denote the use of these strategies in 
your lesson planning.  For each unit, you will, at a minimum, incorporate the following strategies in your 
lesson planning and delivery of instruction: 
 

(1)  Use of White Boards; 
(2)  Smart Board Instruction; 
(3)  Pair Share Activities; 
(4)  Student Problem Solving on the Board; and 
(5)  Modeled Questions/Problem Solving. 

 
As part of your lesson planning, the student performance objective and the agenda of the activities for the 
day will be posted daily on the board.  The purpose will be to keep you and students focused on the 
objective and the specific steps related to meeting the objective.   
 
I further expect that you will read the following books/journals regarding effective teaching, reteaching, 
student engagement, and differentiated teaching strategies and submit a written report to me of each book 
by the date listed by the individual book: 

 
(a) Teach With Your Strengths - Report submitted by September 30, 2008; 
(b) Classroom Instruction That Works - Report submitted by December 15, 2008; and 
(c) Building Engaged Schools - Report submitted by January 31, 2009. 

 
All written reports must include thorough explanations of how they will help you improve your 
performance and specific examples of how you will incorporate ideas and strategies from the reading into 
your lesson plans. 
 
Objectives 2 and 3:  These objectives focused on feedback.  You were directed to assess and provide 
feedback on a regular and ongoing basis.  You were also directed to assist students in a timely manner 
and provide meaningful interventions to support their learning.  Assessing and providing feedback on a 
regular basis is a key component of instruction strategies, especially as a basis for modifying instruction 
and reteaching activities.   
 
The grades in your classes continue to demonstrate that students do not understand the curriculum.  Over 
twice as many students are failing your class compared to your peers.  You also mention this frequently, 
saying ‘kids were misplaced.’  You do not take any responsibility or seek changes to your instruction that 
would improve individual learning.  You fail to make adequate modification in the classroom and you 
fail to utilize building wide interventions successfully.  Therefore, more and more students continue to 
fall behind and eventually fail your course.  Notwithstanding the need to modify your teaching methods 
to increase understanding, your methods have continued largely unchanged over time.   
 

258



119 
 

I expect that you will attend the Informative Assessment Fair at ESU3 on September 16th

 

, 2008.  This 
workshop provides teachers with proven techniques for finding out whether students are learning during 
instruction.  As a reflection, you will submit a written report to me regarding the day explaining what 
was learned and how it can be applied to your classes. 

Another deficiency related to feedback is your failure to make adequate parent contact as directed.  For 
example, when I called students in for missing the homework lab, the student would frequently say they 
didn’t know about the assigned homework lab. Similarly, when I called the parent, he or she often did not 
know about it either.  You have been repeatedly directed to call parents each time a student is assigned to 
homework lab for a missing assignment or when a student is failing.  For example, you were specifically 
directed to make personal contacts with parents on March 6, March 18, and March 25.  As of April 1, 
you had just begun these calls and were hoping to finish by April 4.  
 
You offer multiple excuses for not contacting parents, including a fear that student may be abused by 
parents who you contact with negative information. This is based on an alleged incident you experienced 
years ago.  As we discussed, a few bad parents over your career are not a reason to eliminate feedback to 
all of the good parents who need to know how their children are progressing.  Parents need feedback and 
your reasons for failing to meet this expectation are not adequate.    
 
Beginning with the start of the 2008-09 school year, guided practice time at the end of the period will be 
differentiated for learners.  Students who understand the concept will be allowed to work independently 
during guided practice time.  Other students who wish to join you and students with demonstrated poor 
understanding will need to work out guided practice problems with you during guided practice time.  
You will set this expectation with students early in the year and explain to them that this strategy is by 
invitation as well as required for students with poor performance.  
 
You will also develop a concept review sheet for each examination and provide review sessions for 
students before and after school.  These before and after school review sessions will be by invitation as 
well as required for students with poor performance.  You will work with students and parents to 
communicate this new strategy.   
 
Student failure will no longer be acceptable.  You are directed to focus on those students with poor 
performance as described in the above two paragraphs and you are directed to work with reteaching 
methods and to require students to retake tests/quizzes until they demonstrate an adequate level of 
learning (repeatedly if necessary).  I expect that failure rates in your classes (students receiving 4s or 5s) 
next year will be below 30%.  It is your responsibility to ensure through differentiated instruction and 
tireless reteaching that this goal is accomplished. 
 
Objective 4:  This objective focused on classroom management, directing you to provide rules and 
standards of student behavior which are consistently utilized while holding students accountable.  A 
significant portion of this objective is developing a dedication for students and modeling appropriate 
interactions yourself.   
 
This year and in prior years, I have repeatedly witnessed incidents of inappropriate student behavior 
when I walked in your classroom.  Other comparable classes I observe normally have structure with 
students quietly working or following along with the teacher.  In your classes I repeatedly see students 
talking in groups, not paying attention, working on other coursework, sleeping, or being rude without any 
intervention from you.  This off-task student behavior in your classroom is the worst of any teacher I 
have observed over the past several years. 
 

259



120 
 

The management of your classroom will need to change drastically before the first day of school.  You 
need to develop an indicator plan for students, that explains your expectations as well as teaching 
routines.  The plan will include, but not be limited to: 
 

(1)  Entry into the room; 
(2)  Handing in homework; 
(3)  Makeup assignments;  
(4)  Asking questions; 
(5)  Reading assignments/tests/quizzes; 
(6)  Seeking help; and 
(7)  Dismissal from class. 
 

This plan for management must be presented to me on or before May 30, 2008 for my review. 
      
There are also several examples of you interacting inappropriately with students and parents this year, 
which can have a causal effect on perpetuating inappropriate student behavior.  One example is from my 
feedback from a formal observation on November 1st.  I mentioned the inappropriate comments and 
language from you, (in regard to your personal views on marriage and divorce) which prompted students 
to think comments like “I’m not gay” may be an acceptable part of the math classroom.  I mentioned that 
leading these off-topic conversations were the precursors that lead you to spend considerable energies in 
controlling kids rather than teaching and learning.  A second example would be on January 22nd when 
you allowed a student to rant and rave, to the point that other students felt the need to intervene, telling 
her to “give it up,” instead of you removing the problem and letting students focus on the instruction for 
the day.  As part of this incident, you made a comment to the student to the effect of “You know I can be 
a bitch [or a ‘B’].”    A third example would be on March 13th when a parent reported that at conferences 
you put your hands to your head, as in disbelief, and then put down her son the entire conference.  A 
fourth example would be an incident reported on March 24th

 

 that happened in January when you 
allegedly called a student a ‘dumbass’ under your breath.   

When given an opportunity to explain your behavior, you have denied or attempted to explain away these 
incidents.  However, the allegations against you this year are consistent with my observations (as noted 
in the next paragraph) and consistent with the history in your personnel file regarding belittling and 
demeaning statements to students.  Students must be engaged in a positive, productive environment 
established and modeled by the teacher.   
 
You also belittle students to others.  For example, on March 25th

 

 you mentioned to me that you even 
needed to step out of the room to keep from laughing at a student for not knowing how to turn on a 
calculator.  Making fun of or belittling students is not appropriate in any venue and demonstrates a lack 
of professionalism on your part.  It is my expectation that you will never express humor related to the 
failure of a student.  You will never demean a student.  Any criticisms of a student’s performance must 
be delivered as a constructive criticism delivered in a professional tone and with open and professional 
body language. 

You repeatedly demonstrate frustration with students, blame the students for the failures to learn and, as 
noted above, you often interact with students in a disrespectful manner.  This is not professional and you 
cannot improve classroom behavior and related learning until you learn to respect the students and care 
for the students.  I expect this will be demonstrated in your choice of words and tone when 
communicating with students, with parents, and with others regarding students.  Beginning immediately, 
I expect that all communications from you will demonstrate caring and respect for all students.   
 
The Mission of Millard Public Schools states that we will “…guarantee all students learn…”  This is 
admittedly a high goal.  However, the focus on the words “guarantee” and “all” students shows what our 

260



121 
 

Board of Education and our community expect.  Blaming the student is an outdated model that is no 
longer acceptable and perpetuates poor student engagement and poor student learning.  Every educator 
must take personal responsibility to guarantee that all students learn.  You must ask yourself why 
students are failing and what can “I” do to guarantee that each student will learn.  Don’t ask what the 
students or parents can do.  Don’t ask what is wrong with the student when he or she misbehaves or does 
not learn.  Ask instead what “you” can do.  Every student can learn and it is your job to find how to 
guarantee that every individual student will learn.  This will require a significant attitude and paradigm 
shift for you.  But without this shift, it is my opinion that you will never meet Millard’s standards.  
 
Dedication to every student must drive your improvement. You must discover or re-discover the spark 
and passion that makes you love teaching and rediscover the dedication to teaching and love of students 
that gives you great joy and pride when students succeed as well as great disappointment in yourself 
when students fail.   
 
To help you with this, I am directing you to complete the “Spark” training offered by Millard Public 
Schools prior to the completion of the 2008-09 school year.  Please contact Kim Saum-Mills to get 
details on this graduate level course.  I expect a written report from you within two weeks of completion 
of the course setting forth in detail how you will implement the strategies in the course to improve your 
dedication and your positive focus on students.   

 

In summary, notwithstanding the focus of an Intensive Assistance Plan this year, you have shown little if 
any progress or improvement.  As we evaluate your progress over the past year, it is evident that: (a) the 
lack of planning; (b) the inability (or unwillingness) to appropriately adjust and differentiate instruction; 
(c) your inappropriate interactions with students; and (d) your inadequate feedback, are preventing you 
from meeting our expectations.   

CONCLUSION: 

 
The expectations in your 2007-08 Intensive Assistance Plan will remain in place.  In addition, there are 
several expectations set forth above to ensure that maximum student learning will occur in your classes.   
 
We recognize that this improvement plan is going to require a substantial time investment on your part.  
As we review past interactions to improve your performance, they have traditionally involved substantial 
administrative directives and teaching new strategies to you.  However, we have not sensed any “buy in” 
from you.  It is time you invest as much or more time that administration is investing in you. 
 
We anticipate an Intensive Assistance Plan for 2008-09 will be formalized soon incorporating the 
directives of this memorandum.  In the meantime, we want you to begin planning ideas and strategies for 
your self-improvement in addition to the above listed items.  Please submit ideas for other professional 
self-improvement plans and goals on or before May 30, 2008. 
 
Please be advised that you have a right to respond in writing to this memorandum.  However, the 
directives are not negotiable.   
__________________________   __________________________      _______________ 
Evaluator’s Signature                     Position                             Date 
 
_____________________________   __________________________ 
Teacher’s Signature                           Date   

261



122 
 

SAMPLE Plan for Improvement (IA2) 
Intensive Assistance Program  

 
Teacher’s Name:  John Doe School:   Any School          Position:  Spanish Teacher  
 
I. Objective(s) to be accomplished: 
 
 A. Lesson design will contain: 
  1. What students will know and be able to do?  instructional objective(s)  
  2. How students will learn it?  teaching strategies/learning activities 
  3. How students will demonstrate their learning?  check for understanding 
  4. What happens if students do not learn it?  Or already know it?  differentiation  
  

B. The established learning environment in each of your class sessions will lead to productive,  
 positive, and effective learning opportunities for all of your students. 
 
C. Student routines will be established, taught, and followed on a regular basis and involve the 

following set student expectations: 
1. entering the classroom 
2. bringing required materials 
3. asking and answering questions 
4. speaking to other students 
5. leaving his or her seat 
6. focusing and listening attentively 
7. transition between activities 
8. leaving the classroom 
9. other typical routines, such as where/when turn in papers, etc.   

  
II. Action Steps for achieving the objectives: 
 

A. Lesson Design: 
1. Sponge:  As students enter the room, they will be expected to refer to the posted sponge 

and complete the task as asked.  The sponge could be used as a review of prior learning or 
as an introduction for the current lesson.  Students will maintain the daily sponge in a 
notebook, which will be used for credit. 

 
2. Instructional objective(s):  Share the instructional objective(s) with your students. 
 
3. Check for Understanding:  Use a variety of teaching strategies, varied groupings, and 

student activities which are engaging and focused towards the intended instructional 
objective(s) including, but not limited to, the use of technology.  Use proximity by moving 
about the room while sharing during lessons and as students work.  Provide positive 
reinforcement and assist as needed.  

 
4. Differentiation:  Determine ways to meet student needs during class sessions and 

before/after school when students need reinforcement, study sessions, review or 
enrichment.  While students are working, pull small groups or work individually as needed 
with students.   

262



123 
 

  5. Closure:  Prior to the end of each class session, check for understanding of the 
instructional objective(s) by using student input in regards to what they learned during 
class.  Students will record the learned/practiced concept within their student agenda along 
with the homework assignment when appropriate. 

 
B. Grading:  Determine a grading system to include points/grades from sponge activities, lesson 

activities, participation, quizzes and tests to provide varied opportunities for demonstration of 
student learning. 

 
C. Classroom rules:  Establish 4 to 5 classroom rules to be displayed, distributed, and introduced 

the first day of school.  Enforce, review, and provide positive feedback as students work 
towards your expectations.  Establish and enforce consequences when the rules are not 
followed.  Be consistent and firm throughout the school year. 

 
D. Routines:  Determine classroom management routines such as when to sharpen pencils, 

expectations during transition between activities, when and how to use passes, where to turn in 
assignments, etc.  Introduce routines within the first week of school.  Enforce, review, and 
provide positive feedback as students work towards your expectations.  Establish and enforce 
consequences when established routines are not followed.  Be consistent and firm throughout 
the school year. 

 
III. Assistance that will be provided (who, what, when, how): 

A. John will meet with Sharon Comisar-Langdon as determined and scheduled by Sharon in 
April or May to discuss concepts learned through Harry Wong’s book entitled How to be an 
Effective Teacher, The First Days of School

 

.  Discussion will include what he will do 
differently as he begins the 2007-08 school year. 

B. John will be provided a planning day in April or May to work with Sharon Comisar-Langdon 
and a Spanish teacher at John’s school to review classroom rules, routines, and grading 
practices as he begins planning for next school year. 

 
C.  John will meet with Principal Smith in May to present the rules, routines and grading 

practices he plans to implement during the 2007-08 school year as developed in his work with 
Sharon. 

 
D. During the beginning of the 2007-08 school year, John will meet with Sharon Comisar-

Langdon up to six times through Hexter I as determined by Sharon to review lesson plans for 
the following week.  Discussion will include reflection from current lesson plans and student 
progress towards instructional objective(s) in relation to the above lesson design format.  After 
Hexter I, lesson plans will be reviewed by the evaluating administrator(s).   

 
E. Principal Smith will meet with John at least once prior to the beginning of the school year. 

John is willing to meet off contract to save time during Fall Workshop, or during Fall 
Workshop to review rules, routines, grading practices, the first week of lesson plans and the 
expectations in regards to this plan. 

 
F. During Fall Workshop, John will share his plan of action in regard to strategies he will 

implement to review, reteach, and enrich lesson concepts with students during class sessions 
and before/after school with his evaluating administrator(s) during the above meeting.  This 
information will also be shared with parents.  

263



124 
 

G. Principal Smith will observe John’s one class session each week during the first four weeks of 
the 2007-08 school year for a total of four formal observations within the first four weeks of 
school.  Instructional walk through observations will also be completed during Hexter I.   

 
H. Additional formal observations will be scheduled as needed based on performance during the 

first four weeks of the school year.    
 

IV. Time line for achieving objectives: 
All objectives will be met by March 14, 2008.   

 
V. Type and frequency of feedback: 

A. Principal Smith will review John’s lesson plans each week during the first hexter.  A copy of the 
sponge activities for the week is to be included with John’s plans.  Written feedback will be 
provided in regards to the lesson plan and sponge expectations listed within this plan.   

 
B. Written feedback during post-conferences will be provided by the evaluating administrator(s) 

after each of the formal observations within the first four weeks of school. 
 

C. Principal Smith will review John’s students’ grades through Infinite Campus during Hexter I of 
the 2007-08 school year.  Principal Smith will be looking for a variety of opportunities for 
students to demonstrate their learning, distribution of grades, and timeliness of grades entered.  
Written feedback will be provided to John based on those reviews.   

 
D. With all written feedback, any corrective recommended actions will need to be addressed and 

implemented by John. 
 
VI. Evaluation Criteria: 

Classroom observations and walk-throughs will reflect the implementation of effective classroom 
management and instructional strategies/techniques.  
 
Lesson planning will demonstrate sequential and thorough planning for all students.   

 
 
 
Evaluator’s Signature Position     Date 
 
 
Teacher’s Signature  Date  
 
 
  
     I concur with these comments and recommendations.     I do not concur and have a right to respond in writing. 

264



125 
 

Letter of Reprimand Template 
                                                                 
Letterhead 
 
 
Date       
 
 
Staff Member’s Name       
School/Location       
 
RE:  Written Reprimand 
 
Dear       : 
 
This letter is in reference to an incident which allegedly occurred on      .  On that day       allegedly took place. In a 
meeting with       on       you were informed of the allegations against you and were given an opportunity to respond to 
the allegations.  You stated that      .   
 
You were placed on administrative leave with pay for one day to allow time for an investigation.  Such administrative leave is 
not disciplinary action. An investigation of the reported incident was conducted. 
 
As a result of the investigation, I conclude that the following occurred      . 
 
Your actions described above were inappropriate and unacceptable for employees of Millard Public Schools and were in 
violation of       (state policy, law, code of ethics).  Your conduct is unacceptable because      .  You are hereby formally 
admonished for your inappropriate actions and are advised that any further inappropriate behavior may jeopardize your 
employment with the school district.  You are further advised that any retribution against any parties involved in this matter 
will be construed as inappropriate and may result in separate and additional discipline. 
 
You may challenge this reprimand under the school district’s grievance procedure. 
 
You have expressed an interest in bringing this matter to closure.  It is my intent to do so with this written reprimand.  It is my 
expectation that the relationship between you and those involved will return to being a positive one.  (Restate expectations for 
future conduct.)       
 
If you have any questions, please contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Principal’s Name 
School/Location 
 
Staff Member Signature_____________________________________         Date______________ 
(Signature acknowledges receipt of this letter) 
 
Principal Signature________________________________________            Date______________ 
 
cc: Personnel File 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

265



126 
 

Letter of Summary Template 
 
 
 
  
      
 
      
 
Dear      ,   
 
The purpose of this letter is to recount our conversation on      . 
 
During our meeting we talked about . 
 
Based upon our meeting, please see the following specific issues that were raised in our meeting:   
 
Issue
 

: .     

Response:
 

        

Expectation:
 

        

Issue:
 

          

Response:
 

        

Expectation:
 

        

 
In closing,       
 
It is my hope that we can move forward as a positive team. If you have any questions, please let me 
know.     
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
First/Last Name  
Title 
Location 
 
 
Staff Member Signature_____________________________________         Date______________ 
(Signature acknowledges receipt of this letter) 
 
Principal Signature________________________________________            Date______________ 

266



127 
 

Components of a Sample Deficiency Comment 
 
 

Component 1 – Establish the problem 
 
Component 2 – Affect on students or learning environment 
 
Component 3 - Your directive 
 
Component 4 – A measurable time frame of when you expect change to happen 
 
Component 5 - Specific strategies for implementation 

 
 

 

SAMPLE: There is no definite start of class or communicated teacher expectation of how students should 

enter the room and become engaged (C1); therefore the students are off task for the first 5-10 minutes of 

the period (C2).  It is my expectation (C3) that you will immediately (C4) begin using an effective 

anticipatory set/sponge/bell ringer (C5) as they are effective strategies for engaging students for the full 

instructional period. 

 
 

267



128 
 

PRINCIPAL EVALUATORS 
2010-11 

SCHOOL PRINCIPAL EVALUATOR 
      

ABBOTT ERIC CHAUSSEE KEVIN CHICK 
ACKERMAN MELISSA GILBERT KEVIN CHICK 
ALDRICH SUSIE MELLIGER CAROL NEWTON 
BLACK ELK  JOSH FIELDS ANGELO PASSARELLI 
BRYAN BRAD SULLIVAN MARK FELDHAUSEN 
CATHER PAULA PEAL CAROL NEWTON 
CODY MATT DOMINY CAROL NEWTON 
COTTONWOOD NANCY NELSON JIM SUTFIN 
DISNEY  BETHANY CASE KEVIN CHICK 
EZRA MILLARD CARRIE NOVOTNY-BUSS KEVIN CHICK 
HARVEY OAKS ROBERTA DEREMER KIM SAUM-MILLS 
HITCHCOCK MANDY JOHNSON JIM SUTFIN 
HOLLING HEIGHTS TERRY HOULTON NANCY JOHNSTON 
MONTCLAIR MATT REGA CAROL NEWTON 
MORTON JULIE BERGSTROM KIM SAUM-MILLS 
NEIHARDT ANDY DEFREECE JIM SUTFIN 
NORRIS JOYCE ROZELLE CAROL NEWTON 
REAGAN NILA NIELSEN ANGELO PASSARELLI 
REEDER PAIGE ROBERTS KEVIN CHICK 
ROCKWELL JERRI WESLEY NANCY JOHNSTON 
ROHWER NANCY BROSAMLE ANGELO PASSARELLI 
SANDOZ HEIDI PENKE KIM SAUM-MILLS 
UPCHURCH SUSAN ANGLEMYER ANGELO PASSARELLI 
WHEELER TBD KEVIN CHICK 
WILLOWDALE SUSAN KELLEY ANGELO PASSARELLI 
ANDERSEN MIDDLE JEFF ALFREY NANCY JOHNSTON 
BEADLE MIDDLE JOHN SOUTHWORTH KIM SAUM-MILLS 
CENTRAL MIDDLE BETH FINK NANCY JOHNSTON 
KIEWIT MIDDLE LORI JASA JIM SUTFIN 
NORTH MIDDLE JOANNIE WILSON JIM SUTFIN 
RUSSELL MIDDLE MITCH MOLLRING KIM SAUM-MILLS 
MLC/HORIZON ANGIE MERCIER MARK FELDHAUSEN 
NORTH HIGH SCHOOL BRIAN BEGLEY JIM SUTFIN 
SOUTH HIGH SCHOOL CURTIS CASE MARK FELDHAUSEN 
WEST HIGH SCHOOL GREG TIEMANN ANGELO PASSARELLI 

   
   Questions about this document?  Call Dr. Jim Sutfin, Executive Director for Human Resources, 715-8207 

 

268



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Tableau Visualization and Data Warehouse Project

MEETING DATE: May 17, 2010

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services, Technology, and Planning & Evaluation

TITLE AND
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Tableau Visualization and Data Warehouse Project

ACTION DESIRED: X Approval

OPTIONS: Maintain Status Quo

BACKGROUND:
Utilizing ARRA SFSF funds, Tableau visualization software and necessary hardware would be
purchased to provide web-based accessible student achievement visualizations, charts, graphs, tables,
etc., utilizing data from multiple sources. The software would provide a platform on which district
student achievement information, such as norm reference test and ELO assessment results, and student
performance information from third-party sources (e.g. AIMSweb) may be viewed and analyzed in one
place. The visualizations are dynamic allowing users to pick variables and conditions for data
disaggregation. The visualizations also allow the user’s access to individual student information that
make up aggregated classroom and building data. Tableau was chosen because of its relationship with
Infinite Campus, the District’s Student Information System, a major source of District demographic and
student achievement information, its ease of use, and pre-existing templates that will assist
implementation.

The total cost of the project is estimated at $391,533. Cost for the needed hardware is $129,393. The
cost of the Tableau software, installation and three years of licensing is $262,140. Maintenance and
licensing costs in the fourth year and beyond is $57,900 per year.

Contract documents will be reviewed by District legal counsel before action is taken.

RECOMMENDATIONS: It is recommended that the Tableau visualization software and necessary
hardware be approved and that the Associate Superintendent of Educational Services be authorized and
directed to execute any and all documents related to this project.

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: Strategy 4, AP 1 (2004); Strategy 4 AP 7 (2009)

TIMELINE: Hardware and software installation during the summer of 2010 with visualizations
available for District Administrators in late fall. Teacher data visualizations will follow in the spring of
2011.

RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S): Mark Feldhausen, Assoc. Supt. for Ed. Services; Vicki Hoskovec,
Executive Director of Technology; Jon Lopez, Executive Director of Planning & Evaluation

SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL: ______________________
(Signature)

BOARD ACTION:

269

sphelps
New Stamp



MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Proposal Summary - 22,200 Students

May 7, 2010
CIC Analysis Portal

Initial Annual Lic,

Qty. Price - Supt/Updates

1 Year Future

APPLICATION SOFTWARE & HARDWARE: (1)

Config Serv for Customer-Provided Data Whse Server 1 $1,200
CIC Analysis Portal:

Tableau Desktop Professional - User Licenses 50 54,000 13,500 (2)

Tableau Desktop Professional - Volume Discount (20%) (10,800)
Tableau Desktop Professional - Support & Updates - Year 1 13,500
Tableau Desktop Professional - Support & Updates - Year 2 13,500
Tableau Desktop Professional - Support & Updates - Year 3 13,500
Tableau Server Annual License - Unlimited Web Users - Year 1 1 44,400 44,400 (5)

Tableau Server Annual License - Unlimited Web Users - Year 2 1 44,400 (5)

Tableau Server Annual License - Unlimited Web Users - Year 3 1 44,400 (5)

CIC Analysis Portal Template Package - License 1 17,760
CIC Analysis Portal Template Package - Support & Updates - Year 1 4,440 4,440 (6)

APPLICATION SW & HW TOTAL $240,300

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES:
Implementation Management (Hours) 28 $5,040 (9) (11)

Training / Consulting (Hours) 24 3,600 (8) (9) (11)

System Setup / Installation (Hours) 8 2,000 (7) (11)

CIC Analysis Portal Design Services (Hours) 75 11,200 (9) (11)

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TOTAL $21,840

TOTAL PRICE - 1st Year $262,140

(1) - Initial Purchase Price includes Annual Software License, Support and Updates for 1st Year.
Pricing for additional year(s) of License, Support and Updates can be obtained from your sales representative.

(2) - Tableau offers an additional volume purchase discount of 20% from the list license price for a purchase
quantity of 50 or more Desktop Professional licenses, resulting in a total discount from list price of 45%.

(5) - Tableau Server Unlimited Staff Annual License includes the web application and UNLIMITED staff user web
access licenses, not including parents / students. This is an annual license & support fee, due each year.

(6) - Support / updates for CIC Analysis Portal templates was included for ONE (1) year only.
If the district determines to continue receiving updates / support on the CIC templates, the district
would be responsible for paying for such support / updates in future years, at prevailing prices,
adjusted for enrollment changes each year.

®

MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS Campus CIC AP Proposal 2010 05 07 v2.xls; Proposal Page 1

270



MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Proposal Summary - 22,200 Students

May 7, 2010
CIC Analysis Portal

Initial Annual Lic,

Qty. Price - Supt/Updates

1 Year Future

®

(7) - We included eight (8) hours of Tableau Consulting, to be used for initial setup and training
on a multi-server configuration for Tableau Server.
Tableau's consulting rate is $2,000 / day, plus reimbursable travel expenses.

(8) - Training assumes the Customer is doing detailed teacher / staff training (Train the Trainer model).

(9) - Proposal does not include reimbursable travel expenses, which will be billed (as accrued) at actual costs.

(10) - System setup / installation includes configuration and loading of the application software on the file server.

(11) - Professional Services purchased may be transferred into other categories (as agreed to by CIC and
the district), using the dollar for dollar conversion method.

NOTE: This proposal will be valid through July 29, 2010.

Proposal Provided By:

Steven K. Bohlender
Executive Vice President
Phone: 800.437.7457 x-123
Fax: 970.330.0839
E-Mail: sbohlender@cicesp.com

MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS Campus CIC AP Proposal 2010 05 07 v2.xls; Proposal Page 2

271



Data Warehouse Cost Qty Total

Additional Software

SQL server $ 2,072.00 3 6,216.00$

App servers and supporting hardware

Infrastructure 6,541.00$ 1 6,541.00$

Blade switches 1,664.00$ 1 1,664.00$

Blades (9) 3,276.00$ 9 29,484.00$

Install 2,500.00$ 1 2,500.00$

Citrix (12) 1,406.00$ 9 12,654.00$

RAM Upgrades -$

Storage (8TB, 5.8TB usable) 21,481.00$ 1 21,481.00$

Uninteruptible power 5,000.00$ 1 5,000.00$

power circuits 500.00$ 1 500.00$

SAN tool kit 9,500.00$ 1 9,500.00$

Subtotal 95,540.00$

Backup Hardware (see attached document)

Back-up hardware $ 33,783.00 1 $ 33,783.00

Subtotal 33,783.00$

Total Cost 129,323.00$

272



Quote #

TO: John Fabry Quotation Date: 10-May-10

Millard Public Schools Expiration Date: 9-Jun-10

Qty Description Unit Price Extended Price

1 $0.00 $0.00

1 $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $0.00

1 $17,910.00 $17,910.00

Sub-Total $17,910.00

4 $2,700.00 $10,800.00

2 $1,035.00 $2,070.00

1 $3,003.00 $3,003.00

1 $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $15,873.00

GRAND TOTAL

Signature: ______________________________________________________ Date: ________________

Thank you for your consideration

Chrisi Pierson, Account Executive

email: chrisip@eaglesoft.com phone: (785) 823-7257

This quotation (including any attachments) is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed, and may contain information that is confidential, proprietary and privileged. If you are not the
intended recipient, any use, distribution, or copying of this information is strictly prohibited. If you received this document in error, notify us immediately by telephone at 800-477-5432 and delete this message and
any attachments. Thank you.

EAGLE Software Inc. 123 Indiana Ave. Salina KS 67401 Ph. (785) 823-7257 Fax 785-823-6185

Terms and Conditions: Pricing is valid for 30 days from the date of the quotation. Taxes will be added in accordance with state law. Shipping and Handling charges

(FOB shipping point), freight charges, shipping insurance and administration fees may apply. Payment Terms are Net 30. Pricing and availability are subject to change

without notice. Purchaser acknowledges that, despite the best efforts and reasonable precautions of EAGLE Software Inc., products or services may be listed at an

incorrect price or with incorrect information due to a typographical error or oversight. In such circumstances, EAGLE Software Inc. reserves the right, prior to delivery,

to cancel the transaction even though Purchaser acceptance may have been confirmed. All products are non-returnable unless otherwise provided by the

Manufacturer's Return Policy. Purchaser also agrees that this transaction will be governed by the Manufacturer's Terms and Conditions of Sale if any.

If you are tax exempt, please provide a copy of your exemption certificate at the time of purchase.

To accept this quotation, please sign here and return:

100510_MillardPubli

People Making Storage Easy

EAGLE Services

EAGLEWatch - 24x7 Phone Support

Level 1 support provided by EAGLE help desk on all qualifying products. (1-800-477-5432 or support@eaglesoft.com). See

the EAGLEWatch Services tab for further details.

EAGLEWatch - Remote Monitoring Service - First Year

No Charge for the 1st Year ($950 Value). See the EAGLEWatch Services tab for further details.

$33,783.00

Equallogic

EAGLE Onsite Installation

Equallogic

Dell/Equallogic PS4000E with (16) 250GB 7200 RPM SATA II Drives, Dual Controllers, Limited PS Series Software

Included, 7x24 Advanced Technical Phone Supoprt, 3 Years of Next Business Day ProSupport. Usable Space is: RAID5 -

3.0TB, RAID50 - 2.6TB, RAID10 - 1.5TB.

1YR - Premium support on above licenses

Advanced Disk Option - Tier 1 (up to 49TB), per TB

DataReplicator for Windows

1

273



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Award of Contract for Copy Machines 
 
MEETING DATE: May 17, 2010 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Award of Copier Contract – The review of bids and the award of a 3-year contract 

for the lease of copy machines in the district. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval     x         Discussion             Information Only                                      .       
 
BACKGROUND: Every three years, the district bids its lease of copy machines in the district.  The 

current contract expires this summer. 
 
 There are 38 machines in the district.  These machines turn out about 5.8 million 

copies per month. 
 
 The bid tab is attached.  You will note that the new contract will actually be less 

than the current contract. 
 
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that a three-year contract for the lease of 38 copy machines be 

awarded to Bishops Business Equipment pursuant to their response to the District’s 
RFP and that the associate superintendent for general administration be authorized 
and directed to execute any and all documents related to such contract. 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Immediate 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

274

sphelps
New Stamp



Current
Contract

Bishop's
Business

Solutions
One

Solutions
One Xerox

Modern
Methods

Modern
Methods

 Service Price
(Per Page) 0.0038$                 0.0033$                 0.0038$               0.0032$                0.0051$              0.0042$                   0.0042$                

 Lease Price
Per Machine
(Per Month) 315.78$                 259.13$                 352.22$               481.50$                248.27$              405.74$                   461.80$                
Lease Price
38 Machines
(3 years) 431,994$               354,492$               481,837$             658,692$              339,633$            555,045$                 631,746$              
Service Price
5.8m Copies/Mo
(3 Years) 793,440$               689,040$               793,440$             668,160$              1,064,880$         876,960$                 876,960$              

Total Cost
(3 years) 1,225,434$            1,043,532$            1,275,277$         1,326,852$           1,404,513$         1,432,005$              1,508,706$           

Copier Make
and Model

Toshiba
e-studio 850

Toshiba
e-studio 855

Konica Minolta
Bizhub PRO 751

Konica Minolta
Bizhub PRO 950

Xerox
W5790PT

Lanier
LD380

Lanier
LD390

Finisher Pages
(Standard) 50 50 100 100 100 50 50

Number of Trays 5 5 4 4 5 3 3

Power Source
120 volts
20 Amps

120 volts
20 Amps

120V/60 Hz
16 Amps

208-240V/60 Hz
16 Amps

110-140 Volts
20 Amps

120V/60Hz
20 Amps

208-220V/60Hz
20 Amps

Duty Cycle 350,000 600,000 300,000 750,000 400,000 300,000 300,000

Avg Response 
Time (Hours) 1.8 1.8 1.4 1.41 2 to 4 2 2
Installation
Space 91" x 33" 91"x 33" 90"x39" 94"x41" 83"x28" 85.3" x 33" 85.3" x 33"

BID TAB
275



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

Meeting Date: May 17, 2010 

Department Human Resources 

Action Desired: Approval 

Background: Personnel items: (1) Hires; (2) Contract Amendments; (3) Leave 
of Absence 

Options/Alternatives 
Considered: N/A 

Recommendations: Approval 

Strategic Plan 
Reference: N/A 

Implications of 
Adoption/Rejection: N/A 

Timeline: N/A 

Responsible 
Persons: Dr. Jim Sutfin 

Superintendent’s Signature:________________________________________________ 

276

sphelps
New Stamp



May 17, 2010 
 
 

AMENDMENT TO CONTINUING CONTRACTS 
 
 
Recommend:  Amendment to the following contracts: 
 

1. Michelle Hallett – Grade 5 Teacher – Amend contract from part time job share to 100% 
FTE at Morton Elementary School. (She is currently on a job share contract, Grade 1, at 
Morton.) 

 
 

277



May 17, 2010 

LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

Recommend: the following Leave of Absence be accepted: 

1. Sarah L. Peterson – Grade 3 teacher at Disney Elementary School. She is 
requesting a Leave of Absence for the 2010-2011 school year for family reasons. 
 

278



May 17, 2010 

TEACHERS RECOMMENDED FOR HIRE 
 

Recommend: the following teachers be hired for the 2010/2011 school year: 
 
1. Amy J. Becker – MA – Concordia University.  Grade 1 teacher at Bryan Elementary School 

for the 2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience: Omaha Public Schools (2001-Current) 
2. Jennifer M. Callahan – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha. Part time (.5) READ teacher 

at Cather Elementary School for the 2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience: Millard 
Public Schools (1996-2000) 

3. Katherine E. Konrad – BA – University of Nebraska, Omaha. Music teacher (.5) Wheeler 
Elementary and (.25) Central Middle School for the 2010-2011 school year.  

4. Gail E. Daly – MA – Washburn University. Instructional Facilitator at Hitchcock 
Elementary School for the 2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience: Pitt County 
Schools, NC (2006-2008); Millard Public Schools (2002-2005); Topeka Public Schools, KS 
(1999-2001) 

5. Christine M. Koehn – BA+5 – Northwest Missouri State.  Grade 4 teacher at Norris 
Elementary School for the 2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience: Sioux Falls, SD 
Public Schools (2007-Current); Omaha Public Schools (2002-2006); Omaha Private 
Schools (2001-2002) 

6. Megan L. Peterson – BA+18 – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Grade 1 teacher at 
Upchurch Elementary School for the 2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience; 
Papillion/LaVista Schools (2007-2010) 

7. Henry R. Plugge – BA – Dana College. Language Arts Teacher at Kiewitt 
Middle School for the 2010-2011 school year. 

8. David A. Stalling – BA – Peru State College.  Special Education Resource teacher for the 
2010-2011 school year.  Previous Experience: Olathe Public Schools, KS (2008-Current) 

9. Lindsey L. Sullivan – BA+6 – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Social Studies Teacher at 
Millard West High School for the 2010-2011 school year. 

10. Amanda L. Wharon-Hunt – Educational Specialist – University of Nebraska, Lincoln. 
Speech Pathologist at Ezra Elementary for the 2010-2011 school year. Previous Experience: 
Omaha Public Schools (2001-Current) 

11. Lacey M. Zielich – BA – Iowa State University.  Special Education Preschool teacher at 
Cody Elementary for the 2010-2011 school year.  

279



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 

Agenda Item: Human Resources –Cadre Report  
 
Meeting Date: May 17, 2010  
 
Department Human Resources 
 
Title and Brief Human Resources – Cadre Report 
Description:   
        
 
Action Desired:  Information Only  
 
 
Background: We have been supporting the UNO Cadre program since 1995.  Please see the 

attached report.       
Options/Alternatives 
Considered: N/A 
 
Recommendations: N/A  
 
 
Strategic Plan 
Reference: N/A 
 
Implications of 
Adoption/Rejection: N/A 
 
Timeline:   
 
Responsible 
Persons: Dr. Jim Sutfin, Executive Director of Human Resources  
 Jeanine Beaudin, Human Resources Recruiter   
 
 
 
 
 
Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________________________ 
 

280

sphelps
New Stamp



UNO’s CADRE Project Report 

Purpose of CADRE (Career Advancement and Development for Recruits and Experienced Teachers):  
The CADRE Project, which began in 1994, is designed to assist newly certified teachers, CADRE 
teachers, with challenges unique to entry into the profession of education.  CADRE Teachers complete 
a year‐long teaching assignment and a specialized master’s degree program of study.  Support is 
provided by CADRE Associates, who are master teachers in the participating districts. 

Year of Inception:  The CADRE Project began in 1994.  Millard Public Schools became involved in the 
1995‐96 school year. 

Number of CADRE Teachers Hired Per Year: 

1995‐1998     4 CADRE Teachers per year 

1998‐2000    6 CADRE Teachers per year 

2000‐present  10 CADRE teachers per year* 

*2006‐07      11 CADRE teachers hired 

Total CADRE Teachers Hired:  125 CADRE teachers hired 

Total CADRE Teachers Currently on Staff:  73 

Examples of former CADRE Teachers in District Leadership Roles:   
Dawn Marten, Assistant Principal at Ackerman 
Jaime Bizal, Instructional Facilitator at Reagan 
Tom Whisinnand, Instructional Facilitator at Reagan 
Lisa Sheppers, Instructional Facilitator at Disney 

Role of the CADRE Associate:  CADRE Associates are veteran classroom teachers selected by their 
respective districts.  They assume alternative responsibilities for the year that include mentoring two of 
the CADRE Teachers, district‐designated roles and university‐related work.  This unique exchange of 
services offers veteran classroom teachers an opportunity to network, explore current issues in 
education, refine skills and reflect on their practice.  Our CADRE Associates are:  Alicia Feist, New Staff 
Induction; Candra Guenther, MEP Facilitator;  Skip Hanlon, Strategic Planning and Administrative 
Affairs;  Kim Rice, MEP Facilitator; and Jane Pille, Strategic Planning and Administrative Affairs. 

 
Stipend Earned by Cadre Teachers:   $16,400 

Salary Earned after earning MA Degree:  $41,972 

281


	Board Packet May 17, 2010
	Agenda
	Administrative Memorandum
	E.1. Board Minutes May 3, 2010
	Financials
	E.4. Committee Meeting Minutes May 10, 2010
	H.1. Approval of 2010 Graduates - MNHS
	MSHS
	MWHS
	H.2.-H.4. Reaffirm Policy 4160 and Rules 4160.1 and 4160.2
	*H.2. Reaffirm Policy 4160 - Human Resources - Evaluation 
	*H.3. Reaffirm Rule 4160.1 - Human Resources - Evaluation - Certificated Staff
	*H.4. Reaffirm Rule 4160.2 - Human Resources - Evaluation - Non-Certificated
	H.5. Approval of Rule 5300.4 - Pupil Services - Student Conduct - Student Conduct: Dating Violence
	Rule 5300.4
	H.6. Approval of Rule 5400.1 - Pupil Services - Student Discipline
	Rule 5400.1
	H.7. Approval of Rule 5400.6 - Pupil Services - Standards for Student Conduct
	Rule 5400.6
	H.8. Approval of Staff Evaluation System 2010-2011
	H.9. Approval of Tableau Visualization and Data Warehouse Project
	H.10. Award Contract for Copy Machines
	H.11. Approval of Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contract, Leave of Absence, and New Hires
	Amendment to Continuing 
	Leave of Absence 
	New Hires
	I.1. CADRE Report



